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Dedicated to meeting America’s dual goals of low-cost power and a clean environment.



Westmoreland seeks to be a leading national energy company dedicated to

meeting America’s dual goals of low-cost power and a clean environment

through the superior management, acquisition and development of a solid

base of energy related niche operations which deliver stable or increasing

long-term earnings and tax-leveraged cash flows.

We s t m o r e l a n d  C o a l  C o m p a n y

Vision Statement



Fiscal Year

(in thousands, except as noted) 2001 2000

Coal Tons Sold(1) 20.23 million 4.91 million

Revenues:

Coal(2) $231,048 $35,137

Independent Power(3)

(equity in earnings) 15,871 32,260

Dominion Terminal Associates 
(equity in losses) (1,922) (1,800)

$244,997 $65,597

Operating Income $  11,632 $ 433

Net Income $ 5,227 $ 308

(1) 2001 includes only 8 months from newly acquired mines; see Coal Operations Table on page 13.
(2) Includes revenues from sale of petroleum coke in 2001.
(3) Reflects sale of Virginia projects in March 2001 to finance coal acquisitions, eliminating average 

annual equity in earnings of $5.8 million (1998–2000), and the $14.9 million ROVA settlement in 2000.

F i n a n c i a l

Highlights
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The Company earned $0.43 per diluted share in 

2001 and generated cash flow from operations of $28.4

million, which included working capital changes related

to the acquisitions completed in the second quarter.

The return to profitability from continuing operations

marks the beginning of a new era for Westmoreland.

After a decade of aggressive restructuring which included

asset sales, two Chapter 11 bankruptcy filings and a

reduction in our employee roll from approximately 

2,000 people to 27, at its lowest point, I am pleased 

to report that our Company is now experiencing solid,

profitable growth. Including eight months of operations

from the new mines, Westmoreland produced 20.2 million

tons of coal in 2001. This is a Company record. It also

vaults Westmoreland into the top ten list of domestic coal

producers. Recognition from our peers was received in

the form of a nomination for the Global Energy Award

as Top Coal Company of 2001.

Although 2001’s results showed tremendous growth 

over those of the prior year, size and market share are 

not our goals. Our growth is a consequence of a unique

and disciplined development strategy reflected in our

vision statement and repeated in this year’s Annual

Report and Form 10-K. The Company’s objective is 

to build profitability by integrating the production of 

predictable low-cost fuel supplies with the generation 

of clean, low-cost electrical power. Due to the substantial

tax assets on our balance sheet, we are able to shelter 

the income from these operations and deliver strong cash

flows to rebuild shareholder equity and value. That’s our

business model in a nutshell—clean, solidly profitable

energy operations in niche markets combined with our

advantageous tax sheltered position.

Consolidating the recent acquisitions into the rest 

of our operations, with the goal of maximizing profit

margins, is our immediate priority. I anticipate that it 

will take most of this year to fully understand the 
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subtleties of each new mining operation, but we

have already introduced management changes and

other initiatives in areas such as safety, account-

ability, capital expenditures, planning and product quality.

New labor agreements have been reached over the past

year with three of the four union represented bargaining

units at the coal mining operations and negotiations 

have begun with the fourth bargaining unit. Successful

completion of these negotiations provides a platform 

to further our longer range plans for growth and opera-

tional improvements.

Safety is the most significant barometer of a mining

operation’s performance and reliability. It is both an

immediate and continuing priority for our Company. 

In January 2002, the Jewett Mine completed in excess 

of one million work hours without a lost-time accident,

a feat of which we are truly proud. I believe, however,

that there is room for improvement elsewhere in this area

and consequently, we have among other things, re-

activated the Annual President’s Safety Award and the

Directors’ Award for outstanding safety performance, to

provide additional motivation and focus to our employees.

Westmoreland Energy Inc. (“WEI”), our electric 

power generating subsidiary, had an outstanding year in

sustaining a high level of performance at ROVA I and II.

Further progress at WEI may come this year if natural

gas prices abate and cash distributions from the Ft. Lupton

project can be resumed.

One of last year’s disappointments was our inability 

to resume quarterly dividend payments on our preferred

shares, or to be able to repay accumulated unpaid preferred

share dividends which stand at $13.3 million as of April 1,

2002. However, despite our return to profitability, the

Company has had to manage its cash extremely carefully

throughout 2001. The rapid pay-down required under 

our purchase financing, as well as other business 

obligations, eliminated the opportunity for discretionary

cash disbursements. Continued and dramatic increases 

in insurance and health care costs have also placed a 

strain on our ability to build cash reserves. This year

Westmoreland will form an offshore-based captive 

insurance company to mitigate the effect of escalating

insurance premiums and we continue to work on the 

containment of increasing medical expenses for our

retirees. We are following the national debate over 

prescription drug benefits for the elderly with particular

interest in this regard. Despite these cost and cash 

management pressures, we remain hopeful that the 

preferred dividend issue can be addressed later in this

calendar year. The Board, which includes two directors

L e t t e r

to Shareholders
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elected by preferred shareholders, is carefully monitoring

this situation.

Over the past year there have been significant 

challenges facing the energy industry. In contrast to 

year 2000, a slowing economy began to reduce the

demand for electricity. This problem was compounded 

by increased supply in the form of new power generation

units and then further exacerbated by unusually mild 

temperatures throughout the Nation this past winter.

Some energy companies, particularly in the wake of the

Enron collapse, are rethinking their business models 

and have reduced their growth plans. Other industry 

players have cancelled or delayed the construction of 

new power projects and some have announced plans 

for the divestiture of existing power plants. Major coal

companies have recently announced production cutbacks

until prices provide more attractive returns on capital.

In contrast, I anticipate continued growth for

Westmoreland in 2002. Your Company expects to 

produce and sell over 27 million tons of coal in 2002 

and expects to surpass that figure in future years. 

This belief is based upon the low cost of our coal, its

proximity to our customers and the Nation’s continuing

dependence upon coal for electrical power generation.

While the Company does enjoy an extraordinarily 

high percentage of sales under long-term contracts 

which should provide stable earnings, pricing can change

pursuant to contract adjustment provisions or re-openers

for cost and market variances, and, in the case of

Westmoreland Resources Inc. (“WRI”), upon renewal

when the contract with its main customer ends at the end

of this year. Some of these price adjustments determine

the new coal price relative to market conditions, while

others determine price relative to our recovery of costs

and profit.

Completion of the 500 Megawatt (“MW”) Gascoyne,

North Dakota, power project we are co-developing 

with MDU Resources Group, Inc. is also central to our

growth. Feasibility studies on this project will be con-

cluded by year-end. We own a fifty percent share of the

Westmoreland’s Board of Directors, on site at the
Rosebud Mine, actively promotes the Company’s 
rigorous Safety First program. (l–r) front—W. Klaus,
C. Seglem, T. Coffey; middle—R. Killen, M. Armstrong;
back—W. Stern, P. Hutchinson, J. Sight.
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power facility, and in addition, fuel at the rate of three

million tons annually for this power plant will be sup-

plied from adjacent lignite resources, certain develop-

ment rights to which we acquired as part of our purchase

of the Knife River Corporation coal assets. Additional

niche opportunities in the energy sector to further grow

our business are also being pursued. These may include

greenfield projects, acquisitions or partnerships with

established companies in areas which are complementary

to our existing businesses, but in which we do not have

first hand experience, such as natural gas.

As in the past, our future successes will be a 

consequence of our employees’ dedication and integrity. 

I believe that we have created a team whose interests 

are aligned with those of the shareholders and which is

focused on building a company of increasing tangible

value. Our business plan is realistic, our willingness and

ability to overcome at times seemingly overwhelming

challenges has been demonstrated, and we remain

focused on building an enterprise in which we can all

take pride.

Thank you for your continued support.

Sincerely,

Christopher K. Seglem

April, 2002 A
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Successful  Implementat ion of

Strategic  Plan for  Growth

During 2001, Westmoreland completed a substantial

step towards implementation of its vision and strategic

plan for growth. The acquisition of four surface coal

mines near or adjacent to clean, low-cost electric power

generating stations with long-term sales contracts vaulted

Company coal sales tons to a record level for the year

with just eight months’ contribution from those mines

and gave the Company a solid foundation in the niche

markets it was seeking. Westmoreland sold 20.2 million

tons of coal in 2001 compared to 4.9 million tons 

in 2000. Coupled with its existing Absaloka mine in

Montana, the Company now enjoys a major position 

in coal production in the Northern Tier states of Montana

and North Dakota, accounting for approximately 30% 

of coal and lignite (a form of coal)

production in those two states. The

Company also established an impor-

tant footprint in the Gulf Coast ener-

gy market with the acquisition of the

Jewett Mine located next to the

Limestone Electric Generating

Station in Jewett, Texas. Employ-

ment company-wide increased to

918 full-time employees in 2001

from 31 in the prior year.

Electrical power generation is also an important part

of Westmoreland’s business. During 2001, the Company

initiated efforts in connection with Lignite Vision 21

(“LV-21”) to develop, own and operate a new state-of-

the-art 500 MW lignite-fired power plant near Gascoyne,

North Dakota, in a 50/50 joint development with MDU

Resources Group, Inc. The Company had earlier obtained

certain coal rights at Gascoyne in connection with 

its purchase of Knife River Corporation’s coal assets. 

LV-21 is a partnership between the State of North Dakota

and the Lignite Energy Council which offers up to 

$10 million in matching funds from the State of North

Dakota for such development. Feasibility studies and 

various technical analyses are underway.

R e v i e w  o f

Operations
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Coal  Operat ions

Westmoreland is now among the top ten coal producers

in the U.S. The Company’s five surface mines in the

Western U.S. enjoy significant transportation advantages

to their principal customers which reduces exposure to

competition and promotes stable long-term earnings and

cash flows. Ninety-nine percent of the Company’s 2001

production was sold under long-term contracts and a

comparable percentage is expected in 2002. Additional

production capacity is available at our Montana coal

operations to take advantage of favorable market condi-

tions as they develop. Mine statistics, including a break-

down of production for both the eight-month period

(May–December) in 2001 during which Westmoreland

owned the four acquired mines, and for the full year 2001,

are shown on the Coal Operations Table, page 13.

Absaloka Mine

Westmoreland Resources, Inc.’s Absaloka Mine is

located 30 miles northeast of Hardin, Montana in the

Northern Powder River coal basin. Absaloka is a 15,000

acre surface mine with over 606 million tons of coal

under long-term lease from the Crow Indian Tribe.

Westmoreland owns 80% of Westmoreland Resources,

Inc. The remaining 20% is owned by Washington Group

International, Inc. (“WGI”), which also serves as the 

contract operator of the mine.

Coal from Absaloka is shipped via a 38-mile rail spur to

the main line of the Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad

near Hysham, Montana. In 2001, the mine sold 5.9 million

tons of coal compared to 4.9 million in the prior year.

This mine was expressly developed to supply coal to

Xcel Energy’s (formerly Northern States Power) Sherburne

County Station near Becker, Minnesota. The coal sold to

Xcel is under a long-term base price, cost escalating con-

tract that expires at the end of 2002. Absaloka has provided

coal to Xcel since 1974 and the Company expects this

contract to be renewed with prices and terms similar to 

or more favorable than those now in effect. Over the

years Westmoreland has sold coal to several other Upper

Midwest utilities as well. In addition to Xcel, Absaloka

currently holds contracts with Western Fuels Association

which also supplies Sherburne County, and with Midwest

Energy Resources, which supplies coal to Consumers

Energy’s Cobb and Weadock stations in Michigan.

Rosebud Mine

Western Energy Company’s Rosebud Mine is a 25,000

acre surface operation located in the Northern Powder

River Basin near Colstrip, Montana, approximately 100 
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Westmoreland’s largest coal haulers can transport 
200 tons of coal per load at speeds of up to 50 mph 
to the customer’s mine-mouth delivery point.



miles east of Billings, Montana and twenty miles east 

of the Absaloka Mine. Rosebud is one of the largest coal

mines in the U.S. and supplies almost all of its current

production to the four-unit 2,200 MW Colstrip Power

Station, which is adjacent to the mine. The Colstrip units

were specifically designed to burn Rosebud coal. Rosebud

produced 11.3 million tons in 2001, of which 7.6 million

tons were sold in the eight months Westmoreland owned

the mine. Coal is sold to Colstrip under two long-term

contracts that expire in 2009 and 2019. As one of the

most cost-efficient power plants in the region, Colstrip

should maintain its baseload position on the electricity

dispatch curve, helping assure continued strong demand for

Rosebud coal. Rosebud also supplies coal to Minnesota

Power’s Boswell Plant in Cohasset, Minnesota, under a

0.85–1.0 million ton per year Coal Supply Agreement 

expiring in 2003. And, finally, Rosebud is also an important

coal supplier to the local industrial and institutional market.

Jewett Mine

Northwestern Resources Company’s Jewett Mine is 

a 35,000 acre surface mine located 100 miles south of

Dallas and 150 miles northwest of Houston. It supplies

lignite under a full-requirements contract to the adjacent

two-unit Limestone Electric Generating Station owned by

Reliant Energy, Inc. Limestone, which is currently being

up-rated to 1,780 MW, is a low-cost, baseload power

plant designed and built in the 1980’s specifically to 

burn lignite from Jewett. The power market into which

Limestone supplies electricity is heavily weighted with 

natural gas-fired power. Because natural gas-fired power is

typically more expensive and price volatile than coal-fired

power, Limestone enjoys an especially valuable position

in the market. Jewett produced 7.1 million tons in 2001,

of which 4.5 million was sold in the eight months

Westmoreland owned the mine. The contract between

Jewett and Limestone runs through 2015, but as of July

2002, the contract is subject to annual price re-openers

based on the equivalent price that Limestone would incur 

in using coal from the Southern Powder River Basin 

in Wyoming.

Jewett completed 2001 without a lost-time accident and

had worked in excess of 1.1 million work hours without 

a lost-time accident before experiencing a minor accident

in February 2002. The Jewett Mine received an Award 

of Excellence from the Texas Mining and Reclamation

Association in 2001 for its reclamation work.

8

The Jewett Mine employs a bucketwheel excavator to
remove upper soil layers that are reserved to enhance
reclamation following dragline mining operations.



Beulah Mine

Dakota Westmoreland Corporation’s Beulah Mine 

was developed in 1963 and became a mine-mouth supplier

to the 427 MW Coyote Plant when it was built next to

the mine in 1981. Beulah is a 9,000 acre surface mine

located 75 miles northwest of Bismarck, North Dakota.

Coyote is a low-cost, baseload generation facility within its

power market and is contractually obligated to purchase

all of its coal from the Beulah Mine through May 2016.

Dakota Westmoreland also owns and controls a four-mile

rail spur that connects the mine and plant to the Burlington

Northern Santa Fe Railroad’s Stanton line, which it uses

to supply the two-unit 75 MW Heskett Station located 

74 miles away. In 2001, Beulah produced 3.1 million

tons of which 2.0 million tons were sold during the eight

months Westmoreland owned the mine. A rigorous quality

control program instituted by new mine management has

improved the consistency of the quality of lignite sup-

plied to Coyote and Heskett. This has in turn improved

plant operations and the prospects for increased lignite

consumption. Mine efforts continue in this regard.

Savage Mine

WCCO-KRC Acquisition Corp.’s Savage Mine is 

a smaller but strategically placed surface mine located 

on the Montana-North Dakota border. It enjoys a full-

requirements contract with the 69 MW Lewis & Clark

Station owned by Montana Dakota Utilities and has a

longstanding annual supply relationship with a sugar beet

refinery near Sidney, Montana. The current Lewis & Clark

contract expires on December 31, 2002 but is expected 

to be renewed with similar or more favorable prices and

terms as has been done for decades. Savage produced

346,000 tons in 2001, of which 236,000 tons were sold 

in the eight months Westmoreland owned the mine.

New Coal Sales Office

The Company sited a new coal sales office in St. Paul,

Minnesota in 2001 and acquired several non-utility coal

sales and service agreements in Minnesota and North

Dakota. The Rosebud Mine supplies some of these sales

and others are sourced from non-company mines. The 

St. Paul office gives Westmoreland close proximity to key

rail-served customers and markets, as well as an ability 

to pursue smaller, niche market non-utility sales growth.

It also gives Westmoreland a greater presence in the

Wisconsin and Great Lakes markets as the Company

works to establish itself as a potential source of supply

with additional coal buyers in those areas.
9
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Ongoing reclamation at Westmoreland’s mines returns 
disturbed lands to levels of productivity that meet or
exceed pre-mining conditions.



Independent  Power and 

Electr ic  Power Product ion

Since 1986 an important part of the Company’s 

operations has been the development, ownership and

management of independent electric power production

facilities. Eight projects were brought to commercial

operation during the Company’s restructuring. Three

remain after five were sold to provide working and

investment capital over the past five years. The Roanoke

Valley (“ROVA”) I project, a 180 MW coal-fired plant in

Weldon, North Carolina began operation in 1994 and

supplies baseload power to Dominion Virginia Power

under a long-term power supply agreement that will

expire in 2019. ROVA II, a 50 MW coal-fired sister project

located at the same site, began operation in 1995. The

two-unit ROVA facility performed exceedingly well again 

in 2001 with capacity factors of 90% for ROVA I and

91% for ROVA II. Each project operated in compliance

with all permits and was among the cleanest coal-fired

power plants in the country. The safety record for the

year was also outstanding with no lost-time accidents.

In 2001, a renegotiated ROVA I Power Purchase and

Operating Agreement was successfully implemented

which aligns the interests of the ROVA partnership and its

customer, Dominion Virginia Power, giving the partner-

ship more control over scheduling maintenance outages

which helps insure that the ROVA projects will continue

to operate at high capacity factors. The new agreement

incents the project to achieve superior performance. Coal

supply agreements for the facility were also renegotiated,

which lowered the delivered price despite last year’s 

rising coal markets.

Equity in earnings from Westmoreland’s independent

power projects totaled $15.5 million in 2001 with $14.4

million coming from the ROVA projects. In March 2001,

the Company completed the sale of its 30%-interest 

in the three 70 MW stoker coal-fired Virginia Projects

(Altavista, Hopewell and Southampton) to Dominion

Virginia Power for approximately $24 million. These

funds were used to help finance the purchase of the

above described coal operations in April. The Virginia

projects had contributed combined average annual equity in

earnings of $5.8 million from 1998 to 2000. In addition

to the ROVA projects, Westmoreland Energy, Inc. also

owns a 4.49%-interest in a 290 MW natural gas-fired

10

The adjacent four-unit mine-mouth Colstrip Power Station
uses nearly ten million tons of coal per year produced by
the Rosebud Mine.



generating plant in Ft. Lupton, Colorado which sells 

its electricity to Xcel Energy (formerly Public Service

Company of Colorado). During 2001, high natural gas

prices reduced available cash at the project, and as a

result, no distributions were made to the owners. In 

June 2001, the Company’s remaining 1.25%-interest 

in the Ft. Drum independent power project in New York

was sold for a small sum.

Terminal  Operat ions

Westmoreland Terminal Company owns a 20%-interest

in Dominion Terminal Associates, which operates a coal

export facility in Newport News, Virginia, capable of 

handling approximately 20 million tons of coal per year.

Other owners of the facility include subsidiaries of 

Arch Coal, Peabody Energy and the Pittston Company.

Westmoreland has managed this asset as a throughput

facility for third-party coal shipped on the CSX railroad

since the mid-1990’s when the Company idled its Eastern

coal operations. The facility is being utilized at less 

than capacity and is incurring operating losses due to 

the continued softness of the export market for U.S. coal.

Alternatives for this facility and steps to lower operating

losses are being pursued.

Retiree Heal th  Benefi t  Costs

One of Westmoreland’s largest costs is retiree 

health benefits. The upward trend in national healthcare

costs adversely impacted actuarial valuations of future

obligations and increased the Company’s total estimated

future liability in 2001. This trend may increase this

expense by approximately 15% in 2002. The Company

currently expects to incur cash costs in excess of $19 

million for these benefits in 2002, an increase of approx-

imately $400,000 over 2001. These cash costs are

assumed to increase slightly in the near-term and then

decline to zero over the next approximately thirty-five

years. The debate over prescription drug costs of the 

elderly continues to generate a great deal of interest 

from both political parties. A Medicare prescription drug

benefit that would include Medicare eligible benefi-

ciaries covered by the Coal Act could help reduce

Westmoreland’s retiree health benefit costs significantly

since over 50% of the Company’s retiree expenses are

for prescription drugs.
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Longhorns greet employees and visitors at the Jewett 
Mine, where over 10,000 acres of disturbed lands have 
been re-graded and re-vegetated as part of the Mine’s
award winning reclamation program.
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M a p  o f  

Operations
a n d  O f f i c e s

1. Westmoreland Corporate Office 2. Westmoreland Mining 3. Westmoreland Energy 4. Westmoreland Technical Services
5. Westmoreland Coal Sales Regional Office 6. Retiree Health Benefits Center 7. Absaloka 8. Beulah 9. Jewett
10. Rosebud 11. Savage 12. Gascoyne (proposed) 13. LV-21 Project (proposed) 14. Roanoke Valley I and II
15. Ft. Lupton 16. DTA Terminal

Corporate Office

Subsidiary and 
Business Offices

Coal Mining
Operations

Power Projects

Coal Terminal and
Storage
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Location

Coal Reserves and 
Deposits
(million tons)

Number of Draglines

Major Customers

Delivery

Approx. Heat
Content (Btu/lb.)

Year Opened

Employees

Total Tons Mined
Since Inception
(millions)

2001 Annual 
Production
(million tons)

Hardin, MT

606 548 114 64 20

1 4 4 
plus bucketwheel

2 1

Rail Truck/Rail/
Conveyor

Conveyor Conveyor/Rail Truck

8,700 8,500 6,670 7,000 6,371

1974 1924 1985 1963 1958

83 (WGI contract)

5   (WRI)
327 377 145 13

117 323 126 76 12 

Xcel, Western
Fuels Assoc.,
Midwest
Energy

PPL Montana,
Puget Sound,
Portland General,
Avista, Pacificorp,
Montana Power,
Minnesota Power

Reliant
Energy

Otter Tail,
MDU,
Minnkota,
Northwestern
Public Service

MDU, Holly
Sugar

Colstrip, MT Jewett, TX Beulah, ND Sidney, MT

Absaloka
Mine

Rosebud
Mine

Jewett
Mine

Beulah
Mine

Savage
Mine

5.9 11.3 7.1 3.1 0.35

2001 Production
Under Westmoreland
Ownership
(million tons)

5.9 7.6* 4.5* 2.0* 0.24*

Approx. Sulfur (%) 0.64 0.72 1.02 1.00 0.45

*May–December

Labor IUOE IUOE Non-Union Local UMWA IUOE

With the acquisition of four new mines in April 2001,

Westmoreland set a new coal production record in 

2001 of 20.23 million tons from Company owned mines. 

It is estimated that this number will increase to 27 mil-

lion tons for the full year 2002.

Coal
O p e r a t i o n s  Ta b l e

Westmoreland’s coal mining operations employ twelve
draglines ranging from 12 to 128 cubic yards of capacity.
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Historically, the ROVA I and II power projects have 

operated at high capacity factors. For 2001, ROVA I 

operated at a 89.9% capacity factor, compared to the 

five-year average of 59.33% for coal-fired or fossil-fired

steam generating facilities of ROVA I’s size as reported

by the North American Electric Reliability Council

(“NERC”) for the years 1995–1999. ROVA II operated at

91.3% compared to the NERC five-year average capacity

factor of 43.3% for units of its size. Capacity factor is a

measurement of the actual output of a plant compared to

the energy that could have been generated had the plant

run at its full rating over the entire period. The ROVA

power supply agreement, restructured in late 2000 

as part of a settlement with the purchaser of its output,

incents ROVA to achieve a high capacity factor.

Power
O p e r a t i o n s  Ta b l e

Roanoke Valley Power Project, Units I and II
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only class of common stock), as of March 1, 2002. 
 
There were 834,833 depositary shares, each representing one quarter of a share of the registrant’s Series A 
Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock, $1.00 par value per preferred share, outstanding as of March 1, 
2002. 
 
The definitive proxy statement to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this 
Form 10-K is incorporated by reference into Part III. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

George


George


George
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Certain statements in this report which are not historical facts or information are "forward-looking statements” 
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, including, but not limited to, the information set forth in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.  Any statements contained herein that are not statements of 
historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements.  For example, words such as "may," "will," 
"should," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," "continue," "strategy," "believes,"   "anticipates,"   "plans,"   
"expects,"   "intends,” and similar expressions   are intended to identify   forward-looking   statements.   Such 
forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may 
cause the actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements of the Company, or industry results, 
to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or 
implied by such forward-looking statements.  Such factors include, among others, the following:  general 
economic and business conditions; healthcare cost trends; the cost and capacity of the surety bond market; 
the Company’s ability to manage growth and significantly expanded operations; the ability of the Company to 
implement its business strategy; the Company’s ability to retain key senior management; the Company's 
access to financing; the Company’s ability to maintain compliance with debt covenant requirements; the 
Company’s ability to successfully identify new business opportunities; the Company's ability to achieve 
anticipated cost savings and profitability targets; the Company’s ability to negotiate profitable coal contracts, 
reopeners and extensions; the Company’s ability to maintain satisfactory labor relations; changes in the 
industry; competition; the Company’s ability to  utilize  its tax net  operating  losses;  the  ability to reinvest 
excess cash at an acceptable rate of return;  weather  conditions;  the availability  of  transportation;  price  of  
alternative  fuels;  costs of coal produced by other countries;  demand for  electricity;  the effect of regulatory 
and legal  proceedings; the announced liquidity issues of Washington Group International, Inc. (“Washington 
Group” or “WGI”)  and other factors discussed in Items 1, 3 and 7 below.  As a result of the foregoing and 
other factors, no assurance can be given as to the future results and achievement of the Company’s goals.  
The Company disclaims any duty to update these statements, even if subsequent events cause its views to 
change. 
 

 
PART I 

 
 
ITEM 1 - BUSINESS 
 
Westmoreland Coal Company (“Westmoreland” or “WCC”) traces its origin as a coal company to businesses 
established in 1853 and incorporated in Delaware in 1910.  The term “Company” as used herein includes 
WCC and its subsidiaries. 
 
The Company's current principal activities, all conducted within the United States, are: (i) the production and 
sale of coal from Montana, North Dakota and Texas; (ii) the development, ownership and management of 
interests in cogeneration and other non-regulated independent power plants; and (iii) the leasing of capacity at 
Dominion Terminal Associates, a coal storage and vessel loading facility.  Refer to Item 8 - Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data for more information regarding the Company’s operating segments. 
 
 
COAL OPERATIONS 
 
In 2001, the Company substantially expanded its coal business by acquiring the coal operations of The 
Montana Power Company (“Montana Power”) and MDU Resources Group, Inc.’s subsidiary, Knife River 
Corporation.  These acquisitions are described in more detail in Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, under the heading “Impact of Acquisitions.”  The 
new operations are also described below and in Item 2 – Properties. 
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Westmoreland Resources, Inc. (“WRI”).  WRI is owned 80% by the Company and 20% by Washington 
Group, formerly known as Morrison Knudsen Company, Inc., which also mines the coal for WRI on a contract 
basis.  WRI operates the Absaloka Mine, a surface operation located on approximately 15,000 acres of 
subbituminous coal reserves in the Powder River Basin near Hardin, Montana.  The Absaloka Mine was 
expressly developed to supply coal to Xcel Energy’s (formerly Northern States Power) Sherburne County 
Station near Minneapolis, Minnesota.  Over the years, it has sold coal to several other upper Midwest utilities.  
The coal sold to Xcel is under a long-term base price cost escalating contract which expires at the end of 
2002.  The Absaloka Mine has provided coal to Xcel since 1974 and the Company expects that this contract 
will be renewed with prices and terms similar to those now in effect.  WRI shipped 5,904,000, 4,910,000, and 
5,466,000 tons of coal in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Transportation is arranged and charges are paid 
by WRI’s customers. The Company received cash dividends from WRI of $4,400,000 in 2001, $8,400,000 in 
2000 and $4,000,000 in 1999.  
 
Westmoreland Mining LLC (“WML”).  WML is a separate subsidiary of WCC that was formed as required by 
the lenders providing financing for the acquisitions of the operating coal business of Montana Power and the 
coal assets of Knife River Corporation.  WML provides management and administrative support to its 
subsidiaries including environmental, sales and accounting services.  WML’s subsidiaries are Western Energy 
Company, Northwestern Resources Co., Dakota Westmoreland Corporation, and WCCO-KRC Acquisition 
Corporation.  WML is located in Billings, Montana.   
 
Western Energy Company (“WECO”).  WECO was acquired in April 2001 as part of the acquisition of the 
coal business of Montana Power.  WECO operates the Rosebud Mine in Colstrip, Montana, a surface mine in 
the Northern Powder River Basin.  The Rosebud Mine is one of the largest coal mines in the United States 
and sold 11,284,000 tons of subbituminous coal in 2001 (7,610,000 tons for the eight months since  the 
acquisition).  After mining the coal, WECO crushes it and sells it without further preparation.  WECO’s primary 
customers are the owners of the four-unit, mine-mouth Colstrip Station, which has a combined electric 
generating capacity of approximately 2,200MW.  This coal is sold under long-term contracts expiring in 2009 
for Colstrip Units 1 and 2 and 2019 for Colstrip Units 3 and 4.  The Colstrip Units 1 and 2 contract has a base 
price with escalating provisions for certain costs and the Colstrip Units 3 and 4 contract is a cost-plus 
arrangement.   WECO also supplies coal to Minnesota Power under an increasing fixed price coal supply 
agreement that expires in 2003 and to several smaller customers under contracts of varying term.   
 
Northwestern Resources Co. (“NWR”).  NWR was also acquired in April 2001 as part of the acquisition of 
the coal business of Montana Power.  NWR operates the Jewett Mine, located in central Texas, and supplies 
surface-mined lignite to the two electric generating units at the Limestone Electric Generating Station 
(“LEGS”), located adjacent to the mine.  LEGS is owned by Reliant Energy, Inc. (“Reliant”).  The lignite is sold 
under a long-term lignite supply agreement (“LSA”) that expires in 2015.  Beginning July 1, 2002, tonnages 
and price will be determined sequentially on an annual basis pursuant to a procedure under which NWR will 
commit the number of tons it wishes to supply and price will be determined according to a formula which 
estimates hypothetical value of Powder River Basin coal if delivered to the plant that year.  For the full year of 
2001, NWR sold 7,138,000 tons of lignite (4,463,000 tons for the eight months since WCC’s acquisition)  
under the LSA.   
 
Dakota Westmoreland Corporation (“DWC”).  DWC was formed in 2001 to acquire part of the coal assets 
of Knife River Corporation.  DWC operates the Beulah Mine, a lignite surface mine near the town of Beulah, 
North Dakota.   For the full year of 2001, the Beulah Mine sold 3,087,000 tons (2,014,000 tons for the eight 
months since WCC’s acquisition) of lignite under long-term coal agreements with the Heskett Station in 
Bismarck, North Dakota, and the Coyote Station adjacent to the mine. During 2001, approximately 82% of the 
tons were shipped to Coyote and the remainder to Heskett.  The Coyote agreement, which has a base price 
with escalating provisions for certain costs, expires in 2016.  The Heskett agreement, which is priced based on 
the Coyote agreement, expires in 2005 and has a five-year extension at expiration at DWC’s option. 
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WCCO-KRC Acquisition Corporation (“Savage”).  Savage was also formed in 2001, to acquire other parts 
of the coal assets of Knife River Corporation.  Savage operates the Savage Mine near Sidney, Montana.  This 
is a lignite surface mine and for the full year of 2001, Savage sold 346,000 tons (236,000 tons for the eight 
months since WCC’s acquisition) of lignite under a full requirements, base price with an escalating provision 
for certain costs contract with the nearby Lewis and Clark station.  This contract expires on December 31, 
2002.  The Savage Mine has provided lignite to the Lewis and Clark station for over 40 years and the 
Company expects that this contract will be renewed with prices and terms similar to those now in effect.  The 
mine also has a contract, expiring August 31, 2003, to provide lignite to Holly Sugar’s nearby beet processing 
facility. 
 
The following tables show, for each of the past five years, tons sold and revenues derived from mines that 
were, at the time of production, owned by the Company.  The Company had no export sales during the five-
year period ended December 31, 2001.   
 
 

 
 
 

Year 

Coal Sales in  
Equivalent Tons 

(in 000’s) 

Coal Revenues in 
Dollars 

(in 000’s) 
               2001 20,503 231,048 

2000 4,910 35,137 
1999 5,466 38,539 
1998 6,458 44,010 
1997   7,059 47,182 

 

 

Tonnage sold by the Company pursuant to contracts calling for deliveries over a period longer than one year is 
considered a long-term contract.  The table below presents the percentage of coal tonnage sold under long-
term contracts for the last five years: 
 
 
 

Sales Tonnage Under Long-Term  
Contracts  

2001  99% 
2000 100% 
1999 100% 
1998 98% 
1997 97% 
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The following table presents estimated minimum total sales tonnage under existing long-term contracts for the 
next five years from the Company’s existing mining operations.  The price for all future tonnage is subject to 
revision and adjustments based upon market prices, certain indices and/or cost recovery. 
 
 

Projected Sales Tonnage Under  
Existing Long-Term Contracts (000’s) 

2002 27,120 
2003 22,883 
2004 22,850 
2005 22,850 
2006 21,850 

 
 
The weighted average price under existing long-term contracts was $11.05 in 2001, $7.16 in 2000 and $7.05 
in 1999.   
 
In 2001, the Company’s three largest customers accounted for 74% of its coal revenues.  Colstrip 3 and 4, 
Xcel Energy and Reliant accounted for 20%, 13% and 41%, respectively.  No other customer accounted for as 
much as 10% of the Company's 2001 coal revenues.  The long-term contract with WRI’s largest customer, 
Xcel Energy, expires December 31, 2002.  NWR’s long-term contract with Reliant expires 2015.  The long-
term contract with WECO’s largest customer, Colstrip Units 3 and 4, expires in 2019.  The Company 
anticipates replacing sales as contracts expire with extensions, new contracts or spot sales over the life of the 
coal reserves. 
 
Other Acquisition Assets.  In connection with the 2001 acquisitions, the Company obtained ownership of 
Basin Resources, Inc. (“Basin”), Northern Central Energy. (“North Central”), Horizon Coal Services, Inc. 
(“Horizon”), and Western Syncoal LLC (“SynCoal”).  Basin is a coal mining company that operated the Golden 
Eagle Mine in Trinidad, Colorado and was part of Montana Power.  Basin ceased operations in 1995 and is 
inactive.  Westmoreland is seeking to dispose of its assets and obligations.  North Central holds the land and 
water rights associated with the mining operations of Basin.  Horizon’s only asset is a royalty interest in coal 
reserves located in Campbell County, Wyoming at the Caballo Mine owned by Peabody Energy.  The royalty 
covers 225 million tons of coal mined at the rate of $.10 per ton, making the gross royalty amount 
$22,500,000.  The latest mine plan delivered to Horizon by Peabody Energy in March 2002 indicates that 
mining of this lease will begin in 2006.  SynCoal is a synthetic coal production facility located in Colstrip, 
Montana and is inactive.   In addition, WCC acquired Knife River Corporation’s right to develop the lignite 
deposits at Gascoyne, North Dakota. 
 
INDEPENDENT POWER OPERATIONS 
 
Westmoreland Energy, Inc. (“WEI”) owns and manages interests in independent power projects.  WEI, 
through various subsidiaries, currently has interests in three such power projects, all of which are operational.  
Each project has a single power purchaser and steam host.  The Company is scheduled to receive 
distributions from its ROVA plants in January and July of each year.  Refer to Note 3 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for additional information concerning WEI,  including specific project operational 
statistics. 
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WEI’s independent power projects sell electricity through long-term power sales contracts to utilities.
There are three types of independent power projects:  cogeneration projects which provide two types of
useful energy (e.g., electricity and thermal energy, like steam) sequentially from a single primary fuel (e.g.,
coal); small power producers which utilize waste, biomass or other renewable resources as fuel; and
exempt wholesale generators (“EWG”) which provide electrical energy without the requirement to sell
thermal energy or use waste or renewable resources as fuel sources.  WEI has invested in cogeneration
projects and in projects that are EWGs.  For WEI, the key elements of an independent power project are
a long-term contract for the sale of electricity, long-term contracts for the fuel supply, a suitable site,
required permits and project financing.  Cogeneration projects require another long-term contract for the
sale of the steam or other thermal energy.  The economic benefits of cogeneration can be substantial
because, in addition to generating electricity, a significant portion of the energy is used to produce steam
or high temperature water (thermal energy) for industrial processes.  Electricity is sold to utilities and, in
certain situations, to end-users of electrical power, including large industrial facilities.  Thermal energy
from the cogeneration plant is sold to commercial enterprises and other institutions.  Large industrial
users of thermal energy include plants in the chemical processing, petroleum refining, food processing,
pharmaceutical, pulp and paper industries.

Westmoreland Power, Inc. (“WPI”) was formed to acquire certain rights from Knife River Corporation
and to pursue new independent power development.  On February 28, 2001, it announced that it had
submitted a proposal to develop, own and operate, either independently or in partnership, a new state-
of-the-art 500 MW lignite-fired power plant near Gascoyne, North Dakota in connection with Lignite Vision
21 (“LV-21”).  WCC acquired the right to develop the lignite deposits at Gascoyne from Knife River
Corporation.  LV-21 is a partnership between the state of North Dakota and the Lignite Energy Council
(“LEC”) that is administered by the Industrial Commission of North Dakota and is designed to encourage
construction of a new baseload power plant in North Dakota.  Project proposals were also submitted by
MDU Resources Group, Inc. (“MDU”), Great River Energy and Great Northern Properties.  MDU and WPI
have joined together to pursue development of a new lignite fired generation unit near Gascoyne, North
Dakota and executed a joint development agreement.  On September 27, 2001, the Industrial
Commission approved the joint MDU-WPI project and awarded up to $10 million in matching funds to
facilitate feasibility and various technical studies after approval of the joint project   WPI and MDU each
own a 50% interest in the project.

TERMINAL OPERATIONS

Westmoreland Terminal Company, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, owns a 20% interest in
Dominion Terminal Associates ("DTA"), the owner of a coal storage and vessel-loading facility in Newport
News, Virginia.  The Company leases ground storage space and vessel-loading capacity and facilities to
others and provides related support services.  DTA's annual throughput capacity is 22,000,000 tons, with
a ground storage capacity of 1,700,000 tons.  DTA loaded 7,980,000, 7,160,000 and 8,357,000 tons in
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.  The Company’s portion of these tons was 197,000, 163,000 and
379,000 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.  

OTHER OPERATIONS

The Company idled the Virginia Division in 1995 and completed the sale of substantially all its assets by
1999.  No tons were shipped from the Virginia Division during 2001, 2000 or 1999.  Asset sales in 1999
resulted in proceeds, before selling costs, of approximately $726,000.  There were no asset sales during
2001 or 2000.  The Company is in the process of selling the Bullitt refuse area, the last of the Virginia
Division assets the Company now owns.  The refuse area has no recorded value.   An application to
transfer the refuse area permit to the buyer was filed with the Virginia Division of Mine Land Reclamation
in February 2001.

Refer to Note 13 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the
Company’s business segments.
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GENERAL

Employees and Labor Relations

The Company, including subsidiaries, directly employed 918 people on December 31, 2001, compared
with 31 people on December 31, 2000.

The Company and Basin were parties to separate and distinct wage agreements with the United Mine
Workers of America (“UMWA”), which were effective December 16, 1993 (the "1993 Agreement") and
expired on August 1, 1998.  The Company is not a party to any subsequent wage agreement with the
UMWA; however, WECO is a party to an agreement with Local 400 of the International Union of
Operating Engineers (“IUOE”) and DWC and Savage assumed agreements with Local 1101 of the UMWA
and Local 400 of the IUOE, respectively, when the coal assets were purchased from Knife River
Corporation.

Competition

The coal industry is highly competitive.  The Company competes principally on price and quality of coal
with other coal producers of various sizes.  However, the Company has a transportation advantage
where its mines are located adjacent to its customers’ power plants.  The Company’s production
accounted for less than 2% of coal production in the United States in 2001.  Coal-fired generation was
responsible for approximately 54% of all electricity generated within the United States in 2001.

The Company's steam coal production also competes with other energy sources in the production of
electricity. Factors such as the price of natural gas and the cost of environmental compliance will be major
considerations in the decision to operate or build and bring on line substantial new coal-fired generation.
The price of natural gas has been volatile over the past year (ranging from a high of $5.60 per MMBTU in
February 2001 to a low of $1.70 per MMBTU in November 2001) making the relative price stability in the
coal market a significant contributor to renewed interest in constructing new, more environmentally
friendly coal-fired generation.

The Company also generates electricity directly from projects in which WEI owns an interest, and sells it
on a wholesale long-term contract basis to utilities under rates established in power purchase
agreements and approved by regulatory agencies.  The independent power industry has grown rapidly
over the past twenty years, accelerating in the 1990’s due, in part, to electric utility deregulation
initiatives.  In the initial years following implementation of deregulation, prices for electricity were quite
competitive in some states as a result of low fuel prices and a relatively high level of surplus capacity.
Increasing energy demand, volatile fuel prices, and the failure of growth in generating capacity to keep
pace with the increase in demand for power converged in 2000 to result in power shortages and higher
electricity prices in many parts of the country.  This helped create renewed interest in coal-fired capacity
and more than 65,000 megawatts of planned additions had been announced as of December 2001.

The principal sources of competition in this market include traditional regulated utilities seeking to
maximize utilization of existing capacity, unregulated subsidiaries of regulated utilities, energy brokers
and traders, energy service companies in the business of developing, operating, and marketing energy-
producing projects, equipment suppliers and other non-utility generators like WEI and WPI.  Competition
in this industry is substantially based on price.   The lowest cost generating units will be the most
competitive in the market place and will run more frequently.  New generating capacity must compete
today on a unit per kilowatt basis and be capable of complying with stringent environmental regulations.

Westmoreland Terminal Company is subject to competition from both domestic and international providers
of coal transloading services.  A significant portion of the coal shipped from DTA is exported to foreign
locations.  Coal suppliers from Australia, South Africa, China, Indonesia and a number of other foreign
locations provide similar services.
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Mining Safety and Health

Westmoreland places the safety of its employees above all else and has an active safety and education
program at every operation.  NWR had worked over the last sixteen months in excess of 1,100,000 man-
hours without a lost time accident before experiencing a minor accident in February 2002.  The
Company’s mining operations are subject to state and federal legislation including the Federal Coal Mine
Safety and Health Act of 1969 and the 1977 Amendments thereto, which prescribes mining health and
safety standards.  In addition to authorizing fines and other penalties for violations, the Act empowers
the Mine Safety and Health Administration to suspend or halt offending operations.  

Energy Regulation

The highly publicized California energy crisis sparked renewed interest in a national energy policy based
on a multi-pronged strategy involving energy efficiency and conservation, and maximizing domestic
resources.  Increased coal utilization and additional federal funding for clean coal research and
technologies are prominently featured in the national energy policy debate.  As a direct consequence,
interest in building new coal-fired generation has increased.  Many new generating facilities, including the
Company’s potential LV-21 project, have been publicly announced.

At both the national and state level, the debate about deregulation of electricity and the creation of
competitive markets for wholesale and retail sale of electricity have continued.  While events in California
during 2001, including rolling blackouts and extreme market fluctuations in energy prices, have
influenced the debate, many states and the federal government continue to consider creating
competitive wholesale and retail power markets.  System reliability and transmission issues, including
wheeling power from one system to another and system constraints (insufficient line capacity to add new
electricity), are among the factors being analyzed and the pace at which these problems are solved will
affect how quickly competitive power markets may become a reality.  Enron’s recent failure will likely
cause the move to unrestricted market competition to slow even more.  The public debate once again
includes reference to regulatory concepts like “fair and reasonable rates” for not only transmission of
electricity but also generation of electricity.

WEI’s ROVA I and ROVA II generating units are located in Weldon, North Carolina.  These facilities are
EWGs.  EWG status allows the ROVA facilities to operate with certain exemptions from federal and state
regulation.  Pursuant to the provisions of the National Energy Policy Act of 1992, an EWG can provide
power without the requirement that it also sell thermal energy as a Qualifying Facility (“QF”) must.  An
EWG can be a QF as defined in the Public Utilities Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 but is not required to
maintain QF status.  EWGs that are not QFs must have rates approved by the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (“FERC”).  Both ROVA I and ROVA II have rates approved by FERC.

Protection of the Environment

Mining Operations.  The Company believes its mining operations are in compliance with applicable federal,
state and local environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to surface mining and
reclamation, and it is the policy of the Company to operate in compliance with such standards.  The
Company maintains compliance primarily through the performance of reclamation, maintenance and
monitoring activities.   Utilization of coal to generate electricity produces certain by-products, the emission of
which is subject to Federal regulation.  Depending on coal purity and the combustion process, the emission
by-products may include nitrogen oxide, sulfur dioxide, carbon dioxide and mercury.  Emission levels vary
among generating units.  The newer an electric generating unit, the fewer emissions are produced in the
combustion process.
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Clean Air Act  
 
In 1990, certain amendments to the Clean Air Act ("1990 Amendments") were enacted.  As the first major 
revisions to the Clean Air Act since 1977, the 1990 Amendments vastly expanded the scope of federal 
regulations and enforcement in several significant respects.  In particular, the 1990 Amendments required that 
the United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) consider or issue new regulations related to ozone 
non-attainment, air toxics and acid rain.  Phase I of the acid rain provisions required, among other things, that 
certain electric utility power plants reduce their sulfur dioxide (SO2) emissions to effectively less than 2.5 
pounds per million Btu by January 1, 1995.  Phase II required essentially all utility power plants to reduce 
emissions to effectively less than 1.2 pounds per million Btu by January 1, 2000.  The 1990 Amendments 
allow utilities the freedom to choose the manner in which they will achieve compliance with the required 
emission standards.  Recently, both the EPA and Congress have become more focused on promulgating 
some type of air toxics regulation.  All coal-fired generating plants could be impacted by such regulations.  The 
Company cannot currently determine the effect of such proposed regulations or the Clear Skies and Global 
Climate Change Initiatives on its operations.   
 
Clear Skies and Global Climate Change Initiatives 
 
On February 14, 2002, President Bush announced two major initiatives.  The Clear Skies Initiative proposes 
cuts in power plant emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOX); sulfur dioxide (SO2) and mercury.  Under the 
President’s plan, SO2 emissions will be reduced 73% from current levels of approximately 11 million tons to a 
cap of 4.5 million tons in 2010 and 3 million tons in 2018.  NOX emissions will be reduced by 67% from current 
levels of approximately 5 million tons to a cap of 2.1 million tons in 2008 and 1.7 million tons in 2018.  Mercury 
emissions will be reduced by 69% from current levels of approximately 48 millions to a cap of 26 million tons in 
2010 and then to 15 million tons in 2018.  This policy initiative envisions use of an emissions permit limit 
program modeled after the 1990 Clean Air Act Acid Rain Program and encourages use of new and cleaner 
pollution control technology.  All coal-fired generating plants could be impacted by President Bush’s or a 
similar proposal.  The Company cannot currently determine the effect of the Clear Skies Initiative on its 
operations. 
 
President Bush also unveiled his Global Climate Change Initiative, which calls for a cut in greenhouse gas 
intensity by 18% over the next ten years.  Greenhouse gas intensity is the ratio of greenhouse gas emissions 
to economic output.  The Global Climate Change Initiative seeks to lower the United States rate of emissions 
from an estimated 183 metric tons to 151 metric tons per million dollars of gross domestic product.  The 
Global Climate Change Initiative is comparable to the average progress that nations participating in the Kyoto 
Protocol are required to achieve.  
 
State Initiatives 
 
State specific environmental legislation may impact Company operations.  For example, Texas has passed 
new regulations requiring all fossil fuel fired generating facilities in the state to reduce NOx emissions to 0.165 
pounds per million Btu on an annual average basis beginning in May 2003.  The Texas NOx regulations may 
impact lignite usage at LEGS.  See Item 7, Managements Discussion and Analysis, for more information.  
Other states are evaluating various strategies for improving air quality and reducing emissions.  Passage of 
other state specific environmental laws may further affect the Company’s operations.  The Company is 
monitoring events and issues to evaluate the effects of any new environmental law or regulations. 
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Mine Reclamation 
 
As of December 31, 2001, the Company has reclamation bonds in place in Montana, North Dakota, Texas, 
and Virginia to assure that operations comply with all applicable regulations and to assure the completion of 
final reclamation activities.  The amount of the bonds exceeds the estimated cost of final reclamation of 
$235,321,000.  Final reclamation obligations estimated to cost $50 million at the Jewett Mine are the 
responsibility of its customer, Reliant, which has posted a reclamation bond for that amount.  At the Rosebud 
and Absaloka Mines, certain customers and WRI’s contract miner are obligated to either perform or reimburse 
the Company for certain reclamation activities as they are performed.  These reclamation activities are 
estimated to cost approximately $23,700,000.  As of December 31, 2001, WML had $47,924,000 in cash 
escrowed and invested to use for future reclamation activities at the Rosebud Mine, which activities are 
estimated to cost approximately $132,500,000 and will be performed through approximately 2025. 
 
Reclamation of the Bullitt refuse area continues to be deferred as the permit transfer application in connection 
with the Company’s proposed sale of the area to a local operation is being evaluated by the Virginia Division of 
Mined Land Reclamation.  The estimated cost of approximately $800,000 to reclaim this site has been 
accrued. 
 
Independent Power.  The environmental laws and regulations applicable to the projects in which WEI and 
WPI may or do participate primarily involve the discharge of emissions into the water and air, but can also 
include waste disposal, wetlands preservation and noise regulation.  These laws and regulations in many 
cases require a lengthy and complex process of obtaining licenses, permits and approvals from federal, state 
and local agencies.  Meeting the requirements of each jurisdiction with authority over a project can delay or 
sometimes prevent the completion of a proposed project, as well as require extensive modifications to existing 
projects.  The partnerships that own the projects in which WEI has an interest and the partnership through 
which WPI and MDU are pursuing the LV-21 project have the primary responsibility for obtaining the required 
permits and complying with the relevant environmental laws. 
 
On December 17, 1999, the EPA issued a Section 126 rule calling for combined NOX reductions of 510,000 
tons during each annual ozone season (May 1 – September 30) from certain named power stations in the 
Eastern U.S., including ROVA I and II.  The additional NOX reductions were to begin in 2003.  The rule 
responds to petitions filed by several northeastern states under Clean Air Act Section 126 and seeks to control 
upwind NOX emissions which the petitioning states allege prevent them from attaining the one hour ambient 
air quality standard (.15 ppm) for ozone.  The rulemaking approach is an alternative to regional NOX 
reductions called for in the EPA NOX State Implementation Plan Call which was challenged by industry groups.  
One of the most significant differences between the NOX SIP Call and the Section 126 rule is that under the 
Section 126 rule, the EPA regulates the individual source directly.  Each source is assigned an emissions 
allocation.  The baseline for 2003-2007 NOX emissions allocations is the average of the highest date for any 
two years in the 1995-1998 period.  Allocation budgets will be updated in five-year increments and the EPA will 
inform sources of their allocations three years in advance.  Initial allocations for the ROVA projects beginning 
in 2003 were published in the December 17, 2000 EPA rule. 
 
On May 15, 2001, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit upheld the majority of the EPA’s Section 126 
rule but required certain additional justification from the EPA on factors to be used in estimating utilization in 
2007.  The court’s decision had the effect of suspending the EPA’s effort to impose controls on named 
sources.  The Company expects that after the EPA submits the information that the court has requested, 
implementation of the Section 126 rule will resume. 
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At this time, the independent power projects in which the Company owns an interest are evaluating strategies 
for complying with the Section 126 rule.   In 2000, the ROVA project partnership installed neural networks in 
the boilers.  The neural network increases boiler efficiency and reduces NOx and carbon monoxide (CO) 
emissions.   While the neural network reduces the level of NOx and CO emissions from the ROVA I and 
ROVA II power plants, the ROVA project partnership is evaluating additional compliance strategies, including 
emission trading.  Replacement or upgrades to ROVA’s continuous emission monitoring (“CEM”) system are 
being evaluated. 
 
Dominion Terminal Associates.  DTA is responsible for complying with certain state and federal 
environmental laws and regulations, particularly those affecting air and water quality.  DTA has employees on 
its staff who are responsible for assuring that it is in compliance.  In the event that DTA failed to comply, the 
Company could be responsible for a 20% share of any expense incurred. 
 
Seasonality   
 
The demand for the power produced by the generating units that are supplied by the Company’s mines and 
owned by the independent power projects in which the Company holds an interest tend to be higher in the 
winter and summer months and lower in the spring and fall months.   While all of these generating units are 
base loaded, the demand for their power may also be affected by maintenance outages. 
 
Foreign and Domestic Operations and Export Sales   
 
The Company’s assets and operations are, and for each of the last three years have been, located entirely 
within the United States.  There have been no export sales during the last three years. 
 
 
ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES 
 
As of December 31, 2001, the Company owned or leased coal properties located in Montana, Texas, North 
Dakota, and Virginia.  The properties contain coal reserves and coal deposits.  A “coal reserve” is that part of 
a mineral deposit that could be economically and legally extracted or produced at the time of the reserve 
determination.  The Company includes in “coal reserves” 107,000,000 tons that are not fully permitted but that 
otherwise meet the definition of “coal reserves.”  A description of the permitting process and the Company’s 
assessment of that process as applied to these 107,000,000 tons follows the table below.  A “coal deposit” is a 
coal bearing body which has been appropriately sampled and analyzed in trenches, outcrops, and drilling to 
support sufficient tonnage and grade to warrant further exploration stage work.  This coal does not qualify as a 
“coal reserve” until, among other things, a final comprehensive evaluation based upon unit cost per ton, 
recoverability, and other material factors conclude legal and economic feasibility. 
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The following table shows the location of the Company’s estimated coal reserves, coal deposits, production in 
2001 and other mine information.  All of the coal is used in steam boilers to produce electricity. 
 
 

Summary of Coal Reserves, Deposits, Production  
and other Mine Information 

as of December 31, 2001 
 

 Absaloka 
Mine 

Rosebud 
 Mine 

Jewett 
Mine 

Beulah 
Mine 

Savage 
Mine 

Location Hardin,  
MT 

Colstrip, 
MT 

Jewett, 
TX 

Beulah, 
ND 

Savage, 
MT 

      

Coal Reserves: 
(thousands of tons) 

     

     Proven (1) 64,186(2) 263,808 114,051(2) 52,011 15,828 
     Probable (3)               0 0                    0 12,253 4,665 
Coal Deposits (4) 

(thousands of tons) 
 

542,197 
 

283,993 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Sulfur Percent (5) .64 .72 1.02 1.00 .45 
2001 Annual Production 
(thousands of tons) 

 
5,904 

 
11,284 

 
7,138 

 
3,087 

 
346 

Year Opened 1974 1924 1985 1963 1958 
#  of Draglines 1 4 4 plus 

bucketwheel 
2 1 

Delivery Rail Truck/Rail/ 
Conveyer 

Conveyer Conveyer/Rail Truck 

 
(1) Proven coal reserves are reserves for which (a) quantity is computed from dimensions 

revealed in outcrops, trenches, workings or drill holes; grade and/or quality are computed from 
the results of detailed sampling and (b) the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement 
are spaced so closely and the geologic character is so well defined that size, shape, depth 
and mineral content of reserves are well-established.  In addition, all coal reserves are 
“assigned” coal reserves: coal that has been committed by the Company to operating mining 
equipment and plant facilities. 

 (2) Includes tons for each mine as described below that are not fully permitted but otherwise meet 
the definition of “proven” coal reserves. 

 (3) Probable reserves are reserves for which quantity and grade and/or quality are computed 
from information similar to that used for proven reserves, but the sites for inspection, 
sampling, and measurement are farther apart or are otherwise less adequately spaced.  The 
degree of assurance, although lower than that for proven reserves, is high enough to assume 
continuity between points of observation. 

 (4) All coal deposits have been assigned by the Company to operating mining equipment and 
plant facilities. 

 (5) Percent Sulfur applies to the 2001 production tons. 
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Absaloka Mine 
 
WRI owns the Absaloka Mine, a surface (open pit) coal mine located in Big Horn County, Montana and has 
been the only operator on the property.  The mine is located in the upper Sarpy Creek drainage, 35 miles 
south of Hysham and 30 miles east of Hardin via Route 384. The mine is accessed from Route 384 via County 
Road 42. Mine facilities consisting of a truck dump, primary and secondary crushers, conveyors, coal storage 
barn, train loadout, rail loop and support facilities including shop, warehouse, boiler house, deep well and 
water treatment plant were constructed beginning in late 1972 and completed in early 1974.  Power is 
purchased under a long-term contract with the local utility.  The primary excavating machine (completed in 
1979) is a Bucyrus-Erie 2570W walking dragline with a bucket capacity of 110 cubic yards and is owned by 
WRI.  The present sustainable mine capacity using the dragline is 6.5 million tons per year; production of 5.9 
million tons in 2001 was approximately 91 percent of capacity.  Mobile equipment, including loaders, haul 
trucks, scrapers, dozers, graders, water trucks and fuel truck are owned by WRI’s mining contractor and 
minority owner, Washington Group.  WRI’s total cost for the foregoing mine facilities incurred through 2001 is 
approximately $76,000,000.  The Company anticipates spending an additional $500,000 no later than 2007 to 
permit an additional mining area within its present mine plan.  WRI does not believe additional exploration or 
development of this area is necessary other than obtaining future mining permits. 
 
The first unit train coal shipment was loaded July 1, 1974.  Initially, coal was produced from the Rosebud-
McKay and Robinson coal seams; attempts were also made to recover coal from two thin rider seams 
identified as the Stray-1 and Stray-2.  The Stray-1 is in the overburden 10 to 30 feet above the Rosebud. It is 
of erratic structure and quality, and for this reason initial efforts to recover a marketable product were 
unsuccessful, and it has been excavated as overburden.  The Stray-2 underlies the Rosebud-McKay by one to 
six feet.  The Stray 2 is relatively high in ash and sulfur, and for several years it was blended with the primary 
seams.  Such blending resulted in erratic quality, and it was abandoned in 1985.  The Robinson coal underlies 
the Rosebud-McKay coal by 60 to 100 feet. 
 
In 1988, WRI began supplying coal to a new generating unit designed by its customers to burn coal from the 
Absaloka Mine, but almost immediately severe slagging problems were encountered.  The problem was 
traced to coal from the Robinson seam.  The plant owners notified WRI that they would no longer accept 
Robinson coal, and consequently, mining of the Robinson seam was discontinued in 1990.  Hence, the only 
seam now being mined is the Rosebud-McKay seam, which is actually two seams separated by a thin parting 
ranging in thickness from a few inches to several feet.  The total aggregate coal thickness in the Rosebud and 
McKay seams averages 32 feet.  The coal is subbituminous C grade with an average heating value of 8,700 
Btu/lb. and 0.64 percent sulfur as received. 
 
All coal reserves and coal deposits shown in the previous table in the column captioned “Absaloka Mine” are 
leased by WRI from the Crow Tribe of Indians to exhaustion of the mineable and merchantable coal.  WRI is 
evaluating the acquisition of the rights to additional reserves or deposits contiguous to its existing leases.  The 
Company believes that all such deposits and reserves are recoverable through existing facilities with current 
technology and the Company’s existing infrastructure. These reserves and deposits were estimated to be 
799,803,000 tons as of January 1, 1980, based principally upon a report by Intrasearch, Inc., an independent 
firm of consulting geologists, prepared in February 1980.  Estimated remaining tons are reduced annually by 
production in the Rosebud-McKay seam and by the amount of coal in the Robinson, Stray-1 and Stray-2 
seams bypassed after mining the Rosebud-McKay seam.  Through 2001, approximately 117,475,000 tons of 
coal have been shipped to customers, primarily in the upper Midwest for use as steam coal. Transportation is 
arranged and charges are paid by WRI’s customers. There have been no significant problems with operation 
of the coal handling plant.  The only significant operating problem has been spoil stability in high overburden 
areas. 
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The mining and reclamation permit application process operates under regulations of the Office of Surface 
Mining (“OSM”) and the State of Montana under its OSM approved program.  Among the requirements are 
detailed pre-mining inventories of environmental resources including soils, vegetation, wildlife, hydrology and 
archaeology.  The application must include detailed plans for mining, reclamation and protection of 
hydrological resources.  The process includes an exhaustive review of the application for compliance with all 
applicable regulations.  After initial review of the application, the regulatory authority issues a letter reviewing 
deficiencies in the application to which the applicant responds by revising the application where appropriate.  
This process of identifying and responding to deficiencies is repeated until all matters are cleared.  The 
decision document and environmental assessment are subject to formal public review, including public 
hearings if requested.  The process typically takes two to four years from the time the initial application is filed. 
 
A total of 3,307 acres have been disturbed by mining.  Reclamation is complete on 2,336 acres, with the 
balance involved in active mining operations.  The reclamation bond, which is posted by WRI and is an 
estimate by the Montana Department of Environmental Quality of total cost to reclaim, is $10,614,000. 
However, except for a small percentage funded by WRI, Washington Group is contractually responsible for 
reclaiming the property, whatever the cost.  After reclamation is complete, WRI is responsible for maintaining 
and monitoring the reclaimed property until the bond is released.  For the property mined through 
December 31, 2001, WRI’s estimated future cost of maintaining and monitoring such property prior to bond 
release is approximately $1,500,000 to $2,000,000. 
 
WRI has chosen not to permit all of the coal reserves in its mine plan because it already has sufficient 
permitted coal to meet production, given the current rate of mining and demand, through 2008.  It is 
anticipated that an application covering an estimated 30 million tons of unpermitted reserves will be filed in the 
first half of 2003.  Based upon the Company’s current knowledge of the permitting process and the nature of 
these reserves, the Company believes that there are no matters that would hinder its ability to obtain this 
mining permit on a timely basis. 
 
 
Rosebud Mine 
 
WECO was acquired by WML on April 30, 2001.  Rosebud Mine coal comes from the Rosebud Seam in the 
Montana portion of a much larger deposit commonly identified as the Powder River Basin.  The Rosebud Mine 
is an open-pit or surface mine; WECO uses four draglines in a single pass system to uncover one seam of 
coal.  There are three 60 cubic yard capacity draglines purchased in 1975, 1976 and 1980 and one 75 cubic 
yard dragline purchased in 1983.  The draglines use electric power purchased from Montana Power under 
standard individual tariffs.  The machines operate primarily on the highwall side of the pit with an extended 
bench that is developed by large production tractors.  Coal is excavated from the seam using 17 to 25 cubic 
yard electric shovels and loaded on 120 to 200 ton bottom dump trucks.  The trucks haul the coal to one of 
three crushing facilities where it is loaded directly on conveyors and transported to the four Colstrip units.  Both 
the overburden and coal are drilled and blasted prior to excavation. Other equipment used at the Rosebud 
Mine includes overburden and coal drills, dozers, water wagons, motor blades, front end loaders, scrapers and 
numerous support equipment including service trucks, pumps and cranes.  The Rosebud Mine has multiple 
maintenance and support facilities and administration buildings.  The mine work force is represented by Local 
400 of the IUOE.  The Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad transports production to rail-served customers.  
The Rosebud Mine is equipped with a loop track and tipple facility capable of loading unit trains at the rate of 
4,000 tons per hour.  
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The Rosebud Mine is located at Colstrip, Montana, 130 miles east of Billings. The Northern Pacific Railroad 
began mining coal for its steam locomotives at Colstrip in 1924.  The railroad produced approximately 44 
million tons of coal from these reserves before adapting to diesel locomotives in 1958.  In 1959, Montana 
Power purchased the coal leases, mining machinery and Colstrip town site to produce coal for future thermal 
generating plants, and for sale to others.  The total cost of the mine incurred through 2001 is approximately 
$192,000,000. 
 
WECO was formed as a wholly owned Montana Power subsidiary in 1966 to operate the Rosebud Mine. Initial 
production was shipped to Montana Power’s Corette Plant at Billings, and to utilities and municipalities in the 
upper Midwest.  Major coal supply contracts were signed with two upper Midwest utilities in the early 1970’s 
and in 1980 contracts were finalized for two new 750-MW mine-mouth generating plants at Colstrip.  These 
long-term contracts provided the foundation for a major expansion of the Rosebud Mine.  The mine’s 
production of 11.7 million tons of coal in 1979 steadily grew to 16 million tons in 1988.  The Rosebud Mine has 
consistently ranked among the largest single coal mines in the nation, based on annual production. 
 
All coal reserves and coal deposits shown in the foregoing table in the column captioned “Rosebud Mine” are 
in Montana and leased by WECO from the federal government, Great Northern Properties, or the State of 
Montana.  The royalty payable under federal leases adjusts every ten years, and the leases remain in effect as 
long as minimum commercial quantities of coal are mined.  WECO annually mines at least the minimum 
tonnages required to keep the leases current.  Great Northern leases were renewed in 1989 for a term of 30 
years, and the royalty payable under these leases adjusts every five years.  The state leases remain current 
as long as commercial quantities are produced or as long as they are under a valid mining permit.  These 
reserves and deposits were estimated to be 560,552,000 tons as of January 1, 1998, based principally upon a 
reserve study prepared for a Logical Mining Unit Application to the Bureau of Land Management.  This reserve 
study was prepared by the Environmental and Engineering Department of WECO while it was owned by 
Montana Power.  The coal consists exclusively of the Rosebud seam.  In 1999, WECO successfully bid on an 
additional 29,110,000 tons of federal coal and these reserves were added.  The Company believes that all 
held deposits and reserves are recoverable through existing facilities at the Rosebud Mine with current 
technology and the Company’s existing infrastructure.  The coal has an average heating value of 8,500 Btu/lb. 
and 0.72 percent sulfur as received.  Through 2001, approximately 323,001,000 tons of coal have been 
produced and shipped from the Rosebud Mine to the Colstrip power plants and utility customers in Billings, 
Montana and the upper Midwest for use as steam coal.  Transportation charges are paid by WECO’s 
customers.  There have been no significant problems with operation of the coal handling plant. 
 
A total of 13,969 acres have been disturbed by mining of which reclamation is complete on 6,505 acres, with 
the balance involved in active mining operations.  The reclamation bond, which is posted by WECO and is an 
estimate of total cost to reclaim, is $163,334,000.  After reclamation is complete, WECO is responsible for 
maintaining and monitoring the reclaimed property until the bond is released at an estimated cost of 
$2,000,000 to $2,500,000. 
 
The permit application process is subject to the regulations of the State of Montana under its OSM approved 
program. Among the requirements are detailed pre-mining inventories of environmental resources including 
soils, vegetation, wildlife, hydrology and archaeology.  The application must include detailed plans for mining, 
reclamation and protection of hydrological resources.  The process includes an exhaustive review of the 
application for compliance with all applicable regulations.  After initial review of the application, the regulatory 
authority issues a letter reviewing deficiencies in the application to which the applicant responds by revising 
the application where appropriate. This process of identifying and responding to deficiencies is repeated until 
all matters are cleared.  The decision document and environmental assessment are subject to formal public 
review, including public hearings if requested.  The process typically takes two to four years from the time the 
initial application if filed. 
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WECO has chosen not to permit all of the coal reserves in its mine plan because it already has sufficient coal 
in its current permitted mine plan given the current rate of mining and demand for its production, through 
2007.  Based upon the Company’s current knowledge of the permitting process and the nature of remaining 
reserves, the Company believes that there are no matters that would hinder its ability to obtain additional 
mining permits in the future. 
 
 
Jewett Mine 
 
NWR owns and leases coal properties for the Jewett Mine, an open-pit mine in East Texas, approximately half 
way between Dallas and Houston west of Interstate Highway 45.  The properties are located in Leon, 
Freestone, and Limestone Counties and are accessed on Farm to Market Road 39.  The surface and coal 
leases for the Jewett Mine are all under private ownership.  Most leases are for a term of 25 to 35 years 
although a few extend to 50 years.  The term of the primary leases expire from 2004 to 2025 but are 
renewable if coal production is being done in the required radius area.  The Jewett Mine was developed 
pursuant to  an agreement with Reliant (formerly Houston Lighting and Power) calling for production of “the 
most economic 240,000,000 tons” from the project area to supply the nearby LEGS.  The coal deposit was 
evaluated through a series of exploration programs, including physical and chemical analysis, according to 
those criteria.  As of December 31, 2001, a total of 125,949,000 tons have been produced and sold leaving 
114,051,000 tons remaining.  The Company believes that all such reserves are recoverable through existing 
facilities and with the Company’s existing infrastructure. 
 
Mine facilities consist of a truck dump, crusher, conveyors, coal storage, shop/warehouse complex, 
administrative support buildings, and water treatment facilities.  The contract with Reliant requires that all 
equipment and facilities be maintained such that they continue to be serviceable and support production 
comparable to the original specifications.  Total capital cost to develop the mine was approximately 
$54,000,000 as of December 31, 2001. 
 
Overburden removal is scheduled 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. Where total overburden thickness 
exceeds 180 feet, trucks and loaders are utilized to prebench to a 180-foot level.  Draglines then work to 
expose the lignite seams.  Depending on overburden depths and seam geometry, the dragline may take as 
many as two highwall passes and three spoilside passes to complete a pit.  Pit widths vary from 100 to 200 
feet with a 140-foot pit being normal.  Overburden depths vary from 20 to 240 feet.  When the draglines 
cannot uncover sufficient lignite to meet fuel deliveries, additional prebenching below the aforementioned 180 
feet level is required.  This reduces the amount of dragline overburden, thus increasing lignite release.  The 
BES system operates in a single mine area to reduce the dragline overburden to a predetermined depth.  
Once the lignite is exposed it is removed utilizing backhoes, front-end loaders, and 150-ton bottom dump coal 
haulers.  The lignite seams vary in thickness from 1.5 feet to 15 feet.  The coal haulers transport the lignite to 
the coal handling facilities where it is crushed and delivered to the power plant by means of a conveyor belt. 
 
The mine has been in continuous operation by NWR since 1985 and consists of four active areas with as 
many as four lignite seams within each area. Lignite is a dark brown to black combustible mineral formed over 
millions of years by the partial decomposition of plant material subject to increased pressure and temperature 
in an airless atmosphere.  Lignite is coal with a lower grade and Btu value. Because of its lower heat value, 
lignite typically can serve only contiguous power generating units.  Overburden removal is accomplished with 
four draglines, a bucketwheel excavator system and/or a truck and shovel fleet.  The primary excavating 
machines consist of three walking draglines with bucket capacities of 84 cubic yards,  one walking dragline 
with a bucket capacity of  128 cubic yards, and one around-the-pit  Bucketwheel  Excavator  System (“BES”). 
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Additional mobile equipment consists of dozers, scrapers, end dump trucks, bottom dump trucks, front-end 
loaders, and backhoes.  The aforementioned equipment is owned by Reliant and is leased by NWR on an 
annual basis.  Electrical power for the facilities and major stripping equipment is generated by the Brazos 
River Authority and transferred to the mine site by Navasota Valley Electric Cooperative. 
 
The first ton of coal from the Jewett Mine was sold in July 1985.  The four primary seams are named the #3, 
#4, #5, and #6 seams.  Interburden ranging from one foot to 70 feet in thickness separates them.  The total 
aggregate coal thickness from all four seams is approximately 15 feet.  All of the coal mined from the Jewett 
Mine is shipped approximately one mile, via conveyor, from the crushing facility located at the mine to LEGS.  
The lignite has an average heating value of 6,670 Btu/lb. and 1.02 percent sulfur as received. 
 
Initially, the mine operated with the three Marion 8200 walking draglines.  In 1990, due to increased 
overburden depth, the BES was put into operation.  In 1997, due to increased depth of overburden and 
increased delivery demands by LEGS, a fourth dragline, the Marion 8750, was put into operation. On average, 
the mine has sold 7.8 million tons of coal per year for 16 years.   
 
Exploration work for the project area was initiated in the late 1970s, and initial reserve estimates were 
prepared by NWR engineers and geologists while NWR was owned by Montana Power.  NWR engineers and 
geologists initially estimated the coal deposits and reserves.  To further define the coal reserve, exploration 
drilling was utilized to delineate that part of the deposit that met an economic depth and strip-ratio.  Based on 
the economic depth and strip-ratio, coring was conducted on 1000-foot centers and then on 500-foot centers 
to develop the proven reserves.  Core samples were taken on 1000-foot centers and were analyzed for 
physical and chemical parameters.  Electronic logs were taken on 500-foot centers.  Additional drilling was 
conducted to further define the limits of the coal seams.  As of December 31, 2001, all planned exploration is 
complete for the life-of-mine coal reserve. 
 
Reclamation activities follow mining.  The dragline spoils are regraded to an approximate original contour and 
are covered with a minimum of four feet of suitable plant growth material.  The area is then seeded and 
mulched. 
 
To date, the mine has regraded and revegetated 10,669 acres; at any given time there are approximately 500 
to 600 acres disturbed in association with the pit, prebench and unregraded spoil.  The reclamation bond, 
which is posted by NWR and by a Reliant self-bond, exceeds the total estimated cost to reclaim the mine. 
Under the current contract with Reliant, NWR performs the reclamation work and the cost is passed through 
to Reliant.  This will change in June 2002 so that NWR will perform the reclamation work on current mining 
including “final” pits in each area as part of its cost of mining.  Final reclamation of the Jewett Mine, at the end 
of its useful life, is the financial responsibility of Reliant. 
 
The surface coal mine permitting process is regulated by the Railroad Commission of Texas (“RCT”) under its 
OSM approved program.  Some of the information required for permitting includes detailed premining 
inventories of environmental resources including soils, vegetation, wildlife, hydrology and archaeology.  The 
application must include detailed plans for mining, reclamation and protection of hydrological resources.  The 
permit preparation process takes in excess of a year.  The regulatory review and approval process includes an 
exhaustive review of the application for compliance with all applicable regulations.  After initial review of the 
application, the regulatory authority issues a letter reviewing deficiencies in the application to which the 
applicant responds by revising the application where appropriate.  This process of identifying and responding 
to deficiencies is repeated until all matters are cleared.  The decision document and environmental 
assessment are subject to formal public review, including public hearings if requested.  The process typically 
takes eighteen months to two years from the time the initial application is filed. 
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A permit term encompasses five years of mining.  Jewett currently holds two mining permits.  Permit 32E
is a renewal of the same general permit area that has been in place and actively mined since 1985; it
encompasses 21,324 acres.  The current term for 32E is July 1998 through July 2003.  This permit
renewal submittal is scheduled to go to the RCT in the first quarter of 2002.  The renewal term will be
from the date of the RCT approval (projected to be approximately July 2003) through July 2008.  Permit
47 is a new permit area encompassing approximately 9,341 acres; it is located contiguous to Permit 32E.
The current term for Permit 47 is December 2001 through December 2006.  

Prior to any surface mining activity, all surface improvements are removed or relocated from the
immediate area.  These include buildings, utilities, oil/gas wells and pipelines, county roads, railroads,
and public highways.  Drainage control facilities such as sedimentation ponds and diversions are
constructed during this phase of operations to control runoff from all areas to be disturbed during mining.  
Clearing and grubbing takes place in advance of overburden removal operations and includes staking
and burning of trees and brush.  Dewatering/depressurization wells are installed a minimum of one year
in advance of mining activities for the purpose of ground water control.  Trucks and loaders selectively
handle suitable plant growth material in advance of mining.  A minimum of four feet of this suitable plant
growth material is transported to the regraded areas of the spoil to reconstruct the surface area for
revegetation.  

Beulah Mine

DWC operates the Beulah Mine in Beulah, North Dakota. This property was purchased as of April 30,
2001 from Knife River Corporation.  The mine and support facilities are located between the two mining
areas and service both. Total capital cost to develop the mine was approximately $70,000,000 as of
December 31, 2001.  Mine facilities consist of a truck dump hopper, primary and secondary crushers,
conveyors, train loadout, railroad spur, coal storage bin and coal stockpile.  The coal preparation facilities
will prepare the coal for transport via conveyor to the Coyote power plant or for loading onto railroad cars
for shipment to the Heskett power plant. There is no wash plant at this mine site.  The support facilities
include several maintenance shops, equipment storage buildings, warehouse, employee change houses
and mine office and trailers. Power for the mine is purchased from the local electric utility.  The two
primary excavating machines are a walking dragline with a bucket capacity of 17 cubic yards operates in
the West Brush Creek area and a walking dragline with a bucket capacity of 84 cubic yards removes
overburden at East Beulah. Additional major equipment utilized at the mine include a Caterpillar 5130
track excavator and three end-dump trucks, a coal loading shovel, rubber tired loaders, haul trucks,
scrapers, dozers, motor graders, water trucks, and coal drills.

The Beulah Mine is a surface (open pit) coal mine located in Mercer and Oliver Counties, North Dakota.
The mine is approximately 2 miles south of Beulah. The mine is accessed from North Dakota Highway 49.
There are currently two separate mining permits that cover the Beulah Mine.  These permits are referred
to as the West Brush Creek area and the East Beulah area.  Acreage contained within the current permit
area for West Brush Creek amounts to approximately 1,030 acres.  The Company has private and state
surface leases that cover the permit area.  The East Beulah current permit area contains approximately
4,289 acres.  All surface rights are leased from private owners, with the Company having federal, private
and state coal leases which expire from 2009 to 2019.  The mine has been open at the current location
since 1963 and the coal from this operation supplies the fuel requirements for the adjacent Coyote
Generating Station and the Heskett Generating Station in Mandan, North Dakota.

The estimated total owned and leased coal reserves at this site were approximately 64,264,000 tons at
December 31, 2001.  The Company believes all of these reserves are recoverable through existing
facilities with current technology and existing infrastructure.  Reserves were estimated to be 73,010,000
tons as of January 1, 1999, based principally upon a report prepared by Weir International Mining
Consultants, an independent consulting firm.  Presently, the mine produces approximately 3,000,000
tons of coal annually.
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Of the lignite beds, the Beulah-Zap Seam is the most consistent in quality, lateral continuity and
thickness. The Beulah-Zap seam, ranging in thickness from 10 to 12 feet, is the primary focus of mining
in both reserve areas. Several other seams are contained within the stratigraphic package above and
below the Beulah-Zap. Among these is the Schoolhouse seam, which lies 45-50 above the Beulah-Zap
and is also being mined in the East Beulah area.  The Schoolhouse seam averages 6 feet in thickness.
A lower bench of the Beulah-Zap seam, referred to as the Beulah-Zap lower seam, or BZ-2, is also being
mined in the East Beulah mine area. The BZ-2 seam ranges in thickness from 2 to 4 feet.  Three
individual seams are mined in the East Beulah area and only one in the West Brush Creek area, all with
varying in-place quality characteristics. These coals require blending in order to assure consistent product
quality.  At the present time, nearly all coal blending is conducted in-pit through the scheduling of daily
production from different areas and different seams.  A quality control engineer is assigned the task of
determining the in-place quality parameters and scheduling production accordingly.  Estimated overall
quality of the coal at the Beulah Mine is an average heating value of 7,000 Btu/lb and 1.00 percent
sulfur as received.

Of the 5,319 permitted acres, 3,922 acres have been disturbed by mining.  Reclamation has been
completed on 2,584 acres, with the balance involved in active mining operations.  The reclamation bond,
which is posted by the Company and is an estimate of the total cost to reclaim the mine, is $10,730,000.
The North Dakota Public Service Commission does not require mining operations to bond for facility
removal or for the post-mining reclamation monitoring period.  After all reclamation has been completed,
the Company is responsible for maintaining and monitoring the reclaimed property until the bond is
released, which is a minimum of 10 years after the final seeding has occurred.  The Company estimates
the cost of maintaining and monitoring the property prior to bond release will be $1,500,000.

Of the total reserves shown, approximately 4.5 million tons in the West Brush Creek area and 7.5 million
tons at East Beulah are fully permitted at this time. Based on the current estimated production rates of
500,000 and 2,500,000 tons respectively, there are roughly 9 and 3 years remaining under the current
permitted mine plans. The permit application process is subject to the regulations of the OSM and the
State of North Dakota under its OSM approved program which is regulated by the North Dakota Public
Service Commission. Among the requirements are detailed pre-mining inventories of environmental
resources including soils, vegetation, wildlife, hydrology and archaeology.  The application must include
detailed plans for mining, reclamation and protection of the hydrological resources.  The process includes
an exhaustive review of the application for compliance with all applicable regulations.  After initial review
of the application, the regulatory authority issues a letter outlining deficiencies in the application to which
the applicant responds by revising the application where appropriate.  This process of identifying and
responding to deficiencies is repeated until all matters are addressed.  The decision document and
environmental assessment are subject to formal public review, including public hearing if requested.  This
process can take anywhere from one to three years from the time the initial application is filed. Based
upon the Company’s current knowledge of the permitting process and the environmental issues which
were associated with the permitted reserves, the Company believes that there are no matters that would
hinder its ability to obtain any mining permits in the future.  The Company is preparing a permit revision
for the East Beulah area that will be submitted in the summer of 2002 to add approximately 700 acres
that will extend the tons permitted to accommodate five years’ production at current rates.

Savage Mine

Savage is the current operator of the Savage Mine in Eastern Montana.  This property was also
purchased in 2001 from Knife River Corporation.   Mine facilities consist of a truck dump, near-pit portable
crushing unit, conveyors, coal stockpile; support facilities include a shop, warehouse and mine office.  
Total capital cost to develop the mine was approximately $7,000,000 as of December 31, 2001.   There
is no wash plant at this
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mine site.  Power for the mine is purchased from the local electric utility.  The primary excavating machine is a 
walking dragline with a bucket capacity of 12 cubic yards.  Additional major equipment utilized at the mine 
include a 992 front-end-loader, haul trucks, scraper, dozers, motor grader, water trucks, drills and other rubber 
tired loaders. The Pust Seam is the only reserve area.  The Pust Seam is classified as a lignite coal with an 
average heating value of 6,371 Btu/lb and 0.45 percent sulfur as received.   It ranges in thickness from 15 to 
25 feet, averaging around 20 feet and usually occurs as a single seam; however, a seam parting with a 
thickness of 1 to 6 feet does occur. Where present, the parting occurs in the lower part of the seam, dividing 
the lignite into two distinct benches.  
 
The Savage Mine is a surface (open pit) coal mine located in Richland County, Montana. The mine is 
approximately 32 miles north of Glendive and 20 miles south of Sidney.  The mine is accessed from Montana 
Highway 16 via County Road 107.  Acreage contained within the current life-of-mine plan amounts to 
approximately 874 acres.  All 874 permitted acres of surface leased fall under private ownership, with the 
Company having 562 acres of private coal leases and the remaining 311 acres are held under federal coal 
leases which expire from 2013 to 2017.  The mine was opened in 1958 and the coal from this operation 
supplies the fuel requirements for the Lewis and Clark Generating Station and a Holly Sugar Corporation 
sugar beet processing plant, both located in Sidney. 
 
As of December 31, 2001, Savage’s estimated total coal reserves in owned or leased property were 
approximately 20,493,000 tons.  The Company believes these reserves are recoverable through existing 
facilities with current technology and existing infrastructure.  These reserves were estimated to be 21,486,000 
tons as of January 1, 1999, based principally upon a report prepared by Weir International Mining Consultants, 
an independent consulting firm.  Presently, the mine produces approximately 300,000 tons of coal per year. 
 
Of the 874 permitted acres, 455 acres have been disturbed by mining.  Reclamation has been completed on 
196 acres, with the balance involved in active mining operations.  The reclamation bond, which is posted by 
the Company and is an estimate of the total cost to reclaim the mine, is $2,946,000.  After all reclamation has 
been completed, the Company is responsible for maintaining and monitoring the reclaimed property until the 
bond is released, which is a minimum of 10 years after the final seeding has occurred.  The cost of 
maintaining and monitoring the property prior to bond release has been estimated at $217,000 and is included 
in the reclamation bond estimate.  
 
Of the total reserves shown in the above table in the column captioned “Savage Mine”, approximately 5.0 
million tons are fully permitted at this time. Based on the current estimated production rate of 300,000 tons, 
there are roughly 15 years remaining under the current permitted mine plan.  The permit application process is 
subject to the regulations of the OSM and the State of Montana under its OSM approved program which is 
regulated by the Montana Department of Environmental Quality.  Among the requirements are detailed pre-
mining inventories of environmental resources including soils, vegetation, wildlife, hydrology and archaeology. 
The application must include detailed plans for mining, reclamation and protection of the hydrological 
resources.  The process includes an exhaustive review of the application for compliance with all applicable 
regulations.  After initial review of the application, the regulatory authority issues a letter outlining deficiencies 
in the application to which the applicant responds by revising the application where appropriate.  This process 
of identifying and responding to deficiencies is repeated until all matters are addressed.  The decision 
document and environmental assessment are subject to formal public review, including public hearing if 
requested.  This process can take anywhere from one to three years from the time the initial application is 
filed.  Based upon the Company’s current knowledge of the permitting process and the environmental issues 
which were associated with the permitted reserves, the Company believes that there are no matters that would 
hinder its ability to obtain any mining permits in the future. 
 
Refer to Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of WEI properties. 
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ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
On December 23, 1996 (“Petition Date”), Westmoreland Coal Company and four subsidiaries, Westmoreland 
Resources, Inc., Westmoreland Coal Sales Company, Westmoreland Energy, Inc., and Westmoreland 
Terminal Company (the “Debtor Corporations”), filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under Chapter 11 of 
the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the 
District of Colorado (the “Chapter 11 Cases”).  On July 27, 1998, they filed a joint motion to be dismissed from 
bankruptcy.  By order of the Bankruptcy Court entered on December 23, 1998, the Chapter 11 Cases were 
dismissed.  No objections were filed during the ten-day stay period that expired on January 4, 1999.  Effective 
with the dismissal, the Debtor Corporations are no longer subject to the protections afforded or restrictions 
imposed by the Bankruptcy Code.  Prior to the dismissal, the Debtor Corporations were in possession of their 
respective properties and assets and were operating as debtors in possession pursuant to provisions of the 
Bankruptcy Code.  Refer to Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information 
concerning the bankruptcy proceedings. 
 
Westmoreland Coal Company – The Company has commenced arbitration proceedings with the UMWA 
1974 (Retirement) Plan regarding the Company’s withdrawal liability.  Refer to Item 7 – Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information. 
 
Westmoreland Resources, Inc.  –  On July 1, 1999, WRI restructured the terms of its coal sales agreement 
with Xcel Energy.  The new agreement increased the tonnage of coal that Xcel Energy is required to purchase 
and that WRI is required to deliver and eliminates an option agreement that Xcel had to purchase additional 
tonnage.  The new agreement expires on December 31, 2002.  WRI anticipates that an extension or a new 
agreement will be negotiated before the end of 2002.  Under the old agreement, WRI had entered into an 
option agreement whereby it had agreed to sell up to an additional 200,000,000 tons of coal to Xcel Energy.  
As compensation for granting the option, WRI received 1 1/4 cents, payable quarterly (with applicable price 
adjustments) for each optioned ton.  The option was never exercised.  In 1999, WRI recorded income of 
$1,593,000 relative to this option agreement.  On May 23, 2001, the Minerals Management Service (“MMS”) of 
the Department of Interior, responsible for insuring payment of royalties on minerals, including coal produced 
from Federal or Native American lands, issued a letter demanding payment of an additional $1,900,000 in 
royalty for the period of from 1986 through 1999.  MMS asserts that the Xcel option payments were payments 
for current coal and therefore royalties should have been paid on these amounts.  WRI disagrees with MMS 
and has appealed the MMS determination.  Refer to Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis.  
 
On March 7, 2000, WRI filed suit in the U.S. District Court for Montana against its mining contractor, 
Washington Group, asserting that WGI had failed to pay for repairs to WRI’s dragline, as required by the 1978 
letter agreement in which WRI permitted Washington Group to use the dragline.  However, in May 2001, 
before the dragline litigation could be concluded, Washington Group filed a bankruptcy petition with the federal 
bankruptcy court in Reno, Nevada.  Initiating the bankruptcy proceeding automatically stayed the dragline 
litigation.  On February 15, 2002, the bankruptcy court lifted the automatic stay and remanded the dragline 
litigation to the U.S. District Court in Montana.  WRI will press for a scheduling order and prompt trial to 
resolve this litigation.  The Company expects that WRI’s claim against Washington Group with respect to the 
dragline will be tried in mid-2002.   
 
On or about September 4, 2001, WRI asserted claims in the bankruptcy proceeding against Washington 
Group for failure to pay for repairs to the dragline, overcharges on mining costs, the MMS royalty 
underpayment issue and adequate assurances that Washington Group will perform its contractual reclamation 
obligations.  WRI has objected to Washington Group’s assumption of the mining contract between WGI and 
WRI, and Washington Group has reserved the right to reject all pending agreements with WRI.  These claims 
were not affected when the bankruptcy court allowed WRI’s claim related to repair of the dragline to proceed 
in Montana.  WRI’s claims against Washington Group (other than the claim related to repair of the dragline, 
which is expected to be resolved in the Montana federal court described above) and WRI’s objection to 
Washington Group’s assumption of the mining contract will be tried as “adversary proceedings” in the WGI 
bankruptcy.  Washington Group will not be required to assume or reject the contracts until all adversary 
proceedings are resolved.  Resolution of these issues is not expected before August 2002 at the earliest. 
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It is impossible to predict the outcome of the litigation against Washington Group.  Refer to Item 7 – 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis for further information.  
 
Basin Resources, Inc. – Basin was an operating company and currently has no assets.  The previous owner 
operated the Golden Eagle mine near Trinidad, Colorado and it ceased operations in 1995.  Basin’s workforce 
had been represented by the UMWA. In 1993, Basin signed a Basin-specific labor contract with the UMWA 
which expired on December 31, 1997.  A group of former employees filed an action in the U.S. District Court in 
1998 claiming they were entitled to lifetime health benefits.  Basin contended that when the contract expired it 
was not obligated to continue to provide health benefits.  Both Basin and the former employees moved for the 
District Court to award summary judgment.  The Court awarded the former employees’ summary judgment 
and ordered Basin to reinstate its former health plan and to pay medical costs incurred up to that date.  The 
estimated obligation of $4,000,000 was accrued by the Company as of December 31, 2001.  Basin has 
appealed the District Court’s decision to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit.   
 
Western Energy Company – WECO has received two preliminary demand letters from the Montana 
Department of Revenue (“DOR”), as agent for the MMS, asserting underpayment of certain royalties.  DOR 
contends that royalty payments are due on the fees WECO receives to transport coal from the contract 
delivery point to the customer.  DOR has claimed that approximately $3.2 million is due in respect of this 
claim.  Secondly, DOR has alleged that royalties are also due for certain “take or pay” payments WECO 
received when its customers did not require coal.  DOR has alleged that approximately $1.8 million is due in 
respect of this claim.  Great Northern Properties (“GNP”), one of WECO’s lessors, has also notified WECO 
that it also has claims for potential underpayment of royalties.  GNP has alleged it is due royalties for the 
transportation fees WECO receives to transport coal from the point of delivery to the customer.  WECO has 
not received a final assessment letter and demand for payment by DOR.  If WECO receives a payment 
demand from DOR, it can appeal the assessment.  The appeal process will take several years.  WECO and 
GNP have selected a three-person arbitration panel and are engaged in a preliminary exchange of 
information.  The arbitration process will take several months to conclude.   
 
Purchase Price Adjustment – Pursuant to the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of 
September 15, 2001 (the “Stock Purchase Agreement”) between Entech, a subsidiary of Montana Power, and 
WCC, certain adjustments to the purchase price were to be made as of the date the transaction closed to 
reflect the net assets of the acquired operations on the closing date and the net revenues that those 
operations had earned between January 1, 2001 and the closing date.  Pursuant to the terms of the Stock 
Purchase Agreement the seller had 60 days after the transaction closed to provide Westmoreland a certificate 
setting forth the seller’s calculation of the net assets of the entities that the Company was acquiring and the 
net revenues of those entities through the closing date.  Westmoreland then had 30 days to agree or object to 
the seller’s certificate. Entech and Montana Power submitted a certificate that would have increased the 
purchase price by approximately $9 million. The Company submitted its own adjustments which would result 
in a substantial decrease in the original purchase price and objected to Entech’s and Montana Power’s 
certificate.  Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, the parties had 15 days from the submission of the 
Company’s certificate and objection to the seller’s certificate to resolve their differences.  If they could not 
reach agreement within that period, the Stock Purchase Agreement requires that their disagreements shall be 
submitted to an independent accountant for resolution.   The parties have not been able to agree on either the 
amount of the purchase price adjustment or the methodology to calculate the adjustment, and Entech refused 
to refer the matter to the independent accountant.  Consequently, on November 26, 2001, Westmoreland 
initiated an action in the Supreme Court of New York seeking specific performance of the purchase price 
adjustment methodology in the Stock Purchase Agreement.  The Supreme Court of New York agreed with 
Westmoreland and ordered Entech and Montana Power to comply with the purchase price adjustment 
methodology in the Stock Purchase Agreement.  Entech appealed the Court’s decision and was seeking to 
enjoin the use of the independent accountant until its appeal was heard.  A temporary stay was granted 
pending a hearing before the full  Appellate  Division of the Supreme Court of New York.   On March 19, 2002,  
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the Appellate Division denied Entech’s request to continue the stay pending completion of Entech’s appeal 
and dissolved the temporary stay.  The Company will press to have the independent accountant appointed 
and the purchase price adjustment determined.  Although there can be no assurance as to the ultimate 
outcome, the Company denies Entech’s claims, believes its own claims are meritorious, and intends to pursue 
its rights vigorously.  See Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis for further information.  
 
Northwestern Resources Co. - Under the terms of the LSA with Reliant, lignite prices are set until June 30, 
2002.  From July 1, 2002, through July 20, 2015 lignite prices will be the lesser of (1) a redetermined price set 
to be competitive with Powder River Basin coal supplies (subject to an established minimum), or (2) the price 
that would have otherwise been paid under the LSA.  In 1998, when the amended LSA was executed, LEGS 
consisted of two 800MW generating units.  Thereafter, Reliant decided to increase the generating capacity of 
these units from 800MW per unit to 890MW per unit and to make other modifications, such as construction of 
a rail that would facilitate use of coal from the Powder River Basin (“PRB”). Disputes subsequently arose 
regarding post-July 2002 tonnages, pricing, the potential impacts of Texas NOx regulations and Reliant’s 
increase in the generating capacity of LEGS.  In light of differences of opinion between the parties regarding 
various contract provisions, NWR filed an action seeking a declaratory judgment in Freestone County, Texas 
on December 11, 2001.  The action asks the Court to assist in resolving the parties’ differences regarding 
construction of the LSA.  Discussions are continuing.  Refer to Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis for further information. 
 
There are other pending legal issues at the various Westmoreland subsidiaries which are not material or out 
of the ordinary course of business.   
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ITEM 4 - SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 
 
This item is not applicable. 
 
Executive Officers of the Registrant 
 
The following table shows the executive officers of the Company, their ages as of March 1, 2002, positions held and year 
of election to their present offices.  No family relationships exist among them.  All of the officers are elected annually by 
the Board of Directors and serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. 
 

Name Age  Position Held Since 

(1) Christopher K. Seglem 55 
 

Chairman of the Board 
President and  
Chief Executive Officer 

1996 
1992 
1993 

(2) Robert J. Jaeger 53  Senior Vice President of Finance and 
Development  

1996 
2001 

(3) W. Michael Lepchitz 48  Vice President and General Counsel 
and Secretary 

2000 
2001 

(4) Thomas G. Durham 53  Vice President Coal Operations 2000 
(5) Todd A. Myers 38  Vice President Sales and Marketing 2000 
(6) Gregory S. Woods 48  Vice President Eastern Operations 2000 

 

(1) Mr. Seglem was elected President and Chief Operating Officer in June 1992, and a Director of Westmoreland in 

December 1992.  In June 1993, he was elected Chief Executive Officer, at which time he relinquished the position 

of Chief Operating Officer. In June 1996, he was elected Chairman of the Board.  He is a member of the bar of 

Pennsylvania. 

(2) Mr. Jaeger held various financial positions at Penn Virginia Corporation from 1976 and was Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer when he left in March 1995.  He joined Westmoreland Energy, Inc. in April 1995 as Vice 
President-Finance.  He was elected Vice President Finance, Treasurer and Controller of Westmoreland in 
September 1995.  He was elected Senior Vice President-Finance, Treasurer and Controller in February 1996 and 
relinquished the position of Controller in January 1998 and the position of Treasurer in July 2001.  He became 
Senior Vice President, Development in October 2001.   

(3) Mr. Lepchitz joined Westmoreland in 1991 as Assistant General Counsel.  He was named General Counsel of 
Westmoreland Energy, Inc. in 1995 and became President of WEI in 1997.  In June 2000, Mr. Lepchitz was 
elected Vice President and General Counsel of Westmoreland Coal Company.  In May 2001, he became Corporate 
Secretary of Westmoreland.  He is a member of the Virginia State Bar. 

(4) Mr. Durham joined Westmoreland as Vice President, Coal Operations in April 2000.  For the four years prior to 
joining Westmoreland, he was a Vice President of NorWest Mine Services, Inc. which provides worldwide 
consulting services on surface mining and other projects.  Mr. Durham has 30 years of surface mine management 
and operations experience.  He became a registered professional engineer in 1976. 

(5) Mr. Myers re-joined Westmoreland in January 2000 as Vice President Sales and Marketing.  He originally joined 
Westmoreland in 1989 as a Market Analyst and was promoted in 1991 to Manager of the Contract Administration 
Department.  He left Westmoreland in 1994.  Between 1994 and 2000, he was Senior Consultant and Manager of 
the Environmental Consulting Group of an energy consulting firm, specializing in coal markets, independent power 
development, and environmental regulation. 

(6) Mr. Woods joined Westmoreland in May 1973 and held various corporate accounting and management information 
systems’ positions while at Westmoreland’s Virginia and West Virginia coal mining operations.  Mr. Woods has 
been with Westmoreland Energy, Inc. since 1990 and has held the positions of Controller, Asset Manager, and 
Vice President – Finance and Asset Management.  Mr. Woods was elected to his current position as Executive 
Vice President of Westmoreland Energy, Inc. in 1996 and as Vice President – Eastern Operations of 
Westmoreland Coal Company in June 2000. 
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PART II 
 
ITEM 5 -  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 

MATTERS 
 
Market Information: 
 
The following table shows for the past two years the range of sales prices for the Company’s common stock, 
par value $2.50 per share (the “Common Stock”), and depositary shares, each representing one quarter of a 
share of the Company’s Series A Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock, $1.00 par value per preferred 
share (the “Depositary Shares”).   
 
The Common Stock and Depositary Shares are listed for trading on the American Stock Exchange (“AMEX”) 
and the sales prices below were reported by the AMEX. 
 
 

 Sales Prices 
 Common Stock Depositary Shares 
 High Low High Low 
     
2000     
First Quarter $ 4.06 $ 2.75 $ 16.00 $ 14.88 
Second Quarter 3.88 2.63 18.00 14.50 
Third Quarter 5.50 2.88 22.00 15.13 
Fourth Quarter 9.25 4.75 20.75 17.00 
     
2001     
First Quarter 16.50 8.25 33.00 20.50 
Second Quarter 20.85 13.35 38.50 29.00 
Third Quarter 17.75 10.80 34.85 28.00 
Fourth Quarter 17.05 12.61 34.99 29.00 

 
 
Approximate Number of Equity Security Holders: 
 

 
Title of Class 

Number of Holders of Record 
(as of March 1, 2002) 

Common Stock ($2.50 par value) 1,582 
Depositary Shares, each representing a  
   one-quarter share of Series A    
   Convertible Exchangeable Preferred  
   Stock 
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Dividends: 
 
Preferred stock dividends at a rate of 8.5% per annum were paid quarterly from the third quarter of 1992 
through the first quarter of 1994.  The declaration and payment of preferred stock dividends was suspended in 
the second quarter of 1994 in connection with extension agreements with the Company’s principal lenders. 
Upon the expiration of these extension agreements, the Company paid a quarterly dividend on April 1, 1995 
and July 1, 1995.  Pursuant to the requirements of Delaware law, described below, the preferred stock 
dividend was suspended in the third quarter of 1995 as a result of recognition of losses and the subsequent 
shareholders’ deficit.  The quarterly dividends which are accumulated but unpaid through and including 
January 1, 2002 amount to $12,862,000 in the aggregate ($61.63 per preferred share or $15.41 per depositary 
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share).  Common stock dividends may not be declared until the preferred stock dividends that are 
accumulated but unpaid are made current. 
 
On March 10, 1999, the Company offered to purchase up to 1,052,631 depositary shares, each representing 
one quarter of a share of its Series A Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock ("Series A Preferred Stock").  
The offer price of $19 per share was in full satisfaction of claims to accumulated but unpaid dividends on the 
depositary shares tendered.  On April 7, 1999, the offer expired and 1,683,903 depositary shares were 
tendered in response to the offer. Because the number of shares tendered exceeded the maximum number of 
shares the Company had offered to purchase, a proration factor of approximately 62.5% was applied to all 
shares tendered.  A total of 1,052,631 depositary shares were purchased for $20,000,000.  The balance sheet 
effect of this transaction was to reduce cash and shareholders’ equity by $20,000,000.  Following completion 
of the tender offer, the depositary shares purchased in the offer were converted into shares of Series A 
Preferred Stock, the shares of Series A Preferred Stock were retired, and the capital of the Company was 
reduced by the par value of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock retired.  This reduced the number of 
shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding from 575,000 to 311,843, accumulated but unpaid dividends 
from $21,994,000 to $11,928,000, and the ongoing quarterly preferred dividend requirement from $1,222,000 
to $663,000. 
 
On September 16, 1999, the Company made a second offer to purchase up to an additional 631,000 
depositary shares at $19 per depositary share.  The offer price of $19 per share was in full satisfaction of 
claims to accumulated but unpaid dividends on the depositary shares tendered.  On October 26, 1999, the 
offer expired and 412,536 depositary shares were tendered in response to the offer.  The Company purchased 
a total of 412,536 depositary shares for $7,838,000.  The balance sheet effect of the transaction was to 
reduce cash and shareholders’ equity by $7,838,000.  Following completion of the tender offer, the depositary 
shares purchased in the offer were converted to shares of Series A Preferred Stock, the shares of Series A 
Preferred Stock were retired, and the capital of the Company was reduced by the par value of the shares of 
Series A Preferred Stock retired. This reduced the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding 
from 311,843 to 208,708, accumulated but unpaid dividends from $13,253,000 to $8,870,000 and the ongoing 
quarterly dividend requirement from $663,000 to $444,000. 
 
There are statutory restrictions limiting the payment of preferred stock dividends under Delaware law, the state 
in which the Company is incorporated. Under Delaware law, the Company is permitted to pay preferred stock 
dividends only: (1) out of surplus, surplus being the amount of shareholders’ equity in excess of the par value 
of the Company’s two classes of stock; or (2) in the event there is no surplus, out of net profits for the fiscal 
year in which a preferred stock dividend is declared (and/or out of net profits from the preceding fiscal year), 
but only to the extent that shareholders' equity exceeds the par value of the preferred stock (which par value 
was $208,708 at December 31, 2001).  The Company had shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2001 of 
$10,415,000 and the par value of all outstanding shares of preferred stock and shares of common stock 
aggregated $18,996,000 at December 31, 2001. 
 
The Board of Directors continues to review the subject of reinstating the preferred stock dividend and 
satisfying the accumulated unpaid dividends on the preferred stock.  Based upon the acquisitions 
consummated by the Company during the second quarter and the anticipation of positive earnings, the 
Company’s Board expects to review again, in the next six months, the possibility of reinstating the preferred 
stock dividend and the issue of the accumulated unpaid dividends.  The Company continues to be committed 
to meeting its obligations to the preferred shareholders in a manner consistent with the best interests of all 
shareholders. 
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ITEM 6 - SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 
Westmoreland Coal Company and Subsidiaries 
Five-Year Review 

 2001(1) 2000 1999 1998(2) 1997(2) 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 
 Information 

 

Revenue – Coal 
                – Independent Power and other 

$ 231,048 
13,949 

$  35,137 
30,460 

$     38,539 
33,028 

$     44,010 
64,559 

$   47,182 
18,650 

Total revenues 244,997 65,597 71,567 108,569 65,832 
      
Cost and expenses  233,582 61,511 63,605 78,250 66,383 
Pension expense (benefit) (211) (585) (149) 111 (5,547) 
Unusual charges (credits)  - - - 2,000 (27,214) 
Doubtful accounts recoveries (446) (400) (174) (1,028) (1,410) 
Impairment charges - 4,632 - 12,164 - 
Loss (gains) on the sales of assets  440 6 (433) (475) (969) 
      
Operating income 11,632 433 8,718 17,547 34,589 
      
Interest expense (8,418) (911) (1,135) (190) (320) 
Minority interest  (780) (518) (854) (775) (1,092) 
Interest and other income 3,229 867 1,826 1,999      713 
      
Income (loss) before reorganization items    
  and income taxes 

 
5,663 

 
(129) 

 
8,555 

 
18,581 

 
33,890 

      
Reorganization legal and consulting fees - - - (9,872) (2,484) 
Reorganization interest income (expense),    
  net 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(1,594) 

 
1,552 

Income tax benefit (expense)  (436) 437 82 (3,787) - 
      
Income from continuing operations 5,227 308 8,637 3,328 32,958 
      
Loss from discontinued operations - - - - (4,802) 
Cumulative effect of changes in    
   accounting principles 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(9,876) 

 
- 

Net income (loss) 5,227 308 8,637 (6,548) 28,156 
      
Less preferred stock dividend   
  requirements 

 
1,776 

 
1,776 

 
2,992 

 
4,888 

 
4,888 

Net income (loss) applicable to  
  common shareholders 

 
$    3,451 

 
$    (1,468) 

 
$       5,645  

 
$   (11,436) 

 
$   23,268 

      
Net income (loss) per share applicable to 
  common shareholders:   

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

     Basic $        .48  $        (.21)  $           .80 $       (1.64) $        3.34 
     Diluted $        .43 $        (.21)  $           .79 $       (1.64) $        3.34 
Weighted average number of common  
  and common equivalent shares:  

 
 

    

     Basic 7,239 7,070 7,040 6,965 6,965 
     Diluted 8,000 7,070 7,146 6,965 6,965 
Balance Sheet Information      
Working capital (deficit)  $  11,346 $    (1,557) $       8,886 $     15,054 $    38,512  
Net property, plant and equipment  197,271 34,693 36,558 36,950 35,687 
Total assets 466,532 139,096 142,297 215,606 181,997 
Total debt  122,910 - 1,563 1,762   458 
Liabilities subject to compromise - - - - 132,667 
Shareholders’ equity   10,415 3,373 3,057 21,845 28,393 
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(1) Effective April 30, 2001, the Company acquired the operating coal business of Montana 

Power and the coal assets of Knife River Corporation.  Refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for further information. 

(2) On December 23, 1996 Westmoreland Resources, Inc., Westmoreland Coal Sales 
Company, Westmoreland Energy, Inc., and Westmoreland Terminal Company (the “Debtor 
Corporations”), filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United 
States Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Colorado.  
The Debtor Corporations were in possession of their respective properties and assets and 
operated as debtors in possession pursuant to provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.  The 
cases were dismissed on December 23, 1998.  Refer to Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for further information. 
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ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 
 
Forward-Looking Disclaimer 
 
Certain statements in this report which are not historical facts or information are  "forward-looking statements” 
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, including, but not limited to, the information set forth in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations.  Any statements contained herein that are not statements of 
historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements.  For example, words such as "may," "will," 
"should," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," "continue," "strategy," "believes,"   "anticipates,"   "plans,"   
"expects,"   "intends,” and similar expressions   are intended to identify   forward-looking   statements.   Such 
forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may 
cause the actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements of the Company, or industry results, 
to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or 
implied by such forward-looking statements.  Such factors include, among others, the following:  general 
economic and business conditions; healthcare cost trends; the cost and capacity of the surety bond market; 
the Company’s ability to manage growth and significantly expanded operations, the ability of the Company to 
implement its business strategy; the Company’s ability to retain key senior management; the Company's 
access to financing; the Company’s ability to maintain compliance with debt covenant requirements; the 
Company’s ability to successfully identify new business opportunities; the Company's ability to achieve 
anticipated cost savings and profitability targets; the Company’s ability to negotiate profitable coal contracts, 
reopeners and extensions; the Company’s ability to maintain satisfactory labor relations; changes in the 
industry; competition; the Company’s ability to  utilize  its tax net  operating  losses;  the  ability to reinvest 
excess cash at an acceptable rate of return;  weather  conditions;  the availability  of  transportation;  price  of  
alternative  fuels;  costs of coal produced by other countries;  demand for  electricity;  the effect of regulatory 
and legal  proceedings, the announced liquidity issues for Washington Group and other factors  discussed in 
this Item 7 and in  Items 1 and 3 above.  As a result of the foregoing and other factors, no assurance can be 
given as to the future results and achievement of the Company’s goals.  The Company disclaims any duty to 
update these statements, even if subsequent events cause its views to change. 
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Impact of Acquisitions 
 
The acquisitions completed in the second quarter of 2001 have significantly affected the Company’s financial 
and operating results for the year ended December 31, 2001.  The operations of WML, since the effective 
date of the acquisitions, have contributed the following: 
 

 Year Ended 
 December 31, 2001 

 (in thousands) 
Coal Revenues $   187,021  
Operating Income           25,722(a) 

Cash provided by operating activities           34,799(a) 

Increased selling and administrative costs        11,559 

  
      (a)  Does not include $1,500,000 in management fees paid by WML to WCC.   
 
These results may not necessarily be indicative of the results to be realized in future periods. 
 
As described in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the acquisitions also affected the 
Company’s balance sheet at acquisition by: 
 

• Adding $120,000,000 of acquisition debt, $12,298,000 of revolving debt for working capital and 
$3,963,000 of assumed debt 

• Adding property, plant and equipment of $166,387,000 
• Adding accrued reclamation costs of $135,844,000 partially offset by currently invested cash collateral 

of $46,827,000 
• Providing the basis for recognizing a deferred tax asset of $55,600,000 

 
The above amounts are included in the consolidated financial statements.  Also included as of December 31, 
2001 is $624,000 of cash and $8,371,000 of restricted cash held by WML, which along with its cash from 
continuing operations, is dedicated to debt service and funding of the debt service reserve required by the 
term loan and revolving credit agreements.  Until the debt service reserve account is fully funded, WML may 
not distribute any earnings to the Company; however, for quarters ended on or before December 31, 2001, 
WML was permitted to distribute up to $1,250,000 per quarter to the Company.  This $1,250,000 distribution 
was in addition to the $500,000 management fee that WML may pay the Company each quarter.  The 
Company expects that the debt service reserve account will be fully funded in March 2002. 
 
While the acquisitions are generating significant positive operating cash flows, the term notes and revolving 
credit facility agreements include certain conditions with respect to the use of such cash flows which will affect 
the amount of cash flows available for general use by the Company, particularly in the first year following the 
acquisitions as discussed in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
The final purchase price for the acquisition of Montana Power’s coal business is subject to adjustment.  As 
discussed in Item 3 – Legal Proceedings, the Company and Montana Power have not been able to agree on 
either the amount of the purchase price adjustment or the methodology to calculate the adjustment.  The 
Company initiated action in the Supreme Court of New York, seeking specific performance of the purchase 
price methodology.  Any change in the purchase price will result in a change to the preliminary purchase price 
allocation.  If the purchase price is reduced, amounts received are required to repay the acquisition debt.  In 
the unlikely event an additional purchase price payment is required to be made by the Company, it would likely 
be funded by the use of WML’s revolving credit facility.  Although there can be no assurance as to the ultimate 
outcome, the Company believes its claims are meritorious and intends to pursue its rights vigorously. 
 
The future income expected to be generated by the acquisitions will allow the Company to use at least a 
portion of its tax net operating loss carryforwards. As a result and as required by generally accepted 
accounting principles, the Company recognized a $55,600,000 deferred tax asset on the acquisition date. As 
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taxable income is generated in future periods and the net operating loss carryforwards are utilized, the tax 
asset will be reduced and a non-cash deferred income tax expense will be recognized and no regular Federal 
income taxes will be paid.  Under purchase accounting for the acquisitions, recognition of the deferred tax 
asset reduced the Company’s basis in the property, plant and equipment acquired, thus reducing future 
depreciation and depletion expense.  This accounting treatment has no effect on cash flows, which will reflect 
the full benefit to the Company of using its tax loss carryforwards.  
 
The Company describes in this filing many important issues affecting it. In order to facilitate understanding of 
the Company’s operations, results and future performance certain critical accounting policies and contractual 
obligations and commitments are presented in the following two sections. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies 
 
The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in the Consolidated Financial Statements. It is 
increasingly important to understand that the application of generally accepted accounting principles involve 
certain assumptions, judgments and estimates that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses. Thus, the application of these principles can result in varying results from company to company. 
The most significant principles that impact the Company and its subsidiaries relate to post retirement benefits 
and pension obligations, reclamation costs and reserve estimates, consolidation policy, depletion of mineral 
rights and development costs included in property, plant and equipment and deferred income taxes. The 
following discussion highlights those impacts. 

 
The most significant long-term obligations of the Company are post retirement medical and life insurance 
benefits and pneumoconiosis (black lung) benefits.  The majority of these benefits are provided through self-
funded programs.  The Company describes these obligations as heritage health benefit costs and the 
estimated amount of future payments for such obligations are determined actuarially. The discount rate used 
to calculate the present value of these future benefits was reduced from 7.50% in 2000 to 7.25% in 2001 and 
will be adjusted annually based upon interest rate fluctuations. The discount rate used can vary from company 
to company. In addition, the estimated amount of future claims is affected by the assumed health care cost 
trend rate.  During 2001, the Company increased the initial cost trend rate assumption to 10% from 5.5%. 
These factors, among others, greatly affected the annual expense which totaled $23.8 million in 2001 
compared to $21.5 million in 2000 and the recorded liability of $111.0 million at December 31, 2001 for post 
retirement medical and life insurance costs.  The pneumoconiosis obligation has an excess of funds held in 
trust over the obligation of $7.0 million. 

 
The Company’s share of reclamation costs, along with other costs related to mine closure, are accrued and 
charged against income on a units-of-production basis over the life of the mine, except at WRI where only 
monitoring costs are fixed and are being expensed over a 15-year period.  Future costs of reclamation are 
estimated based upon the standards for mine reclamation that have been established by various regulatory 
agencies that regulate the Company’s mining operations. Estimated costs can change and the liability 
included in the financial statements of $139 million as of December 31, 2001 must be viewed as an estimate 
which is subject to revision.  The remaining coal reserves used to calculate annual reclamation expense are 
also engineering estimates and are subject to change. 
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The Company’s consolidation policy is described in the Consolidated Financial Statements. In particular, the 
general and limited interests in partnerships owned by WEI related to independent power projects are 
accounted for under the equity method, as disclosed in Note 3. WEI performs project development and 
venture and asset management services for the partnerships but does not control them. The ROVA projects 
had approximately $250 million in long-term debt as of December 31, 2001, all of which was non-recourse to 
WEI and Westmoreland and is not included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
The Company depletes its mineral acquisition, development costs and some plant and equipment using the 
units of production method based upon estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves.  These 
estimates are reviewed on a regular basis and are adjusted to reflect current mining plans.  As a result, 
changes in estimates of recoverable proven and probable reserves could change amounts recorded in the 
future for amortization of development costs.   

 
The Company accounts for deferred income taxes using the asset and liability method. One of the largest 
potential assets of the Company is the Federal net operating loss carryforwards which were approximately 
$181 million as of December 31, 2001.  Utilization of these losses to reduce future income taxes until they all 
expire in the year 2019 is dependent upon many factors which determine taxable income.  These factors 
include the timing of tax deductions for certain obligations, such as postretirement medical benefits and 
reclamation; percentage depletion of coal production; and any potential limitation on using losses due to a 
“change of ownership” in the Company.  Each period, the Company assesses and estimates future utilization 
of the tax losses and its impact on the recognition of deferred tax assets. As a result of the recent acquisitions, 
the Company recognized a $55.6 million deferred income tax asset on the acquisition date which assumed 
that a portion of the previously unrecognized net operating loss carryforwards will be utilized through the 
generation of future taxable income.  Any increases or decreases to this asset affect deferred income tax 
expense and can materially affect net earnings resulting in an effective book income tax rate different than the 
34% Federal statutory rate. 
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments 
 

The following table presents contractual obligations (or estimates) and commitments of the Company as of 
December 31, 2001, which are discussed elsewhere in this filing. 
 
 

Payments Due by Period 
(in thousands of dollars) 

 
Contractual Obligations 

and Commitments Total 2002 2003 2004 2005 After 
WML Revolving debt 8,000   8,000   

WML Term debt 109,000 12,700 7,800 10,300 10,300 67,900 

WCC Revolving debt 3,000  3,000    

WEI Letter of credit 400(1)      

Other debt 2,910 1,053 1,052 169 169 467 

Operating leases 6,152 3,515 1,118 899 620  

Heritage Health Benefit/ 
Pension: 

 

 Undiscounted obligations:  

   Workers’ compensation 13,041 2,900 2,750 2,500 2,250 2,641 

   1974 UMWA pension 9,409 1,374 1,467 1,575 1,692 3,301 

 Discounted obligations:  

   Combined Benefit Fund 
        (Multiemployer) 

38,711(2) 5,058 4,672 4,573 4,344 20,064 

   Postretirement medical 205,564(3) 13,966 15,188 14,958 15,666 145,786 

   Qualified pension benefits 33,544(4) 300 350 400 460 32,034 

   SERP benefits 1,503(5) 76 76 76 76 1,199 

   Pneumoconiosis 22,987(6) 4,100 3,700 3,400 3,100 8,687 

Reclamation costs 235,321(7) 7,500 7,725 7,950 8,200 203,946 

Preferred dividends 12,862(8) 1,776(9) 1,776(9) 1,776(9) 1,776(9) 1,776(9) 
per year 
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(1) Expires December 28, 2002 and is collateralized by a $400,000 cash deposit held by the issuing bank. 
(2) The present value of the estimated obligation is not accrued as a liability since it is a multiemployer plan.  

Premium payments are expensed when due. 
(3) Gross benefit obligation is shown in the table.  The accrued liability, net of the unrecognized net actuarial 

loss and the unrecognized net transition obligation, was $111,093,000 as of December 31, 2001. 
(4) Fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2001 was $33,593,000.  Future payments will be made from plan 

assets. 
(5) Gross benefit obligation is shown in the table.  The accrued liability, net of the unrecognized net actuarial 

gain and the unrecognized prior service cost, was $1,752,000 as of December 31, 2001.  The plan was 
unfunded at December 31, 2001. 

(6) Fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2001 totaled $29,972,000.  Future payments will be made from 
plan assets. 

(7) Gross estimated cost of final reclamation is shown in table.  The accrued liability of $139,348,000 as of 
December 31, 2001 will increase as acres are disturbed in mining operations and will increase to the gross 
estimated cost of final reclamation.  The accrued liability does not include contractual obligations of 
customers and a contract miner to perform reclamation currently estimated at $73,700,000.  In addition, 
escrowed investments totaled $47,924,000 as of December 31, 2001 for reclamation at WECO’s Rosebud 
Mine. 

(8) Represents quarterly dividends which are accumulated but unpaid through and including January 1, 2002. 
(9) As provided in the Certificate of Designation establishing the Series A Preferred Stock, the holders of the 

Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends “when, as and if declared by the Board of 
Directors out of funds of the Corporation legally available therefor.”  In general, dividends that are not paid 
cumulate, as provided in the Certificate of Designation. 

 
Significant Coal Contract Issues 
 
Westmoreland acquired several existing coal supply agreements when it purchased the coal businesses of 
Montana Power.  WECO supplies coal to the four Colstrip Units under two distinct contracts.  The contract for 
Units 1 and 2 calls for the price to be reopened on the contract’s thirtieth anniversary, which was July 2001, 
and gives the parties six months to negotiate a new delivered price for coal.  If the parties are unable to agree 
on a new price, the issue is submitted to binding arbitration.  WECO and the owners of Units 1 and 2 have 
been negotiating since July 2001 in an attempt to reach an agreement for the price of coal through 2009.  The 
deadline provided in the contract for arbitration has been extended; however, it is possible that the parties will 
not agree on the price of delivered coal and the issue will be arbitrated.  While WECO believes it is due a price 
increase, as with any arbitration, the outcome is uncertain. 
 
WECO also supplies coal pursuant to a long-term Coal Supply Agreement (“CSA”) to owners of the Colstrip 3 
and 4 electric generating units. The CSA allows for the full recovery of WECO’s costs, plus a return on 
investment and profit.  Pursuant to the provisions of the CSA, an annual operating plan (“AOP”) must be 
approved by the Units 3 and 4 owners.  If the parties are in disagreement over any component of the AOP, the 
CSA provides avenues for dispute resolution over the components in dispute prior to arbitration. 
 
NWR, as part of a settlement of pending litigation entered into the LSA in 1998 with Reliant.  The LSA 
preserved the existing cost-plus contract structure through June 30, 2002, when the price shifts to a market-
based price derived by comparison to the value of Powder River Basin (“PRB”) spot coal delivered to LEGS.  
The price must be between a minimum and a maximum as determined in the LSA.  The contract provides for 
NWR to make its annual tonnage commitments one year in advance and six months  
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before the price is determined.  LEGS is obligated to take NWR’s committed tonnage.  NWR has nominated 
tonnages it will deliver to LEGS through December 31, 2003; however, the price for the nominated tonnage 
will not be set until July 1, 2002. NWR always has the right to supply nominated volumes as well as any 
additional fuel required by LEGS as long as it meets the price equivalent to the value of PRB coal at LEGS.  In 
the event that NWR elects not to match the equivalent PRB value on all or any portion of the LEGS fuel 
requirement, Reliant may purchase PRB coal. 
 
NWR has begun discussions with Reliant to resolve pricing for the eighteen-month supply of lignite it has 
nominated through December 31, 2003.  It is expected that NWR will make similar tonnage nominations until 
the contract expires in 2015.  In addition, NWR and Reliant are discussing impacts of changes to LEGS and 
construction of a rail unloader.  To protect its contract rights and, if necessary, obtain guidance on interpreting 
the LSA in the changed circumstances, NWR has filed a declaratory judgment action in Freestone County, 
Texas.  The litigation has only recently been filed and it is too early to predict any likelihood of success.  If the 
cost of delivering PRB coal became such that NWR determined that producing lignite was uneconomic, 
Reliant would be obligated to begin performance of final reclamation activities.  Refer to Item 3 – Legal 
Proceedings for further information. 
 
In addition to the contract issues discussed above, the Company is involved with various other legal 
proceedings, described in Item 3 – Legal Proceedings, which may affect the Company’s liquidity. 
 
Other Risks 
 
Westmoreland’s businesses use large equipment, including mining and power generation equipment and 
conveyor systems used for the transportation of coal.  While every effort is made to maintain this equipment, 
there is always a risk that unexpected equipment breakdowns can interrupt either the production of coal or 
generation of electricity.   
 
Unexpected equipment failure at electric generating units, called forced outages, if significant, may adversely 
impact Westmoreland.  These forced outages could cause fluctuations in delivery of coal or distributions from 
Westmoreland’s independent power plants.  For example, the Colstrip Unit 3 was shut down in January and 
February 2002 for unexpected repairs which will reduce coal sales from the Rosebud Mine during the first 
quarter.    
 
Westmoreland’s business is subject to some seasonality.  Weather has the potential to impact 
Westmoreland’s business.  Coal is supplied to electric generation units and if winter is unseasonably warm or 
summer is unseasonably cool, the customer’s need for coal may be less than expected.  The mild winter of 
2001/2002 has decreased the demand for electrical generation and is lowering the Company’s coal sales.   
 
Washington Group is contractually obligated to perform mining and reclamation at the Absaloka Mine.  WGI 
filed a petition seeking protection in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in Reno, Nevada.  WRI has filed several claims 
as discussed elsewhere in this report and objected to WGI’s assumption of current mining contracts.  If WGI 
elected to reject the mining contracts, as permitted by the bankruptcy code, WRI would be prepared to 
operate the mine and supply coal to its customers, and would have a claim against WGI.   
 
Changes in various mining, coal-fired generating plant and other environmental regulations have the potential 
to impact Westmoreland.  These include President Bush’s Clean Skies Initiative and Global Climate Initiative, 
the Kyoto Protocols, and the Texas NOx regulations. 
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The Company is dependent on certain contracts and customers.  The Company derives substantially all of its 
revenues from a relatively small number of coal supply contracts.   
 
The Company may have difficulty managing existing and future growth.  The Company has rapidly and 
significantly expanded its operations during 2001, and will pursue further opportunities to expand and diversify 
its revenue base.  These expansions may place a significant strain on the Company’s management, 
operations, and financial resources and may require additions to the Company’s current personnel, systems, 
procedures, and controls.   
 
The loss of key senior management personnel could negatively affect the Company’s business.  The 
Company depends on the continued services and performance of senior management and other key 
personnel, particularly Christopher K. Seglem, Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer.  
The Company does not have “key person” life insurance policies.  The unexpected loss of any of the 
Company’s executive officers or other key employees could harm its business. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents were $5,233,000 million at December 31, 2001.  Cash provided by 
operating activities was $28,435,000 in 2001 and $2,160,000 in 2000.  Cash used in operating activities was 
$22,281,000 in 1999.  The increase in cash from operations in 2001 compared to 2000 is due to the operating 
performance and changes in net assets related to the acquisitions completed in the second quarter of 2001.  
Also, cash flows in 2000 were positively impacted by the settlement of the ROVA forced outage litigation.  The 
change in cash provided by operations in 2000 compared to 1999 is mainly due to the receipt in 2000 of one-
time cash distributions from the overfunded pneumoconiosis trust and workers’ compensation bond compared 
to the additional payment of cumulative pre-petition liabilities, one-time reorganization costs and alternative 
minimum income taxes offset by the proceeds received on the sale of Rensselaer in 1999. 
 
Cash used in investing activities was $151,325,000 in 2001, $4,434,000 in 2000 and  $12,699,000 in 1999.  
The primary use of cash in 2001 was $162,700,000 paid for Montana Power and Knife River Corporation 
acquisitions.  Cash provided by investing activities in 2001 includes $15,954,000 in proceeds from the sale of 
the Company’s interests in the three Virginia independent power projects.  During the year, WML deposited 
$8,340,000 into a required restricted cash account to pay the next six months principal and interest 
requirements due under WML’s term loan agreement.  Cash used in investing activities also included the 
recoupment of collateral required for long-term security deposits and bond obligations of $9,368,000 in 2001 
associated with a change in bonding agents.  In addition to the Montana Power and Knife River acquisitions, 
additions to the Company’s property, plant and equipment totaled $5,433,000 in 2001 and consisted 
principally of mine development costs at WECO.  Cash used in investing activities in 2000 included funding of 
collateral for security deposits of $4,321,000 and fixed asset additions of $647,000 (including $621,000 at 
WRI) offset by a partial reimbursement from WRI’s mine operator of $530,000.  Cash used in investing 
activities in 1999 included funding collateral required for security deposits and bond obligations of $11,356,000 
and fixed asset additions of $2,069,000 (including $2,599,000 at WRI) offset by proceeds from sales of assets 
of $726,000. 
 
Cash provided by financing activities for 2001 totaled $113,930,000.  Cash provided in 2001 represented 
proceeds from the issuance of long-term and revolving debt, net of $5,396,000 debt issuance costs, and cash 
from the exercise of stock options less $1,479,000 for repayment of long-term debt and dividends paid to 
WRI’s minority shareholder.  Cash used in financing activities in 2000 totaled $3,655,000 and was primarily for 
repayment of WRI’s long-term debt as well as the payments of dividends to minority shareholders of WRI.  
Cash used of $28,971,000 in 1999 was primarily for the purchase of preferred stock and the payments of 
dividends to minority shareholders of WRI.   
 
Consolidated cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2001 totaled $5,233,000 (including $624,000 at 
WML and $3,449,000 at WRI).  At December 31, 2000, cash and cash equivalents totaled $14,193,000 
(including $2,406,000 at WRI.)  The cash at WRI, an 80%-owned subsidiary, is available to the Company 
through dividends.  In addition, the Company had restricted cash, security deposits and bond collateral which 
were not classified as cash or cash equivalents, of $18,423,000 at December 31, 2001 and $19,217,000 at 
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December 31, 2000.  The restricted cash at December 31, 2001 includes $8,371,000 in the WML debt service 
reserve account described above and $6,000,000 deposited to collateralize the Company’s obligations 
required by the Master Agreement dated as of January 4, 1999 (the “Master Agreement”) among WCC, WRI, 
WEI, Westmoreland Terminal Company, and Westmoreland Coal Sales Company, the UMWA 1992 Benefit 
Plan and its Trustees, the UMWA Combined Benefit Fund and its Trustees, the UMWA 1974 Pension Trust 
and its Trustees, the UMWA, and the Official Committee of Equity Security Holders, which facilitated the 
dismissal of WCC’s bankruptcy case.  The Company’s workers’ compensation bond was collateralized by 
interest bearing cash deposits of $4,052,000, which amount was classified as a non-current asset.  In 
addition, the Company has reclamation deposits of $47,924,000, which were funded by certain customers to 
be used for payment of reclamation activities at the Rosebud Mine.  The Company also has $4,600,000 in 
interest-bearing debt reserve accounts for certain of the Company’s independent power projects.  This cash is 
restricted as to its use and is classified as part of the investment in independent power projects.  Security 
deposits and bond collateral at December 31, 2000 represents interest-bearing cash deposit accounts; 
$6,000,000 which collateralizes the Company’s Contingent Note required by the Master Agreement, 
$9,368,000 of collateral for the surety bond required by the 1992 UMWA Benefit Plan, and $3,849,000 that 
collateralizes the outstanding surety bonds for workers’ compensation self-insurance programs.  At the end of 
2000, there was $8,000,000 in debt reserve accounts for certain of the Company’s independent power 
projects. 
 
Preferred stock dividends at a rate of 8.5% per annum were paid quarterly from the third quarter of 1992 
through the first quarter of 1994. The declaration and payment of preferred stock dividends was suspended in 
the second quarter of 1994 in connection with extension agreements with the Company’s principal lenders. 
Upon the expiration of these extension agreements, the Company paid a quarterly dividend on April 1, 1995 
and July 1, 1995.  Pursuant to the requirements of Delaware law, described below, the preferred stock 
dividend was suspended in the third quarter of 1995 as a result of recognition of losses and the subsequent 
shareholders’ deficit.  The Company conducted two tender offers for its Preferred Stock in 1999; the 
Company’s purchases of preferred stock from preferred stockholders in 1999 pursuant to these two offers 
reduced shareholders’ equity by $27,800,000. The quarterly dividends which are accumulated but unpaid 
through and including January 1, 2002 amount to $12,862,000 in the aggregate ($61.63 per preferred share or 
$15.41 per depositary share).  Common stock dividends may not be declared until the preferred stock 
dividends that are accumulated but unpaid are made current. 
 
There are statutory restrictions limiting the payment of preferred stock dividends under Delaware law, the 
state in which the Company is incorporated. Under Delaware law, the Company is permitted to pay preferred 
stock dividends only: (1) out of surplus, surplus being the amount of shareholders’ equity in excess of the par 
value of the Company’s two classes of stock; or (2) in the event there is no surplus, out of net profits for the 
fiscal year in which a preferred stock dividend is declared (and/or out of net profits from the preceding fiscal 
year), but only to the extent that shareholders' equity exceeds the par value of the preferred stock (which par 
value was $208,708 at December 31, 2001).  The Company had shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2001 
of $10,415,000 and the par value of all outstanding shares of preferred stock and shares of common stock 
aggregated $18,996,000 at December 31, 2001. 
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The Board of Directors continues to review the subject of reinstating the preferred stock dividend and 
satisfying the accumulated unpaid dividends on the preferred stock.  Based upon the acquisitions 
consummated by the Company during the second quarter and the anticipation of positive earnings, the 
Company’s Board expects to review again, in the next six months, the possibility of reinstating the preferred 
stock dividend and the issue of the accumulated unpaid dividends.  The Company continues to be committed 
to meeting its obligations to the preferred shareholders in a manner consistent with the best interests of all 
shareholders. 
 
Liquidity Outlook 

The major factors impacting the Company’s liquidity outlook are its significant "heritage health benefit costs", 
its debt repayment requirements, and its ongoing and future business needs. The Company’s principal 
sources of cash flow are dividends from WRI, distributions from independent power projects and distributions 
from WML which are limited by its debt agreement provisions.  

While the Company was able to meet its retiree health benefit and other obligations with operating cash flows 
and proceeds from the sales of non-strategic assets during the course of its restructuring, it sought a long-
term solution to improve its financial position.  Following the dismissal of its bankruptcy case in December 
1998, the Company undertook an extensive review and analysis of its strategic plan for growth.  The result 
was a development plan focused on expanding the Company’s existing core operations and acquiring 
profitable businesses in the energy sector where America’s dual goals of low cost power and a clean 
environment could be effectively addressed.  The Company has sought to do this in niche markets that will 
minimize exposure to competition, maximize stability of long-term cash flows and provide opportunities for 
synergistic operation of existing assets and new opportunities in the energy sector.  A key to the Company’s 
strategy of acquiring profitable businesses is the availability of approximately $200 million in net operating loss 
carryforwards (“NOL’s”) at the beginning of 2000.  The availability of these NOL’s can shield the Company’s 
future taxable income from payment of regular Federal income tax and thereby increase the return the 
Company receives from profitable investments (as compared to the return a tax-paying entity would receive 
that cannot shield its income from federal income taxation). 

As discussed below, substantial steps towards implementation of the Company’s strategic plan for growth 
have now been completed: 

• The Company completed its acquisition of Montana Power’s coal business on April 30, 2001.  These 
operations produced approximately 18.5 million tons of coal during the full year ended December 31, 
2001.  Over 90% of current production is sold under long-term contracts to the owners of mine-mouth 
power plants located adjacent to the Rosebud Mine in Colstrip, Montana and the Jewett Mine in 
Jewett, Texas. 

• The Company completed its acquisition of Knife River Corporation’s coal operations on May 11, 2001, 
effective April 30, 2001.  These operations produce over three million tons of coal annually, again 
primarily for mine-mouth or nearby power plants. 

• On July 26, 2001, the Company signed a definitive agreement for joint development with MDU 
Resources Group, Inc. to develop, own and operate a new state-of-the-art 500MW lignite-fired power 
plant near Gascoyne, North Dakota in connection with Lignite Vision 21 (“LV-21”).  Each party has an 
undivided fifty percent interest in the project.  LV-21 is a partnership between the state of North 
Dakota and the Lignite Energy Council designed to encourage construction of a new baseload power 
plant in North Dakota and includes up to $10 million in matching funds for development. 



39

Each of these opportunities is aimed at enabling the Company to expand its operations in order to meet
its significant heritage health benefit costs and other ongoing business needs and objectives, resume
and sustain dividend payments, pay accumulated unpaid dividends on the Preferred Stock, and increase
shareholder value.  Given the demand for new power generating capacity, stronger energy pricing, the
need for stabilizing fuel and electricity costs, and pressure to reduce harmful emissions into the
environment, the Company believes that its strategic plan positions it well for potential further growth,
profitability, and improved liquidity.

The Company’s acquisitions described above greatly increase revenues and operating cash flow, and
return the Company to profitability, but the cash used and financing arranged to make those acquisitions
could create short-term liquidity issues which must be managed.  The Company used $39 million of
available cash in the second quarter of 2001 to complete the acquisitions, knowing that short-term
liquidity would be temporarily reduced due to the requirements of the acquisition financing.  The terms of
the acquisition financing facility described in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements restrict
distributions to the Company from WML, particularly in the first twelve months after closing while the
required debt service reserve account is being fully funded.  As a result, the limited distributions available
from WML during that period along with remaining cash reserves and the distributions from the
Company’s other principal sources of operating cash flow, which include distributions from independent
power projects, dividends from WRI, and interest on cash reserves, might not be adequate to cover all of
the Company’s heritage health benefit costs and operating expenses during that period due to the
timing of distributions or worse than expected performance.  Therefore, the Company has continued to
take steps to conserve its cash.  The Company has also investigated the possible sale of non-strategic
assets where favorable values could be achieved.  Finally, the Company has sought other sources of
interim financing and working capital.  During the fourth quarter, the Company obtained additional
financing under a $7 million two-year revolving line of credit for general corporate purposes.
Management believes that cash flows from operations, along with available borrowings, should be
sufficient to pay the Company’s heritage health benefit costs, meet repayment requirements of the debt
facilities, and fund ongoing business activities as long as currently anticipated surplus cash distributions
from WML are received.

A significant source of liquidity, which the Company expects to receive in the second quarter of 2002, is
the release of the $6 million in cash currently collateralizing its obligations to the UMWA Funds.  The
Company agreed to secure its obligations to the UMWA Funds under the Master Agreement for a period
of six years by providing a Contingent Promissory Note (“Note”). The original principal amount of the Note
is $12 million with a reduction to $6 million in 2002.  The Note terminates in 2005.  The Note is payable
only in the event the Company does not meet its Coal Act obligations, fails to meet certain ongoing
financial tests specified in the Note, or fails to maintain the required balance of $6 million in an escrow
account established through 2001 in connection with the Note.  The financial tests were met through
2001 and cash flows from the ROVA project exceeded $8 million in 2001, which allows the entire $6
million held in escrow to be returned to the Company.   

Other sources of potential additional future liquidity include reimbursement of amounts paid to the 1974
UMWA Pension Plan, WRI’s recovery from Washington Group for dragline repairs and on other claims,
and the effect of any future legislation that causes Medicare to cover all or a portion of the cost of
prescription drug benefits for the Company’s retirees.

The Company expects that there will be continued upward pressure on corporate insurance and surety
bonding rates as a result of insurers’ world-wide loss experiences over the past several years, the terrorist
attacks in September and ongoing threats around the world.  Absent legislative relief, medical and health
care costs may also continue to increase.  The Company does not anticipate that its coal and power
production will diminish materially as a result of the current economic downturn because the independent
power projects in which the Company owns interests and the power plants that purchase coal mined by
the Company produce relatively low-cost, baseload power.  In addition, the Company is party to long-
term contracts, which help insulate the Company from downward price reductions.
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The following paragraphs specifically describe the health benefit and retirement obligations of the
Company.

The Company’s heritage health benefit costs consist primarily of payments for post-retirement medical
and workers’ compensation benefits.  The Company also is obligated for employee pension and
pneumoconiosis benefits; however, these obligations have a funding surplus at present.  The Company
currently expects to incur cash costs in excess of $19,000,000 for post-retirement medical benefits in
2002, which costs are expected to continue to increase in the near-term and then decline to zero over
the next approximately thirty-five years.  As a result of the acquisitions completed in 2001, the Company
assumed additional obligations, as of April 30, 2001, for post-retirement medical and life insurance
benefits of approximately $12,745,000, which will negatively impact the estimated annual expenditures
for benefits.  Due to the impact of increasing healthcare cost trends on the actuarial valuations of future
obligations the Company’s total estimated liability has increased and the heritage health benefit expense
for 2002 may increase approximately 15%.  The Company expects to incur cash costs of less than
$3,000,000 for workers’ compensation benefits in 2002, and expects that amount to steadily decline to
zero over the next approximately nineteen years.  There were no workers’ compensation obligations
assumed in conjunction with the acquisitions as all operations are fully insured.

One element of heritage health benefit costs is UMWA pensions under the 1974 (Retirement) Plan.  Since
this plan is a multiemployer plan under ERISA, a contributing company is liable for its share of unfunded
vested liabilities upon termination or withdrawal from the Plan.  The Company believes the Plan was fully
funded in 1998 when the Company terminated its last UMWA employees who were participants in the
1974 Retirement Plan and withdrew from the Plan. However, the Plan claims that the Company withdrew
on a date earlier than the date on which the Company terminated its last UMWA employee and that when
the Company withdrew the Plan was not fully funded.  The Plan has asserted a claim of $13,800,000,
which the Company is vigorously contesting through arbitration as provided under ERISA. The Company
recognized the $13,800,000 asserted liability in 1998.  The arbitration proceeding began June 4, 2001
and evidence regarding determination of the appropriate withdrawal date has been submitted.  The
Company is awaiting the Arbitrator’s decision on the withdrawal date issue.  Determination of the amount
of withdrawal liability, if any, was deferred until the withdrawal date was determined.  If necessary, a
second arbitration proceeding to determine the amount of withdrawal liability will be held.  In accordance
with the Multiemployer Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980, the Company has made monthly principal
and interest payments to the Plan while it pursues its rights and will continue to make such monthly
payments until arbitration is completed. Included in the payments made in 2001 is interest of
approximately $791,000 and principal of $1,279,000.  At the conclusion of arbitration the Company may
be entitled to a refund or it could be required to pay any remaining obligation in installments through
2008.

Under the Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992 (“Coal Act”), the Company is required to
provide postretirement medical benefits for UMWA miners by making premium payments into three benefit
plans: (i) the UMWA Combined Benefit Fund (the "Combined Fund"), a multiemployer plan which benefits
miners who retired before January 1, 1976 or who retired thereafter but whose last employer did not
provide benefits pursuant to an operator-specific Individual Employer Plan ("IEP"),  (ii) an IEP for miners
who retired after January 1, 1976, and  (iii)  the 1992  UMWA  Benefit  Plan,  a multiemployer  plan which
benefits (A) miners who were  eligible  to retire on February  1, 1993, who did retire on or before
September  30,  1994 and whose former employers are no longer in business,  (B) miners receiving
benefits under an IEP whose  former  employer  goes out of business  and ceases to maintain the IEP,
and (C) new spouses or new  dependents of retirees in the Combined Fund who would be eligible  for
coverage  thereunder  but for the fact that the Combined Fund was closed to new  beneficiaries  as of
July 20, 1992.  The premiums paid by the Company cover its own retirees and its allocated portion of the
pool of retired miners whose previous employers have gone out of business.
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The Coal Act also authorized the Trustees of the 1992 UMWA Benefit Plan to implement security provisions 
for the future payment of benefits pursuant to the Coal Act.  The Trustees set the level of security for each 
company at an amount equal to three years’ benefits.  The Company secured its obligation to provide retiree 
health benefits under the 1992 Plan by posting a bond in the amount of $22 million in 1999 which was 
increased to $23 million in 2000 and decreased to $20 million in 2001.  The bond amount and the amount to 
be secured are to be reviewed and adjusted on an annual basis.  The bond was collateralized by U.S. 
Government-backed securities in the amount of $7,968,000 at March 31, 2001 which amount the Company 
withdrew during second quarter 2001 in connection with a change of bonding agents.  The Company’s 
previous bonding agent required collateral equal to 40% of the bonded amount.   The Company’s bond 
amount is increasing by approximately $4,000,000 in 2002 and the bonding agent has requested cash 
collateral be deposited.  The Company is currently negotiating financing arrangements for the $4,000,000 
increase. 
 
The Combined Fund faces an ongoing solvency crisis because benefit expenses continue to exceed 
premiums from contributing companies.  The Combined Fund sought additional funding relief from Congress 
in 2000.  Under the sponsorship of Senators Byrd and Rockefeller of West Virginia, the House and Senate 
approved, as a part of the Interior and Related Agencies Appropriations Bill, a transfer of accumulated interest 
in the Abandoned Mine Land Reclamation Fund (“AML”) to the Combined Fund.  In its report, the conference 
committee noted that this was a short-term solution and urged that the Congressional committees with 
jurisdiction over the matter work with the concerned parties to insure the long-term solvency of the Combined 
Fund.  The conference committee went on to admonish the parties not to ask for additional funding from AML 
in the future.  This funding was in addition to the annual transfer from the AML Funds and does not prevent 
the Combined Fund from continuing to operate at a deficit. 
 
Prior to leaving office, President Clinton signed a grant authorizing the grant of $130 million to the UMWA 
Benefit Funds by the Department of Health and Human Services  (“HHS”) to create and implement a 
prescription drug pilot program, which was premised on managing drug therapy and delivery of health care 
services to reduce hospitalizations for the elderly.  The theory supporting the grant was that the elderly either 
forget to take prescription medications or because the cost of prescription medications is prohibitive 
intentionally hoard or ration their medications.  The program intended to create a “network” or quasi-buddy 
system where regular contacts and calls would be made to ask if medication had been taken or meals eaten.  
In addition to establishing the networking or monitoring system, the grant funds were to also help underwrite 
the costs of prescription medicines.  By alleviating some of the cost concerns, the reminders provided by the 
network system improve the regularity that prescription medications are taken and improve overall health, 
thereby reducing hospitalizations.  As structured, the HHS grant provides an additional $35 million per year for 
the Combined Fund’s use specifically directed at affecting prescription drug costs.  The pilot program was 
established in only a few states.  Westmoreland is monitoring the program. 
 
The debate over prescription drug costs for the elderly continues to generate a great deal of interest from both 
political parties, their leaders and in the press around the country.   While health care generally remains one of 
the most discussed matters of public policy, politicians have begun to focus increasingly on the specific 
concern of meeting the pharmaceutical needs of the Medicare-eligible population.  Congress included $40 
billion over five years in its FY 2001 budget to fund some form of prescription drug benefit.  Several bills were 
introduced in both the House and Senate during the 106th Congress.  However, no prescription drug legislation 
passed both houses.  With mid-term elections this fall, both parties promise some form of prescription drug 
legislation.  On January 28, 2002, President Bush announced his intent to spend $190 billion over the next 
decade to overhaul Medicare and provide prescription drug benefits for low-income seniors.  Of the $190 
billion that President Bush wants to spend on Medicare reform, $77 billion is earmarked for prescription drug 
benefits.  Lawmakers from both parties immediately said that the $190 billion was insufficient.  It is expected 
that other versions of a prescription drug benefit will be introduced in this session of Congress and both the 
amount of spending and population that will benefit will be vigorously debated. 

A Medicare prescription drug benefit that covers Medicare-eligible beneficiaries covered by the Coal Act could 
address one of the Company’s largest costs.  Westmoreland currently pays over $19 million per year on 
retirees’ health care costs and over 50% of that is for prescription drugs.  There is no assurance at this time 
what, if any, proposal will be enacted into law or what effect that it may have on the Company’s obligation. 
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The Company is monitoring energy deregulation and other industry trends.  At both the national and state 
level, there is an ongoing debate about removing regulatory constraints and allowing competition and market 
forces to determine the price of electricity.  Several states have already passed legislation either permitting 
immediate wholesale and/or retail competition or providing a mechanism for transitioning to a competitive 
marketplace.  At this time, the promulgation of state legislation is not expected to have any immediate impact 
on existing long-term power purchase agreements.  Several proposed bills, calling for deregulation of the 
traditional utility monopolies, are pending in the U.S. Congress.  When, or if, some form of national 
deregulation legislation will be enacted cannot be predicted. Impacts of Enron’s collapse and the California 
energy crisis on the deregulation debate are also uncertain.  However, it is likely that deregulation issues will 
be more critically analyzed and the process is likely to slow down.   
 
In addition to deregulation, current industry trends include increased demand for new generating capacity and 
addressing problems with existing transmission capacity, the need for stabilizing fuel and electricity costs, and 
pressure to reduce harmful emissions into the environment.  The Company's experience in developing new 
generating capacity and its current coal production capability may enable the Company to take advantage of 
these trends.  However, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully capitalize on, or 
that any profitable opportunities will arise, as a result of these trends. 
 
In previous years, WRI expended approximately $4,100,000 to repair the dragline at WRI.  All of these 
expenditures substantially increased the productive life of the dragline and therefore, were capitalized.  The 
Company believes that, under the terms of WRI’s agreements with Washington Group, Washington Group is 
responsible for all dragline repairs.  WRI expended these amounts to assure continued, uninterrupted 
production at WRI, and has demanded reimbursement from Washington Group for the full cost of the repair. 
Washington Group has reimbursed WRI for approximately $530,000 of these costs.  On March 7, 2000, WRI 
commenced litigation against Washington Group in the United States District Court for the District of Montana 
seeking, among other things, payment by Washington Group of approximately $3.6 million of dragline repair 
costs paid or expected to be paid by WRI, plus accrued interest.  The Company has not recorded any 
amounts that may be recoverable from Washington Group in its Consolidated Financial Statements.  On 
March 2, 2001, Washington Group announced that it was facing a severe near-term liquidity problem due to a 
delay in resolving purchase price adjustments in connection with an acquisition and in May 2001, Washington 
Group sought protection in the bankruptcy court in Reno, Nevada.  WRI filed claims against Washington 
Group  to recover the cost of repairing the dragline tub, for overcharges on mining costs, potential royalty 
underpayment as alleged by the Minerals Management Service in a recent demand letter and seeking 
adequate assurances that Washington Group will perform its contractual obligations regarding reclamation.  In 
addition, WRI objected to the assumption of existing contract mining agreements between WRI and 
Washington Group.  While Washington Group’s plan of reorganization has been approved, WRI’s issues 
remain unresolved and pending in the bankruptcy court, except for the tub litigation discussed in Item 3 – 
Legal Proceedings.  It is expected that these issues will be resolved this year; however, the Company cannot 
currently determine what impact, if any, the reorganization may have on its operations or this litigation. 
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As discussed in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company has certain contract 
contingencies, which may impact future sales, prices received and cost of operations.  These include: 
 

• WRI’s dispute with WGI regarding both past and current pricing for contract mining services.   
• Replacement or extension of the current coal supply agreement with WRI’s largest customer which 

expires at the end of 2002 and another customer’s request to explore acceleration of a contract 
reopener provision from 2003 into 2002. 

• Determination of supply and pricing at LEGS, which uses lignite from the Jewett mine. 
• A price reopener in July 2002 under WECO’s Coal Supply Agreement with Colstrip units 1 and 2. 

 
In addition, there are other issues regarding royalty payments, labor negotiations and reclamation obligations, 
which may affect the Company but their impact is not known at this time. 
 
DTA is being utilized at less than capacity and is incurring operating losses due to the continued softness of 
the export market for U.S. coal.  Alternatives for this facility and steps to lower operating losses are being 
pursued. 
 
The Company has a 4.49% interest in the Ft. Lupton power project.  No distributions have been received from 
that project since 1999 due to a decision by the major partners or because of debt covenants.  Steps are 
being taken to determine whether the distributions from that project can resume. 
 
The availability of the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards, (“NOLs”), which the Company hopes to 
fully utilize through its growth strategy, is governed by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 
(“Code”).  The Code limits the utilization of a corporation’s NOLs if an “ownership change” within the meaning 
of the Code (an “Ownership Change”) occurs with respect to that corporation.  In general, an Ownership 
Change occurs if, among other things, “5-Percent shareholders” within the meaning of the Code (“5-Percent 
Shareholders”) increase their percentage ownership of the corporation’s stock by more than 50 percentage 
points over any three-year period.  A 5-Percent Shareholder is any person who owns 5 percent or more of the 
value of the corporation’s stock, and the value of the corporation’s stock is the sum of the market values of all 
of the corporation’s outstanding shares.  The Company continues to monitor the ongoing status of ownership 
changes by 5-Percent Shareholders and cautions its current shareholders and potential investors that the 
creation of new 5-Percent Shareholders or trading by existing 5-Percent Shareholders could negatively impact 
the calculation of the Ownership Change.  The Company believes that, based on public information currently 
on file, there has not been an Ownership Change, but that the percentage of change is approximately 38% as 
of December 31, 2001.  If the percentage of change begins to approach the 50% limitation, then the Company 
may ask existing and potential shareholders for their assistance in minimizing the change.  If the change 
exceeds the 50% limitation, the Company may be unable to use a portion of its NOLs. 
 
Future Growth 
 
In light of the impact on the Company of post-retirement health benefit costs under the Coal Act, constraints 
upon the payment of dividends imposed by Delaware law and the restrictive covenants of the Master 
Agreement, management concluded that the execution of a growth strategy was vital to the Company’s 
continued ability to operate, pay accumulated dividends on the Preferred Stock, resume and sustain dividend 
payments in the future, and create value for shareholders. 
 
Following the dismissal of its bankruptcy case, the Company undertook an extensive review, analysis and 
development of its strategic plan for growth as discussed above.  Among the issues the Company considered 
in the course of its strategic planning were: 
 

• The market for energy in the United States, including forecasts under various economic 
assumptions about levels of demand for different sources of power, forecasts about levels of 
supply for different sources of power, and forecasts as to cost and price data. 

• The continuing impact of de-regulation on the energy market. 
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• The continuing impact of laws and regulations designed to protect the environment on the supply 
of and demand for power produced from different sources, and the opportunities that presently 
exist and that may arise to balance the country’s desire for affordable energy and a clean 
environment. 

• The business opportunities that existed and that the Company believed would arise in the energy 
sector.   

• The availability of approximately $200 million (at the beginning of 2001) of net operating loss 
carryforwards (“NOLs”), to shield the Company’s future profits from federal income taxation and 
thereby increase the return the Company receives from profitable investments (as compared with 
the return a tax paying entity that cannot shield its income from federal income tax would receive). 

• Alternatives to optimize the value of the Company’s existing assets, including sales of assets, if 
the price is favorable to the Company, recognizing that the Company’s asset base delivers tax-
shielded cash flow to the Company and are burdened by the Coal Act, both of which tend to make 
such assets more valuable to the Company than to potential tax-paying buyers. 

• Potential sources of additional cash that might become available to the Company, including the 
possible reimbursement of the Company’s expenditures to repair the dragline at WRI and the 
other potential sources described in the “Liquidity Outlook” section of Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

• The financial effect of possible legislative developments, such as a prescription drug program, 
that could substantially reduce the Company’s obligations under the Coal Act since over 50% of 
the Company’s post-retirement medical costs are for retiree prescription drug benefits. 

• The importance of properly prioritizing and sequencing the Company’s efforts, and maximizing 
use of available cash to meet all strategic business objectives, including the tax-advantaged 
expansion of the Company through acquisitions, and the ability to pay accumulated and future 
stock dividends. 

The Company’s strategic plan adopted focuses on expanding the Company’s existing core operations and 
acquiring profitable businesses in the energy sector where America’s dual goals of low cost power and a clean 
environment can be effectively addressed.  The Company seeks to do this in niche markets that will minimize 
exposure to competition, maximize stability of long-term cash flows and provide opportunities for synergistic 
operation of existing assets and new opportunities in the energy sector.  
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Results of Operations 
2001 Compared to 2000 
 
Coal Operations. The following table shows comparative coal revenues, sales volumes, cost of sales and 
percentage changes between the periods: 
 
 

  Year Ended  
  2001(a) 2000 Change 
     
Revenues – thousands  $       231,048 $       35,137 558% 
     
Volumes – millions of equivalent coal 
tons 

      20.503      4.910 318% 

     
Cost of sales – thousands  $       177,304 $       30,250 486% 
     

 
(a) Includes only eight months of operations from acquisitions discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements. 
 
The dramatic increase of mining coal revenues to $231,048,000 in 2001 from $35,137,000 in 2000 is the 
result of adding eight months revenues from the acquisitions as well as approximately 1.0 million more tons 
from the Company’s existing mine.  Of the 20.5 million equivalent tons sold during 2001, over 99% was sold 
under long-term contracts, primarily to owners of power plants located adjacent to the mines.  Equivalent tons 
sold include petroleum coke sales which are expected to continue through June 2002 at which time the 
Reliant plant at the Jewett Mine will not commit to continued purchases.  The newly acquired mines average a 
higher price per ton and better margins than the Absaloka Mine, which continued its operations.  As a result, 
costs as a percentage of revenues decreased to 77% in 2001 compared to 86% in 2000. 
 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization increased to $9,165,000 in 2001 compared to $1,972,000 in 2000 as 
a result of the acquisitions and the large increase in capital assets. 
 
Independent Power. Equity in earnings from the independent power projects was $15,871,000 in 2001 
compared to $32,260,000 in 2000.  The decrease in 2001 reflects the loss of earnings associated with the sale 
of the Virginia projects in March 2001, and an increased realization of $8 million in December 2000 as a result 
of settlement of past underpayments at ROVA.  The decrease in 2001 was partially offset by improved results 
from ROVA in 2001 due in part to the restructured power purchase agreement  which also came out of the 
litigation settlement.  During 2001 and 2000, the ROVA projects produced 1,817,000 and 1,800,000 megawatt 
hours, respectively, and achieved average capacity factors of 90% and 89%, respectively. 
 
Terminal Operations. The Company’s share of losses from DTA was $1,922,000 in 2001 compared to 
$1,800,000 in 2000.  DTA is dependent upon its customers’ coal export business to maintain an acceptable 
level of throughput.  The continued loss is due to a continued weakness in the export market.  The coal export 
business has experienced a significant decline due to intense competitive pressure from coal suppliers in 
other nations.  The Company does not believe that those competitive pressures will abate in the near term.  
 
Costs and Expenses. Selling and administrative expenses were $23,340,000 for 2001 compared to 
$7,786,000 for 2000. The increase includes $11,499,000 incurred during eight months by the Company’s four 
mines acquired in 2001.  The increase is also due to $2,668,000 of non-cash compensation expense in 2001 
for the 2000 management long-term performance units compared to $824,000 expense in fiscal year 2000 
and due to $507,000 non-cash expense for the 2001 management long-term performance units which are tied 
to performance of the Company’s stock, the price of which increased dramatically during 2001.  Other 
increases in 2001 are due to annual salary increases, bonuses and the addition of employees and related 
relocation expenses associated with the Company’s growth.  Fiscal 2001 benefited from a reduction of 
approximately $500,000 in the estimated liability for reclamation at the Bullitt Refuse Area. 
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During 2001, the Company recorded a $123,000 loss on the sale of WEI’s remaining interest in the Ft. Drum 
independent power project and a $317,000 loss related to the sale of WEI’s interests in the three Virginia 
independent power projects.  The recognition of the Virginia loss, as well as an impairment charge recognized 
in the fourth quarter of 2000, was necessary because the service lives originally adopted for depreciation 
purposes for these projects were greater than the cash flow streams provided under the existing term of the 
power supply agreements for the facilities.  The proceeds from the sale of the Virginia projects totaling 
$24,903,000, including $8,949,000 from operating earnings distributed by the projects at the time of the sale, 
were used to fund a portion of the acquisitions completed during the second quarter of 2001. 
 
Heritage health benefit costs increased to $23,773,000 in 2001 compared to $21,503,000 in 2000 primarily as 
a result of increased costs for postretirement medical plans and payments to the Combined Benefit Fund.  In 
addition, a lower pneumoconiosis benefit was recognized in 2001 than in 2000. 
 
Interest expense was $8,418,000 and $911,000 for 2001 and 2000, respectively.  The increase was mainly 
due to the acquisition financing. Interest income increased during 2001 despite declining rates due to the 
larger deposit accounts acquired in the acquisitions. 
 
As a result of the recent acquisitions, the Company recognized a $55.6 million deferred income tax asset 
which assumes that at least a portion of previously unrecognized net operating loss carryforwards will be 
utilized because of the projected generation of future taxable income.  The asset increased to $57,061,000 as 
of December 31, 2001 and is comprised of both a current and long-term portion.  When taxable income is 
generated, the deferred tax asset relating to the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards is reduced and a 
deferred tax expense (non-cash) is recognized although no regular Federal income taxes are paid.  Income 
tax expense for 2001 represents a current income tax obligation for State income taxes, the utilization of a 
portion of the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards and the impact of changes in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities.  The Federal Alternative Minimum Tax regulations were recently changed to allow 100% 
utilization of net operating loss carryforwards in 2001 and 2002 thereby eliminating the Company’s current 
Federal income tax expense.  In 2001, an income tax benefit to the Company of $989,000 resulting from stock 
option exercises was added to other paid-in capital. The income tax benefit of $437,000 in 2000 was primarily 
the result of percentage depletion. 
 
Other Comprehensive Loss. The other comprehensive loss of $1,703,000 (net of income taxes of $1,135,000) 
recognized in 2001 represents the unrealized loss on an interest rate swap agreement on the ROVA debt 
caused by decreases in market interest rates during the period.  If market interest rates continue to decrease 
prior to repayment of the debt, additional comprehensive losses will be recognized.  Conversely, increases in 
market interest rates would result in comprehensive gains. 
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Results of Operations
2000 Compared to 1999

Coal Operations.  The following table shows comparative coal revenues, sales volumes, cost of sales and
percentage changes between the periods:

Year Ended
2000 1999 Change

Revenues – thousands $       35,137 $          38,539  (9)%

Volumes – millions of tons          4.910              5.466 (10)%

Cost of sales – thousands $       30,250 $          33,637 (10)%

The reduction in revenues in 2000 was due to a decrease in tons sold in 2000 compared to 1999 that
resulted from the expiration of the Company’s contract with Otter Tail Power supplied by the Absaloka
Mine.  In 1999, the Company shipped 1,496,000 tons to Otter Tail.  Partially offsetting the decrease in
shipments to Otter Tail Power, the Company’s remaining customers purchased approximately 940,000
more tons in 2000 than in 1999.  Prices received were comparable in the two years.  Costs as a
percentage of revenues decreased to 86% in 2000 from 87% in 1999.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization increased to $1,972,000 in 2000 compared to $1,571,000 in
1999 due to capital expenditures made in recent years.

Independent Power.  Equity in earnings of independent power operations in 2000 was $32,260,000
compared to $34,492,000 in 1999.  The change is composed of an increase in earnings due to the
$14,900,000 settlement of the ROVA litigation offset by the impact of the sale of the Rensselaer project
in 1999.  In 2000, in anticipation of the sale of the Virginia Projects in 2001, the Company recognized a
$4,632,000 impairment charge relating to those investments.

Terminal Operations.  Share of losses from DTA was $1,800,000 in 2000 compared to $1,464,000 in
1999.  The increase is due to a decrease in throughput as a result of a continued decline in export coal
sales from the U.S.   DTA is dependent upon its customers’ coal export business to maintain an
acceptable level of throughput.  The coal export business has experienced a significant decline due to
intense competitive pressure from coal suppliers in other nations.  At this time the Company does not
believe that those competitive pressures will abate in the near term.

Costs and Expenses.  Selling and administrative expenses were $7,786,000 compared to $9,660,000 in
1999.  During 1999 approximately $2,600,000 was paid to employees for bonuses covering several
previous years.  In 2000, the Company adopted a long-term performance unit compensation plan tied to
increases in the Company’s common stock price which resulted in additional compensation expense of
$824,000.  The Company also incurred development expenses of $276,000 in 2000.  The majority of
other selling and administrative expenses decreased in 2000 compared to 1999 due to management’s
cost control measures.

Heritage health benefit costs were $21,503,000 in 2000 compared to $18,737,000 in 1999, reflecting
increased costs for the postretirement medical plans, as well as an increase in payments made to the
Combined Fund.

Loss on dispositions of assets was $6,000 for 2000.  Gain on sales of assets was $433,000 for 1999
which related to sales of assets from the idled Virginia Division.
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Variance Analysis
2001 Fourth Quarter to 2001 Third Quarter

Although not required, the following information provides a basis for comparative evaluation of
performance, by segment, between the fourth and third quarters of 2001.  This information is being
provided in this filing in an effort to help investors follow the Company’s progress until more meaningful
comparative information on a year-to-year basis is available.

Coal
Quarter
ended

Quarter
ended

12/31/2001 9/30/2001
(in thousands)

Revenues – coal $       82,883
 $

85,957

Costs and expenses:   
   Cost of sales – coal 66,514 63,528
   Depreciation, depletion   
     and amortization 2,351 3,396
   Selling and administrative

and other 5,038 4,549
73,903 71,473

Operating income  $       8,980  
 $

14,484
        

Most of the decrease during the fourth quarter in revenues is due to a decrease in tons sold from
7.5 to 6.9 million tons.  This was due to planned outages for maintenance at LEGS at the Jewett
Mine.  Cost of sales increased primarily due to increased overburden removal activities at the
Rosebud Mine as stripping ratios increased.  This cost trend is not expected to continue as a
permit was obtained in December which allowed operations to move to a new area with a more
favorable stripping ratio.

Independent Power Terminal Operations
Quarter
ended

Quarter
ended

Quarter
ended

Quarter
ended

12/31/2001 9/30/2001 12/31/2001 9/30/2001
(in thousands) (in thousands)

Revenues -     
   equity in earnings

      (share of losses) $         3,136
 $
4,470

 $
(590)

 $
(540)

Costs and expenses:     

   Depreciation, depletion     
      and amortization 2 2 - -
   Selling and administrative 104 70 26 12
   Gain on sale of assets and
       Other (352) - - -

(246) 72 26 12

Operating income (loss)
 $
3,382  

 $
4,398

 $
(616)  

 $
(552)

Independent Power:     The third quarter benefited from higher utilization compared to the
fourth quarter which had a scheduled outage at the ROVA I plant.

Terminal Operations: Terminal operations losses increased due to lower throughput volumes
and higher maintenance costs.
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Corporate
Quarter
ended

Quarter
ended

12/31/2001 9/30/2001
(in thousands)

Revenues  $                 -
 $
-

  
Costs and expenses:   

     Depreciation,  depletion
      and amortization                   7                6
   Selling and administrative            1,841         1,961

  Heritage health benefit
costs            7,086         5,269

   Pension benefit                (45)              (55)
   Gain on sale of assets and
      Other                  -                (3)

           8,889          7,178
  

Operating loss
 $
(8,889)  

 $
(7,178)

Selling and administrative costs decreased in the fourth quarter primarily due to lower
compensation costs.  The decrease was partially offset by a net non-cash expense of $793,000
relating to the continued vesting of additional portions of the 2000 and 2001 management long-
term performance units compared to a $4,000 non-cash expense related to these plans
recognized during the third quarter.

Heritage health benefit costs increased in the fourth quarter compared to the third quarter
primarily as a result of unfavorable actuarial valuation adjustments to the post-retirement liability
due to increasing medical costs and pneumoconiosis benefit obligations.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations,
and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and approved for issuance SFAS No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Allocations. SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of
accounting be used for all business combinations initiated or completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No.
141 also specifies criteria that intangible assets acquired in a purchase method business combination
must meet to be recognized and reported apart from goodwill.

SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill no longer be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least
annually. Any goodwill and any intangible asset determined to have an indefinite useful life that are
acquired in a purchase business combination completed after June 30, 2001 will not be amortized, but
will be evaluated for impairment in accordance with the appropriate existing accounting literature.

SFAS No. 143 requires entities to record the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in
the period in which it is incurred and a corresponding increase in the carrying amount of the related long-
lived asset and is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002.
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In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001.  SFAS No. 144 establishes one 
accounting model to be used for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and broadens the presentation of 
discontinued operations to include more disposal transactions. 
 
The adoption of SFAS 141 and SFAS 142 will not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements.  Management is currently assessing the impact, if any, of SFAS 143 and SFAS 144 on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements for future periods. 
 
ITEM 7A – QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 
The Company is exposed to market risk, including the effects of changes in commodity prices as discussed 
below. 
 
Commodity Price Risk 
 
The Company, through its subsidiaries WRI and WML, produces and sells coal to third parties from coal 
mining operations in Montana, Texas and North Dakota and through its subsidiary, WEI, produces and sells 
electricity and steam to third parties from its independent power projects located in North Carolina and 
Colorado.  Nearly all of the Company’s coal production and all of its electricity and steam production is sold 
through long-term contracts with customers.  These long-term contracts serve to minimize the Company’s 
exposure to changes in commodity prices.  The Company has not  entered  into  derivative  contracts  to 
manage its exposure  to  changes  in  commodity  prices,  and was not a  party  to any  such contracts at 
December 31, 2001. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to interest rate risk on its debt obligations.  Long-term debt 
obligations have both fixed and variable interest rates, and the Company’s revolving line of credit has a 
variable rate of interest indexed to either the prime rate or LIBOR.  Interest rates on these instruments 
approximate current market rates as of December 31, 2001.  Based on the balances outstanding as of 
December 31, 2001, a one percent change in the prime interest rate or LIBOR would increase interest 
expense by $200,000 on an annual basis.  The Company’s heritage health benefit costs are also impacted by 
interest rate changes because its pension, pneumoconiosis and post-retirement medical benefit obligations 
are recorded on a discounted basis. 
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Westmoreland Coal Company and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
 
 
December 31, 2001  2000 
              (in thousands) 
Assets    
Current assets:    
   Cash and cash equivalents $         5,233  $     14,193 
   Receivables:    
       Trade 34,381  3,105 
       Other 3,075  565 
 37,456  3,670 

 
   Inventories 13,748  - 
   Restricted cash 14,371  - 
   Deferred income taxes 15,859  - 
   Other current assets 5,941  1,086 
       Total current assets 92,608  18,949 
    
Property, plant and equipment:    
       Land and mineral rights 53,564  10,564 
       Plant and equipment 194,529  65,709 
 248,093  76,273 
       Less accumulated depreciation and depletion 50,822  41,580 
  Net property, plant and equipment 197,271  34,693 
    
Deferred income taxes 41,202  - 
Investment in independent power projects 28,707  49,419 
Investment in Dominion Terminal Associates (DTA) 3,975  4,327 
Prepaid pension cost 4,783  4,118 
Excess of trust assets over pneumoconiosis benefit  
  obligation 

 
6,985 

  
6,807 

Security deposits and bond collateral 4,052  19,217 
Advance coal royalties 6,570  - 
Reclamation deposits 47,924  - 
Reclamation receivables 10,360  - 
Other assets 22,095  1,566 
    
       Total Assets $     466,532  $   139,096 

 
 
See accompanying Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

(Continued) 
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Westmoreland Coal Company and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued) 
 

December 31, 2001  2000 
 (in thousands 

except share data) 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity    
Current liabilities:    
   Current installments of long-term debt $      13,753  $        - 
   Accounts payable and accrued expenses:    
     Trade 24,168  2,357 
     Income taxes 57  - 
     Production taxes 17,544  3,170 
     Workers’ compensation 2,900  3,100 
     Postretirement medical costs 13,966  10,500 
     1974 UMWA Pension Plan obligations 1,374  1,279 
     Reclamation costs 7,500  100 
   Total current liabilities 81,262  20,506 
        
Long-term debt, less current installments 109,157  - 
Accrual for workers’ compensation, less current portion 10,141  12,236 
Accrual for postretirement medical costs, less current    
   portion 

 
97,127 

  
82,968 

1974 UMWA Pension Plan obligations, less current  
   portion 

 
8,035 

  
9,409 

Accrual for reclamation costs, less current portion 132,148  2,309 
Other liabilities 13,274  3,003 
    
Minority interest 4,973  5,292 
    
Commitments and contingent liabilities    
    
Shareholders' equity     
   Preferred stock of $1.00 par value    
     Authorized 5,000,000 shares;    
     Issued and outstanding 208,708 shares  209  209 
   Common stock of $2.50 par value    
     Authorized 20,000,000 shares;    
     Issued and outstanding 7,515,221 shares in 2001 and      

7,069,663 shares in 2000 
 

18,787 
  

17,674 
   Other paid-in capital 69,723  67,318 
   Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,703)        - 
   Accumulated deficit (76,601)  (81,828) 
   Total shareholders' equity 10,415  3,373 
    
   Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity $     466,532  $    139,096 

 
 
See accompanying Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
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Westmoreland Coal Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999
                (in thousands except per share data)

Revenues:
   Coal $        231,048 $         35,137 $            38,539
   Independent power projects - equity in
earnings

15,871 32,260 34,492

   Dominion Terminal Associates (“DTA”) –
share of losses (1,922) (1,800) (1,464)

244,997 65,597 71,567
Cost and expenses:
   Cost of sales – coal 177,304 30,250 33,637
   Depreciation, depletion and amortization 9,165 1,972 1,571
   Selling and administrative 23,340 7,786 9,660
   Heritage health benefit costs 23,773 21,503 18,737
   Pension benefit (211) (585) (149)
   Doubtful accounts recoveries (446) (400) (174)
   Impairment charges - 4,632 -
   Losses (gains) on sales of assets 440 6 (433)

233,365 65,164 62,849

Operating income 11,632 433 8,718

Other income (expense):
   Interest expense (8,418) (911) (1,135)
   Interest income 2,657 1,866 2,052
   Minority interest (780) (518) (854)
   Other income (expense) 572 (999) (226)

(5,969) (562) (163)

Income (loss) before income taxes 5,663 (129) 8,555

Income tax (expense) benefit (436) 437 82

Net income 5,227 308 8,637

Less preferred stock dividend requirements 1,776 1,776 2,992
Net income (loss) applicable to common
  shareholders $            3,451 $         (1,468) $              5,645

Net income (loss) per share applicable to
   common shareholders:
       Basic $                .48 $             (.21) $                  .80
       Diluted $                .43 $             (.21) $                  .79
Weighted average number of common
   shares outstanding - basic 7,239 7,070 7,040
Weighted average number of common
   shares outstanding – diluted 8,000 7,070 7,146

See accompanying Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Westmoreland Coal Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
and Comprehensive Income
Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000, and 2001

Class A
Convertible

Exchangeable
Preferred

Stock
Common

Stock

Other
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Shareholders’

Equity

(in thousands except share data)
Balance at December 31, 1998
(575,000 preferred shares and
6,965,328 common shares
outstanding) $                575 $      17,413 $          94,630 $                     - $       (90,773) $          21,845
    Common stock issued as
       compensation (77,334
       shares) - 193 104 - - 297
    Common stock options
       exercised (25,000 shares) - 63 53 - - 116
    Preferred stock repurchased
       and retired (366,292 shares) (366) - (27,472) - - (27,838)
    Net income - - - - 8,637 8,637
Balance at December 31, 1999
(208,708 preferred shares and
7,067,663 common shares
outstanding)   209 17,669 67,315 - (82,136) 3,057
    Common stock options
       exercised (2,000 shares) - 5 3 - - 8
    Net income - - - - 308 308

Balance at December 31, 2000
(208,708 preferred shares and
7,069,663 common shares
outstanding)  209 17,674 67,318 - (81,828) 3,373
    Common stock issued as
       compensation (74,108
        shares) - 185 865 - - 1,050
    Common stock options
       exercised (371,450 shares) - 928 551 - - 1,479
    Tax benefit of stock option

exercises - - 989 - - 989

    Net income - - - - 5,227 5,227
    Net unrealized change in

interest rate swap agreement,
net of tax benefit of $1,135 - - - (1,703) -            (1,703)

    Comprehensive income 3,524
Balance at December 31, 2001
(208,708 preferred shares and
7,515,221 common shares
outstanding) $               209 $      18,787 $          69,723 $           (1,703) $       (76,601) $          10,415

See accompanying Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Westmoreland Coal Company and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 
 

Years Ended December 31,  2001 2000 1999 
                  (in thousands) 
Cash flows from operating activities:    
Net income $    5,227 $     308 $     8,637 
    Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
    provided by (used in) operating activities: 

   

        Equity in earnings of independent power projects (15,871) (32,260) (34,492) 
        Cash distributions from independent power projects 18,426 23,434 51,653 
        Share of  losses of DTA 1,922 1,800 1,464 
        Cash generated by DTA 257 168 942 
        Cash contributions to DTA (1,827) (1,623) (1,603) 
        Deferred income tax benefit (472) - - 
        Depreciation, depletion and amortization 9,165 1,972 1,571 
        Stock compensation expense 1,050 - 297 
        Impairment charges - 4,632 - 
        Losses (gains) on sales of assets 440 6 (433) 
        Distributions from pneumoconiosis trust - 6,397 - 
        Minority interest 780 518 854 
        Other  (154) 147 
        Changes in assets and liabilities:     
                Receivables, net (5,429) (893) 2,519 
                Prepaid pension cost 391 (221) (149) 
                Excess of trust assets over pneumoconiosis  
                    benefit obligation 

 
(178) 

 
(1,552) 

 
(761) 

                Accounts payable and accrued expenses 13,049 (1,700) (4,337) 
                Income taxes payable 57 315 (2,185) 
                Accrual for workers’ compensation (2,295) (2,936) (2,266) 
                Accrual for postretirement medical costs 4,728 4,695 4,564 
                1974 UMWA Pension Plan (1,279) (1,191) (1,897) 
                Consent judgment payment obligation - - (39,006) 
                Other assets and liabilities 294 845 (300) 
  Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities before  
    reorganization items 

 
28,435 

 
2,560 

 
(14,781) 

Changes in reorganization items-    
  Reorganization expenses paid - (400) (7,500) 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 28,435 2,160 (22,281) 
    
   (Continued) 
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Westmoreland Coal Company and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) 
 
 

Years Ended December 31,  2001 2000 1999 
                  (in thousands) 
Cash flows from investing activities:    
  Additions to property, plant and equipment (5,433) (647) (2,069) 
  Cash paid for acquisitions (162,700) - - 
  Reimbursement from mine operator - 530 - 
  Change in security deposits and bond collateral 15,165 (4,321) (11,356) 
  Change in restricted cash (14,371) - - 
  Net proceeds from sales of investments and assets 16,014 4 726 
 Net cash used in investing activities (151,325) (4,434) (12,699) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities:    
  Proceeds from long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs 114,604 - - 
  Repayment of long-term debt (12,053) (1,563) (199) 
  Net borrowings under revolving lines of credit 11,000 - - 
  Dividends paid to minority shareholders of subsidiary (1,100) (2,100) (1,000) 
  Exercise of stock options 1,479 8 66 
  Repurchase of preferred stock - - (27,838) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 113,930 (3,655) (28,971) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (8,960) (5,929) (63,951) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 14,193 20,122 84,073 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $       5,233   $    14,193 $    20,122 

    
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:    
    
Cash paid during the year for:    
    Interest $       8,340 $      1,000 $      6,076 
    Income taxes 1,209 2 1,606 

 
See accompanying Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
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Westmoreland Coal Company and Subsidiaries 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Consolidation Policy 
 
The consolidated financial statements of Westmoreland Coal Company (the “Company”) include the 
accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries, after elimination of intercompany balances 
and transactions.  The Company uses the equity method of accounting for companies where its 
ownership is between 20% and 50% and for partnerships and joint ventures in which less than a 
controlling interest is held. 
 
The Company has a 20% interest in Dominion Terminal Associates (“DTA”), a partnership formed for the 
construction and operation of a coal-storage and vessel-loading facility in Newport News, Virginia.  DTA’s 
annual throughput capacity is 22 million tons, and its ground storage capacity is 1.7 million tons.  Each 
partner is responsible for its share of throughput and expenses at the terminal.  The Company actively 
markets its 20% share of the terminal’s facilities.  Accordingly, the Company’s share of losses from DTA 
represents the revenue received from WTC’s customer’s net of the Company’s share of the expenses 
incurred attributable to the terminal’s coal-storage and vessel loading operations.  The Company currently 
leases the terminal’s ground storage space and vessel-loading facilities to certain unaffiliated parties who 
are engaged in the export business and provides related support services. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
 
The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with original maturities of three 
months or less to be cash equivalents.  All such instruments are carried at cost, which approximates 
market.  Cash equivalents consist of Eurodollar time deposits, money market funds and bank repurchase 
agreements. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories, which include materials and supplies as well as raw coal, are stated at the lower of cost or 
market.  Cost is determined using the average cost method. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost and include expenditures for new facilities and those 
expenditures that substantially increase the productive lives of existing plant and equipment. Maintenance 
and repair costs are expensed as incurred.  Mineral rights and development costs are depleted based 
upon estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves.  Plant and equipment are depreciated on a 
unit of production or straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives, ranging from 3 to 40 years.  
The Company assesses the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  
Recoverability is measured by comparing estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated 
from such assets with their net book value.  If net book value exceeds estimated cash flows, the asset is 
written down to fair value.  When an asset is retired or sold, its cost and related accumulated depreciation 
and depletion are removed from the accounts.  The difference between the net book value of the asset 
and proceeds on disposition is recorded as a gain or loss.  Fully depreciated plant and equipment still in 
use are not eliminated from the accounts. 
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Advanced Coal Royalties

Royalty payments made to lessors under terms of mineral lease agreements that are recoupable
against future production are deferred.  They are charged to expense as the leased coal reserves
are mined.

Deferred Overburden Removal Costs

The cost of removing overburden in advance of coal extraction, net of amounts reimbursed by
customers, is deferred and charged to expense when the coal is produced.  As of December 31,
2001 and 2000, $5,432,000 and $0, respectively, were recorded for deferred overburden removal
costs and included in other assets.

Workers’ Compensation and Pneumoconiosis Benefit Liabilities

The Company is self-insured for workers’ compensation claims incurred prior to 1996 and federal and
state pneumoconiosis benefits for current and former employees.  Workers’ compensation claims
incurred after January 1, 1996 are covered by a third party insurance provider.

The liability for workers’ compensation claims is an actuarially determined estimate of the ultimate
losses incurred on such claims based on the Company’s experience, and includes a provision for
incurred but not reported losses.  Adjustments to the probable ultimate liability are made continually
based on subsequent developments and experience and are included in operations as incurred.

Reclamation Deposits and Receivables

Certain of the Company’s customers have either agreed to reimburse the Company for reclamation
expenditures as they are incurred or have pre-funded a portion of the expected reclamation costs.
These funds are restricted as to use for final reclamation activities.  The total reclamation deposits of
$47,924,000 at December 31, 2001 consist of $12,021,000 of cash and cash equivalents and
$35,903,000 of Federal agency bonds.  The Company has the intent and ability to hold these
securities to maturity, and, therefore, accounts for them as held-to-maturity securities.  Held-to-
maturity securities are recorded at amortized cost, adjusted for the amortization or accretion of
premiums or discounts calculated on the effective interest method.  Interest income is recognized
when earned.  In addition, the Company has recognized $10,360,000 as a long-term receivable,
which amount will be collected as certain reclamation activities are performed at the Rosebud and
Jewett Mines.

The amortized cost, gross unrealized holding losses and fair value of held-to-maturity securities at
December 31, 2001 are as follows (in thousands):

Amortized cost $   35,903
Gross unrealized holding losses        (515)
Fair Value $   35,388

Maturities of held-to-maturity securities are as follows at December 31, 2001 (in thousands):

Amortized Cost Fair Value
Due in five years or less $  34,094 $  33,619
Due after five years to ten years            1,809       1,769

     $  35,903              $  35,388
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Post Retirement Benefits Other than Pensions

The Company accounts for health care and life insurance benefits provided to certain retired
employees and their dependents by accruing the cost of such benefits over the service lives of
employees.  The Company is amortizing its transition obligation, for past service costs relating to
these benefits, over twenty years.  For UMWA represented union employees who retired prior to
1976, the Company provides similar medical and life insurance benefits by making payments to a
multiemployer union trust fund.  The Company expenses such payments when they become due.

Coal Revenues

The Company recognizes coal sales revenue at the time title passes to the customer in accordance
with the terms of the underlying sales agreements.

Reclamation

Minimum standards for mine reclamation have been established by various regulatory agencies and
dictate the reclamation requirements at the Company’s operations.  Certain reclamation is performed
and expensed on an ongoing basis as mining operations are performed.  The remaining reclamation
costs, along with other costs related to mine closure, are accrued and charged against income on a
units-of-production basis over the life of the mine.  Costs of future expenditures for reclamation and
mine closure are not discounted to their present value.

WRI’s share of reclamation costs are fixed and are being recognized evenly over a 15-year period.
Total expected reclamation costs at idled sites were fully accrued at the time of idling.  Estimates at
idle sites are periodically reviewed and adjustments are made in accruals to provide for changes in
expected future costs.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for deferred income taxes using the asset and liability method.  Deferred tax
liabilities and assets are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have
been reflected in the Company’s financial statements based on the difference between the financial
statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well as operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards, using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which the differences are
expected to reverse.

Comprehensive Income

The Company is party to an interest rate swap agreement on the long-term debt at the Roanoke
Valley I independent power project through a subsidiary which is accounted for under the equity
method of accounting.  In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the Company
has reflected the difference between its 50% share of the fair value of this interest rate swap
agreement and its carrying value as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.  The swap
agreement exchanged variable interest rates on debt for a fixed rate.  Because market interest rates
have declined below those provided for in the swap agreement, the fair value of the swap agreement
has decreased.  The change in current interest rates, net of income tax impacts, is a component of
the Company’s total comprehensive income.  If interest rates remain at their current levels, the
Company will recognize its share of the loss in future periods as a reduction in equity in earnings of
independent power projects.
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Earnings Per Share 
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common 
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted 
earnings per share are determined on the same basis except that the weighted average shares 
outstanding are increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options, if 
dilutive.  The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options were 
exercised and that the proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire shares of common stock at 
the average market price during the reporting period. 
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of the number of shares used to calculate basic and diluted 
earnings per share (EPS): 
 
 2001 2000 1999 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding: (in thousands of shares) 
     Basic  7,239 7,070 7,040 
     Effect of dilutive instruments    761 -    106 
     Diluted  8,000 7,070 7,146 
    
Number of shares not included in dilutive EPS that would 
have been antidilutive because the exercise or conversion 
price was greater than the average market price of the 
common shares. 

 
 
 

113 

 
 
 
- 

 
 
 

1,685 
    

 
 
NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 
In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, 
and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and approved for issuance SFAS No. 143, 
Accounting for Asset Retirement Allocations. SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of 
accounting be used for all business combinations initiated or completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 
141 also specifies criteria that intangible assets acquired in a purchase method business combination 
must meet to be recognized and reported apart from goodwill. 
 
SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill no longer be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least 
annually. Any goodwill and any intangible asset determined to have an indefinite useful life that are 
acquired in a purchase business combination completed after June 30, 2001 will not be amortized, but will 
be evaluated for impairment in accordance with the appropriate existing accounting literature. 
 
SFAS No. 143 requires entities to record the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the 
period in which it is incurred and a corresponding increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived 
asset and is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. 
 
In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001.  SFAS No. 144 establishes 
one accounting model to be used for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale and broadens the 
presentation of discontinued operations to include more disposal transactions. 
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The adoption of SFAS 141 and SFAS 142 will not have an effect on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements.  Management is currently assessing the impact, if any, of SFAS 143 and SFAS 144 on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements for future periods. 
 
Reclassifications 
 
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. 
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Westmoreland Coal Company and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 
 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 
The Company’s current principal activities, all conducted within the United States, are: (i) the production 
and sale of coal from Montana, North Dakota and Texas; (ii) the development, ownership and 
management of interests in cogeneration and other non-regulated independent power plants; and (iii) the 
leasing of capacity at Dominion Terminal Associates, a coal storage and vessel loading facility. 
 
Bankruptcy Proceeding 
 
Westmoreland Coal Company and four subsidiaries, Westmoreland Resources, Inc. (“WRI”), 
Westmoreland Coal Sales Company, Westmoreland Energy, Inc., and Westmoreland Terminal Company 
(“the Debtor Corporations”), filed voluntary petitions for protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy 
Code on December 23, 1996.  On December 23, 1998, the Bankruptcy Court granted the Debtors’ Motion 
to Dismiss the cases. The automatic stay period pursuant to the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure 
expired on January 4, 1999. 
 
Continued financial improvement of the Debtors during the bankruptcy provided the basis for dismissal 
and settlement with the UMWA Health and Benefit Funds (“Funds”), the Company’s principal creditors.  
On October 15, 1998, the Company, the Funds, the United Mine Workers of America (“UMWA”) and the 
Official Committee of Equity Security Holders (“Equity Committee”) reached agreement on the terms of a 
settlement, which provided for, among other things, the resolution of the Chapter 11 cases.  The 
agreement, which facilitated a consensual dismissal of the bankruptcy cases, was announced during 
scheduled hearings on Westmoreland’s Motion to Dismiss and the Equity Committee’s Motion to Convert 
to Chapter 7, and the hearings were subsequently recessed.  The agreement was subsequently 
documented in certain consent judgments and in a Master Agreement among the Company, the Funds, 
the UMWA, and the Equity Committee. The Debtor Corporations filed motions requesting approval of the 
consent judgments on November 18, 1998.  There were no allowable objections and dismissal of the 
Chapter 11 Cases occurred on December 23, 1998.  The Master Agreement was executed on January 
29, 1999. 
 
2. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS 
 
On April 30, 2001 and May 11, 2001, respectively, the Company, through its separate wholly owned 
subsidiary Westmoreland Mining LLC (“WML”), completed the acquisitions of the coal business of The 
Montana Power Company (“Montana Power”) for approximately $136 million, and the coal operations of 
Knife River Corporation (a subsidiary of MDU Resources Group, Inc.) for approximately $27 million.  The 
acquisitions were effective April 30, 2001.  WML is a special purpose Delaware limited liability company 
formed on December 4, 2000 for the purpose of facilitating the financing of these acquisitions and, 
through its subsidiaries, operating the Rosebud, Jewett, Beulah and Savage mines.  The results of 
operations relating to the acquisitions have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements beginning on May 1, 2001. 
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In the Montana Power transaction, WML acquired the stock of Western Energy Company (“WECO”),
which owns and operates the Rosebud Mine located in the northern Powder River Basin near the
town of Colstrip, Montana, and Northwestern Resources Co. (“NWR”), which owns and operates the
Jewett Mine in Central Texas.  In addition, the Company acquired the stock of three entities that
were not engaged in active operations: Basin Resources, Inc.; Horizon Coal Services, Inc.
(“Horizon”); and North Central Energy Company.  In connection with this acquisition, all of the
membership interests in Western Syncoal LLC were transferred to the Company’s subsidiary,
Westmoreland Power, Inc. (“WPI”).  Western Syncoal LLC was previously a wholly owned subsidiary
of Western Energy Company.
The Montana Power transaction is subject to contractual purchase price adjustments.  Montana
Power submitted adjustments which would result in an increase in the purchase price of
approximately $9 million.  The Company has submitted its own adjustments which would result in a
substantial decrease in the original purchase price.  The parties have not been able to agree on
either the amount of the purchase price adjustment or the methodology to calculate the adjustment.
Consequently, the Company initiated an action in the Supreme Court of New York seeking specific
performance of the purchase price adjustment methodology in the Stock Purchase Agreement.  The
Court agreed with the Company and ordered compliance with the purchase price adjustment
methodology in the Stock Purchase Agreement.  Montana Power has appealed the Court’s decision.
A temporary stay was granted pending a hearing before the full Appellate Division of the Supreme
Court of New York.  On March 19, 2002, the Appellate Division denied the stay, pending completion
of Montana Power’s appeal and dissolved the temporary stay.  The Company will press for
completion of the purchase price methodology in the Stock Purchase Agreement.  Management
believes that the outcome will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations or liquidity.

In the Knife River transaction, WML’s subsidiary, Dakota Westmoreland Corporation, acquired all of
the assets associated with the Beulah Mine in Beulah, North Dakota, and WML’s subsidiary, WCCO-
KRC Acquisition Corp., acquired all of the assets associated with the Savage Mine in Savage,
Montana.  In connection with this transaction, WPI acquired certain rights related to the former
Gascoyne mine site in North Dakota.  In December 2001, the Company and Knife River Corporation
agreed to final purchase price adjustments and in January 2002, the Company received
approximately $600,000 from Knife River Corporation.

The acquisitions were funded with $39 million in cash contributed to WML by the Company and
borrowings of $125 million ($120 million term debt and $5 million revolving line of credit) by WML as
described in Note 4.  

The acquisitions were recorded under the purchase method of accounting and, therefore, the
purchase prices have been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on
estimated fair values at the date of acquisition.  These purchase price allocations are subject to
further adjustment based on the final purchase price closing adjustments discussed above.  The
estimated fair values of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and the deferred income tax
asset recognized to reflect the value of a portion of the net operating loss carryforwards the
Company now expects to utilize as a result of future taxable income generated by the acquisitions
are summarized below (in thousands):

Working capital             $
21,122

Property, plant and equipment 166,387
Deferred income tax asset 55,600
Reclamation deposits 46,827
Other assets 31,063
Long-term debt (3,963)
Reclamation obligations (135,844)
Other liabilities (18,492)

Net assets acquired             $     162,700
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The following unaudited consolidated pro forma financial information is presented for the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 in order to provide a basis for comparative evaluation of the
consolidated companies’ performance as if the acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of the
periods presented.  This unaudited pro forma information includes permitted adjustments to give
effect to depreciation of property, plant and equipment, interest expense on acquisition-related
financing, and certain other adjustments, together with related income tax effects.  The unaudited
pro forma information is not meant to be nor should it be relied upon as necessarily indicative of the
results of operations that actually would have occurred had the acquisitions occurred at the
beginning of the periods presented or of future results of the combined operations.

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000

(in thousands except per share data)

Revenues $       335,830 $       323,156

Net income applicable to common
shareholders $           9,963 $         18,684

Net income per share applicable to
common shareholders:

  Basic $             1.38 $             2.64
  Diluted $             1.25 $             2.52

Dispositions

On March 23, 2001, the Company sold its 30% interests in three Virginia independent power projects
(Altavista, Hopewell and Southampton) for aggregate net proceeds of approximately $24,903,000,
including $8,949,000 of operating earnings distributed from the projects at the time of the sale.    A
net loss of $317,000 was recorded by the Company in conjunction with this sale.  The recognition of
the loss, as well as an impairment charge recognized in the fourth quarter of 2000, was necessary
because the service lives originally adopted for depreciation purposes for these projects were greater
than the cash flow streams provided under the power supply agreements for the facilities.  During the
second quarter of 2001, the Company sold its 1.25% interest in the Ft. Drum independent power
project for proceeds of approximately $60,000, resulting in a loss of $123,000.  The proceeds from
the sales were used to fund a portion of the purchase prices of the acquisitions completed during the
second quarter.

On July 27, 1999, the Company sold all remaining book assets of its idled Virginia Division.  The
assets consisted of the Bullitt Preparation Plant and Transloader Complex.  The Company received
approximately $650,000 in cash and the purchaser assumed reclamation liabilities of approximately
$600,000.  The transaction resulted in a net gain of approximately $360,000.  The Company is
negotiating to sell the Virginia Division refuse site to a local mine operator who will continue its active
use.  The site has no recorded asset value, but $797,000 has been accrued for its reclamation.
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3. WESTMORELAND ENERGY, INC. 
 
Westmoreland Energy, Inc., (“WEI”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, holds general and 
limited partner interests in partnerships which were formed to develop and own cogeneration and other 
non-regulated independent power plants.  Equity interests in these partnerships range from 4.49 percent 
to 50 percent.  As of December 31, 2001 WEI held interests in three operating projects as listed and 
described in the Project Summary below.  As discussed in Note 2, the Company sold its interests in four 
independent power projects during 2001.  The lenders to the remaining projects have recourse only 
against these projects and the income and revenues therefrom.  The debt agreements contain various 
restrictive covenants including restrictions on making cash distributions to the partners, with which the 
partnerships are in compliance.  The type of restrictions on making cash distributions to the partners vary 
from one project lender to another.  
 
 

 
Project 

 
Ft. Lupton 

Roanoke 
Valley I 

Roanoke 
Valley II 

Location: Ft. Lupton, 
Colorado 

Weldon, 
North Carolina 

Weldon, 
North Carolina 

Gross Megawatt 
Capacity: 

 
290 MW 

 
180 MW 

 
50 MW 

WEI Equity 
Ownership: 

 
4.49% 

 
50.0% 

 
50.0% 

Electricity 
Purchaser: 

 
Public 

Service of 
Colorado 

 
Dominion 

Virginia Power 

 
Dominion 

Virginia Power 

Steam Host: Rocky Mtn. 
Produce, Ltd 

Patch Rubber 
Company 

Patch Rubber 
Company 

Fuel Type: Natural Gas Coal Coal 

Fuel Supplier: Thermo 
Fuels, Inc. 

TECO Coal/ 
CONSOL 

TECO Coal/ 
CONSOL 

Commercial 
Operation Date: 

 
1994 

 
1994 

 
1995 
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The following is a summary of aggregated financial information for all investments owned by WEI which 
are accounted for under the equity method: 
 

Balance Sheets 
December 31, 

 
2001 

 
2000 

                (in thousands) 
Assets   
   Current assets $      40,458 $    124,388 
   Property, plant and equipment, net   264,484 488,869 
   Other assets 23,832 38,001 
   Total assets $    328,774 $    651,258 
   
Liabilities and equity   
   Current liabilities $     28,213 $     59,027 
   Long-term debt and other liabilities 250,075 388,295 
   Equity 50,486 203,936 
   Total liabilities and equity $   328,774 $   651,258 
   
WEI’s share of equity $     28,707 $     54,723 
Impairment allowance                    - (4,632) 
Other, net                    - (672) 
WEI’s investment in independent power operations $     28,707 $     49,419 

 
Income Statements  

For years ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999 
 (in thousands) 

Revenues $  124,946 $  215,454 $  203,082 
Operating income 72,209 94,059 111,234 
Net income 33,003     69,874     67,035 

WEI’s share of earnings $    15,871 $    32,260 $    34,492 

 
WEI performs project development and venture and asset management services for the partnerships and 
has recognized related revenues of $267,000, $294,000 and $365,000 for the years ended December 31, 
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.  Management fees, net of related costs, are recorded as other income 
when the service is performed. 
 
ROVA I Project - WEI owns a 50% partnership interest in Westmoreland-LG&E Partners (the "ROVA 
Partnership").  The ROVA Partnership’s principal customer, Dominion Virginia Power, contracted to 
purchase the electricity generated by ROVA I, one of two units included in the ROVA Partnership, under a 
long-term contract (the "Power Purchase and Operating Agreement" or “PPOA”).  From May 1994 through 
October 2000, that customer  disputed the ROVA  Partnership's  interpretation  of provisions of the 
contract  dealing  with the  payment  of the  capacity  purchase  price when the facility  experiences  a 
"forced  outage" day. A forced outage day is a day when ROVA I is not able to generate a specified level 
of electrical output. The ROVA Partnership believed that the customer was required to pay the ROVA 
Partnership the full capacity   purchase   price unless forced outage days exceed a contractually stated 
allowed annual number.  The customer asserted that it was not required to do so. 
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During that period, Dominion Virginia Power withheld payments during periods of forced outages.  In 
October 2000, the ROVA partnership and Dominion Virginia Power resolved the issues regarding capacity 
payments during forced outages resulting in a payment to the ROVA partnership for amounts previously 
withheld plus accrued interest.  WEI’s share was $14,900,000.  In addition to settlement of the litigation, 
the ROVA Partnership and Virginia Power negotiated an amendment to the PPOA which clarified the 
provisions of the contract governing capacity payments and provides incentives for the Partnership to 
keep the ROVA unit available and on-line. 
Virginia Projects - On March 23, 2001, the Company sold its 30% interests in three Virginia independent 
power projects.  WEI’s share of earnings from these projects contributed approximately $1,286,000,  
$5,287,000, and $6,851,000 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.  Refer to Note 2 – Acquisitions and 
Dispositions for additional information.  
 
Rensselaer – On March 15, 1999, LG&E-Westmoreland Rensselaer (“LWR”) completed the sale of the 
Rensselaer Project to Fulton Cogeneration Associates, L.P. (“Fulton”).  LWR received approximately 
$68,000,000 in cash as consideration and recognized a gain of approximately $35,200,000 for the sale of 
the Rensselaer plant and operating contracts.  After payment of expenses and remaining debts, 
Westmoreland Energy Inc.’s share of the proceeds was approximately $33,000,000 and it recognized its 
$17,600,000 portion of the gain in equity in earnings.  
 
4. LINES OF CREDIT AND LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The amounts outstanding at December 31, 2001 under the Company’s lines of credit and long-term debt 
consist of the following (in thousands): 
 

WML revolving line of credit $        8,000 
WML term debt 109,000 
Corporate revolving line of credit     3,000 
Other term debt     2,910 
 122,910 
Less current portion (13,753) 
   $    109,157 

 
WML has a $20 million revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) with PNC Bank, National Association, as 
Agent, which expires on April 27, 2004.  The interest rate is either PNC Bank’s Base Rate plus 1.60% or 
Euro-Rate plus 3.10% (5.03% at December 31, 2001), at WML’s option.  In addition, a commitment fee of 
½ of 1% of the average unused portion of the available credit is payable quarterly.  The amount available 
under the Facility is based upon, and any outstanding amounts are secured by, eligible accounts 
receivable.  At December 31, 2001, WML had additional borrowing capacity of approximately $12,000,000 
under the Facility.   
 
WML also borrowed $120 million from a group of institutions using PNC Capital Markets, Inc. as lead 
arranger to fund the acquisitions described in Note 2.  The borrowings consisted of $20 million in variable-
rate Series A Notes and $100 million in fixed-rate Series B Notes.  The Series A Notes bear interest at 
either a prime rate or LIBOR-based rate (5.52% at December 31, 2001) at WML’s option, and require 
quarterly principal repayments from September 2001 to June 2002, when the remaining outstanding 
balance is due.  The Series B Notes bear interest at a rate of 9.39% and require quarterly principal 
repayments from September 2002 to December 2008, when the remaining outstanding balance is due.  
Both the Series A Notes and the Series B Notes require quarterly interest payments and are secured by 
assets of WML. 
 



 

 69

Both the revolving line of credit and the term notes contain various covenants which limit WML or its 
subsidiaries’ ability to merge or consolidate with another entity, dispose of assets, pay dividends, or 
change the nature of business operations.  WML is also required to maintain certain financial ratios as 
defined in the agreements.  Further, pursuant to these agreements any purchase price adjustment from 
the Montana Power transaction which is paid to WML must be used to repay any amounts outstanding 
under the Facility and in certain circumstances fund a debt service reserve account.  As of December 31, 
2001, WML was in compliance with such covenants. 
 
Under the terms of the Series A Notes and Series B Notes, WML is required to maintain a debt service 
reserve account equal to the principal and interest payments and certain fees scheduled to become due 
within the next six months.  WML must fund this account with its operating cash flows, after payment of 
principal, interest, capital expenditures, and certain other amounts.  Based upon projected operating 
results and cash flows, the Company expects that this debt service reserve account will be fully funded in 
March 2002.  After the debt service reserve account is fully funded, if the debt service coverage ratio, as 
defined in the agreements, is greater than or equal to 1.25 to 1, then 25% of any “Surplus Cash Flow” (as 
such term is defined in the agreement for the $120 million term loan) is applied to the prepayment of 
WML’s indebtedness and 75% of any Surplus Cash Flow is available to WML.  WML may distribute such 
Surplus Cash Flow to the Company so long as no Event of Default or Potential Event of Default under the 
term loan agreement exists or is likely to result from the distribution.  Until the debt service reserve 
account is fully funded, WML may not distribute any earnings to the Company; however, for quarters 
ended on or before December 31, 2001, WML was permitted to distribute up to $1,250,000 per quarter to 
the Company.  This $1,250,000 distribution was in addition to the $500,000 management fee that WML 
pays the Company each quarter.  At December 31, 2001, WML had funded a balance of $8,371,000 in 
the debt service reserve account, which could be used for principal and interest payments.  Those funds 
have been classified as restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
WML also assumed outstanding notes payable of the acquired entities totaling $3,963,000 at the 
acquisition date related to the purchase of real property and mineral rights.  These notes generally require 
annual payments through 2009 and bear interest at approximately 6%.  The total amount outstanding 
under these notes as of December 31, 2001 was $2,910,000. 
 
On December 14, 2001, the Company executed an agreement with First Interstate Bank for a two-year $7 
million revolving line of credit.  Interest is payable monthly at the Bank’s prime rate plus 1% (5.75% at 
December 31, 2001).  The Company is required to maintain certain financial ratios.  The credit is 
collateralized by the Company’s stock in WRI, 100% of the common stock of Horizon, and the dragline 
located at WRI’s Absaloka Mine in Big Horn County, Montana.  As of December 31, 2001, the Company 
had additional borrowing capacity of $4 million under this credit facility. 
 
The maturities of all long-term debt and the revolving credit facility outstanding at December 31, 2001 are 
(in thousands):  
 

2002 $               13,753 
2003 11,852 
2004 18,469 
2005 10,469 
2006 11,470 
Thereafter 56,897 
  
 $             122,910 
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5. WORKERS’ COMPENSATION BENEFITS 
 
The Company was self-insured for workers’ compensation benefits prior to and through December 31, 
1995.  Beginning in 1996, the Company purchased third party insurance for new workers’ compensation 
claims.  Based on updated actuarial and claims data, $642,000, $67,000 and $758,000 were charged to 
operations in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.  The cash payments for workers' compensation benefits 
were $2,938,000, $3,003,000 and $3,354,000 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. 
 
The Company was required to obtain surety bonds in connection with its self-insured workers' 
compensation plan.  The Company's surety bond underwriters required collateral for such bonding.  As of 
December 31, 2001 and 2000, $3,301,000 and $3,849,000, respectively, was held in the collateral 
accounts.   
 
6. PNEUMOCONIOSIS (BLACK LUNG) BENEFITS 
 
The Company is self-insured for federal and state pneumoconiosis benefits for current and former 
employees and has established an independent trust to pay these benefits. 
 
The following table sets forth the funded status of the Company’s obligation: 
 

December 31,  2001 2000 
                  (in thousands) 
Actuarial present value of benefit obligation:   
   Expected claims from terminated employees $      4,716 $       5,454 
   Claimants 18,271 18,458 
Total present value of benefit obligation 22,987 23,912 
Plan assets at fair value, primarily government-backed 
   securities 

 
29,972 

 
30,719 

Excess of trust assets over pneumoconiosis benefit  
   obligation 

 
$      6,985 

 
$       6,807 

 
 
The discount rates used in determining the accumulated pneumoconiosis benefit as of December 31, 
2001 and 2000 were 7.25% and 7.50%, respectively.  Benefits paid from plan assets were $5,339,000 in 
2001 and $5,867,000 in 2000. 
 
In February 2000, the Company received $6,397,000 of the surplus from the trust and used the funds to 
pay postretirement medical expenses.   
 
7.  POSTRETIREMENT MEDICAL AND LIFE INSURANCE BENEFITS 
 
Single-Employer Plans 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired 
employees and their dependents either voluntarily or as a result of the Coal Act.  Substantially all of the 
Company's current employees may also become eligible for these benefits if certain age and service 
requirements are met at the time of termination or retirement as specified in the plan agreement.  The 
majority of these benefits are provided through self-insured programs. The Company adopted Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106 – Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other 
than Pensions (SFAS 106) effective January 1, 1993 and elected to amortize its unrecognized, unfunded 
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation over a 20-year period. 
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The following table sets forth the actuarial present value of postretirement medical and life insurance 
benefit obligations and amounts recognized in the Company’s financial statements:  
 

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost are as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999 
        (in thousands) 
Assumptions:    
Discount rate 7.50% 7.50% 7.75% 
    
Components of net periodic benefit cost:    
Service cost $      227 $       51 $       62 
Interest cost 12,327 11,698 11,334 
Amortization of:    
 Transition obligation  4,100 4,100 4,100 
 Actuarial loss 861 501 261 
Total net periodic benefit  cost $ 17,515 $16,350 $15,757 

 

December 31,  2001 2000 
 (in thousands) 
Assumptions:   
Discount rate 7.25% 7.50% 
 
Change in benefit obligation: 

  

Net benefit obligation at beginning of year $   160,441 $   155,819 
Service cost 227 51 
Interest cost 12,327 11,698 
Plan participant contributions 62 69 
Actuarial (gain) loss 32,459 4,528 
Benefit obligation assumed in acquisitions 13,038 - 
Gross benefits paid (12,990) (11,724) 
Net benefit obligation at end of year 205,564 160,441 
   
Change in plan assets:   
Employer contributions 12,928 11,655 
Plan participant contributions 62 69 
Gross benefits paid (12,990) (11,724) 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year - - 
   
Funded status at end of year (205,564) (160,441) 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 49,369 17,771 
Unrecognized net transition obligation  45,102 49,202 
Net amount recognized at end of year  (recorded as 

accrued benefit cost in the accompanying balance 
sheet) 

 
 

$   (111,093) 

 
 

$   (93,468) 
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Of the total net periodic benefit cost of $17,515,000 in 2001, $16,722,000 relates to the Company’s
former eastern mining operations and is included in heritage health benefit costs.  The remainder of
$793,000 relates to current operations and is included in selling and administrative costs.

Sensitivity of retiree
  welfare results (in thousands):

Effect of a one percentage point increase
in assumed ultimate health care cost trend

 - - on total service and interest cost
     components $     1,059
 - - on postretirement benefit obligation $   21,660

Effect of a one percentage point decrease
in
 assumed ultimate health care cost trend

 - - on total service and interest cost
     components $      (897)
 - - on postretirement benefit obligation $ (18,363)

Postretirement benefits include medical benefits for retirees and their spouses (and Medicare Part B
reimbursement for certain retirees) and retiree life insurance.

The health care cost trend assumed on covered charges was 10.0%, 5.5% and 6.0% for 2001, 2000
and 1999, respectively, decreasing to an ultimate trend of 5.0% in 2009 and beyond.  This increase
in the health care cost trend assumption is reflected as an unrecognized actuarial loss in the tables
above and will be recognized as expense over the remaining service lives of the covered employees.

Multiemployer Plan

The Company makes payments to the Combined Benefit Fund (“CBF”), which is a multiemployer
health plan neither controlled nor administered by the Company.  The CBF is designed to pay
benefits to UMWA workers (and dependents) who retired prior to 1976. Prior to February 1993, the
amount paid by the Company was based on hours worked or tons processed (depending on the
source of the coal) in accordance with the national contract with the UMWA.  Beginning February
1993 the Company was required by the Coal Act to make monthly premium payments into the CBF.
These payments were based on the number of beneficiaries assigned to the Company, the
Company's UMWA employees who retired prior to 1976 and the Company’s pro-rata assigned share
of UMWA retirees whose companies are no longer in business.  The net present value of the
Company’s future cash payments is estimated to be approximately $38,711,000 at December 31,
2001. The Company expenses payments to the CBF when they are due.  Payments are generally
made on the due date.

8. RETIREMENT PLANS

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The Company provides defined benefit pension plans for its full-time employees.  Benefits are
generally based on years of service and the employee's average annual compensation for the
highest five continuous years of employment as specified in the plan agreement.  The Company's
funding policy is to contribute annually the minimum amount prescribed, as specified by applicable
regulations. Prior service costs and actuarial gains are amortized over plan participants’ expected
future period of service using the straight-line method.
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Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

Effective January 1, 1992, the Company adopted the Westmoreland Coal Company Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan ("SERP").  The SERP is an unfunded non-qualified deferred
compensation plan which provides benefits to certain employees that are not eligible under the
Company's defined benefit pension plan beyond the maximum limits imposed by the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act ("ERISA") and the Internal Revenue Code.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the plans’ benefit obligations and fair
value of assets for the periods ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the amounts recognized in
the Company's financial statements for both the defined benefit pension and SERP Plans:

Qualified Pension Benefits SERP Benefits
December 31, 2001 2000 2001 2000

(in thousands)
Assumptions:

Discount rate 7.25% 7.50% 7.25% 7.50%
Expected return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% 9.00% 9.00%
Rate of compensation increase 4.50% 5.00% 4.50% 5.00%

Change in benefit obligation:

Net benefit obligation at beginning of year $   1,422 $   1,379 $   1,337 $   1,300
Service cost 1,238 140 52 54
Interest cost 1,551 98 105 93
Actuarial (gain) loss 1,686 (186) 85 (66)
Benefit obligations assumed in acquisitions 27,876 - - -
Gross benefits paid (229) (9) (76) (44)
Net benefit obligation at end of year 33,544 1,422 1,503 1,337

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of
  Year 5,892 5,469 - -
Actual return on plan assets (1,265) 432 - -
Employer contributions - - 76 44
Transfer of assets from plans assumed in

acquisitions 29,195 - - -
Gross benefits paid (229) (9) (76) (44)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 33,593 5,892 - -

Funded status at end of year 49 4,470 (1,503) (1,337)
Unrecognized net actuarial (gain) loss 4,655 (467) (478) (621)
Unrecognized prior service cost 96 138 229 345
Unrecognized net transition asset (17) (23) - -
Net amount recognized at end of year 4,783 4,118 (1,752) (1,613)

Amounts recognized in the  accompanying
balance sheet consist of:

      Prepaid benefit cost 4,783 4,118 - -
      Accrued benefit cost (included in
        other liabilities) - - (1,752)    (1,613)
      Net amount recognized at end of year $   4,783 $   4,118 $   (1,752) $   (1,613)
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The components of net periodic pension cost (benefit) are as follows:

Qualified Pension Benefits SERP Benefits
Year ended December 31, 2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999

(in thousands)
Assumptions:

Discount rate 7.50% 7.50% 7.75% 7.50% 7.50% 7.75%
Expected return on plan
assets

9.00% 9.00% 9.00% N/A N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase 4.50% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Components of net periodic
  benefit cost

Service cost $
1,238

$
141

$
204

$
52

$
54

$
66

Interest cost 1,551 98 105 105 93 99
Expected return on assets (2,275) (492) (493) - - -
Amortization of:
   Transition asset (6) (6) (6) - - -
   Prior service cost 42 42 42 116 116 116
   Actuarial gain - (4) (1) (40) (86) (45)
Total net periodic pension cost
   (benefit) $

550
$

(221)
$

(149)
$

233
$

177
$

236

1974 UMWA Pension Plan

The Company was required under the 1993 Wage Agreement to pay amounts based on hours
worked or tons processed (depending on the source of the coal) in the form of contributions to the
1974 UMWA Pension Plan with respect to UMWA represented employees.  The 1974 UMWA
Pension Plan is neither controlled nor administered by the Company.

Under the Multiemployer Pension Plan Act (“MPPA”), a company contributing to a multiemployer plan
is liable for its share of unfunded vested liabilities upon withdrawal from the plan.  In connection with
the cessation of mining operations, the Company recorded an estimate of the liability the Company
would incur upon withdrawal from the 1974 UMWA Pension plan.  The actuarial estimate of this
obligation was estimated by the 1974 UMWA Pension Plan at $13,800,000 in 1996.  The 1974
UMWA Pension Plan has not provided the Company with an updated actuarial estimate of the
withdrawal liability calculated as of June 30, 1998, the date of the asset valuation the Company
believes should be used to determine the actual withdrawal liability, in accordance with the provisions
of MPPA.  The Company believes the liability at June 30, 1998 would be substantially less than
$13,800,000 and is contesting the withdrawal liability through arbitration.  In accordance with MPAA,
the Company must amortize this withdrawal liability, with interest, during the arbitration process by
making payments of approximately $172,500 per month.  These payments have been made and will
be recoverable to the extent the final assessed amount is less than the amounts paid.  Should the
Company be unsuccessful in the arbitration proceedings, it will be obligated to continue to make
payments through March 2008.  Of the  $13,800,000  recorded in 1996, $9,409,000 remains
outstanding as of December 31, 2001.
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9. CONSENT JUDGMENT AND OTHER DISMISSAL OBLIGATIONS

On January 4, 1999, pursuant to the consent judgments described in Note 1, the Company paid the
Combined Benefit Fund and the 1992 Benefit Plan $17,230,000 and $16,518,000, respectively,
plus interest of $5,258,000 for a total of $39,006,000.  Included in the amount paid to the Combined
Benefit Fund was a prepayment of approximately $1,515,000 for the first quarter of 1999.  The
Master Agreement also required certain other payments to general pre-petition creditors, the
reimbursement of bankruptcy related costs incurred by the Funds and an annual installment to the
1974 UMWA Pension Plan.  These amounts were $5,686,000 (including interest), $4,000,000, and
$1,606,000 (including interest), respectively.  The total amount paid on January 4, 1999, for all
obligations was $50,298,000.

10. INCOME TAXES (BENEFIT)

Income tax expense (benefit) attributable to income (loss) before income taxes consists of:

2001 2000 1999
      (in thousands)

Current:
   Federal $

-
 $  (599) $          -

   State 908    162 (82)
908    (437) (82)

Deferred:
   Federal (120) - -
   State (352) - -

(472) - -

Income tax expense (benefit) $         436 $  (437) $     (82)

Income tax expense (benefit) attributable to income (loss) before income taxes differed from the
amounts computed by applying the statutory Federal income tax rate of 34% to pretax income (loss)
from continuing operations as a result of the following:

2001 2000 1999
   (in thousands)

Computed tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate $      1,925 $       (44) $     2,909
Increase (decrease) in tax expense resulting from:
   Tax depletion in excess of book (2,412) (563) (417)
   State income taxes, net 842 106 -
   Change in valuation
      allowance for net deferred tax assets - 11 (2,951)
   Other, net 81 53 377
   Income tax expense (benefit) $         436 $     (437) $         (82)



76

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2001 and 2000 are presented below:

2001 2000
Deferred tax assets:          (in thousands)

Net operating loss carryforwards  $
62,853

$
68,618

Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 2,608 2,608
Accruals for the following:
   Workers' compensation 5,216 6,135
   Postretirement benefit obligation 39,124 37,387
   Reclamation costs 3,360 668
   1974 UMWA pension plan obligation 3,764 4,275
   Other accruals 2,877 1,039
Total gross deferred assets 119,802 120,730
Less valuation allowance (31,270) (86,870)
Net deferred tax assets 88,532 33,860

Deferred tax liabilities:
Investment in independent power projects $

(13,769)
$

(18,068)
Plant and equipment, differences due to depreciation and
amortization

(13,508) (11,422)

Prepaid pension cost (1,400) (1,647)
Excess of trust assets over pneumoconiosis benefit obligation (2,794) (2,723)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (31,471) (33,860)
Net deferred tax liability $

57,061
$
-

The net deferred tax asset is presented on the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, as
follows (in thousands):

2001 2000
Deferred income tax assets – current $  15,859 $     -
Deferred income tax assets – long-term $  41,202 $     -

$  57,061 $     -

An income tax benefit of $989,000 related to the exercise of stock options during 2001 was added
to other paid-in capital.

Based on estimated taxable income generated during 2001, the Company expects to have used
approximately $15,238,000 of its Federal net operating loss carryforwards.  As of December 31,
2001, a minimum of $181,272,000 of future taxable income will be necessary to enable the
Company to fully utilize the net operating loss carryforwards and realize gross deferred tax assets of
$119,802,000.  As of December 31, 2001, the Company has available Federal net operating loss
carryforwards to reduce future taxable income which expire as follows:

Expiration
Date

Regular
Tax

(in thousands)
2009 $  3,329
2010 52,081
2011 36,479
2012 449
2018 28

after 2018 88,906
Total $  181,272
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The Company has alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards of $2,608,000 which are available
indefinitely to offset future Federal taxes payable.  For Alternative Minimum Tax purposes, the
Company has net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $56,521,000 as of December 31,
2001.  The Federal Alternative Minimum Tax regulations were recently changed to allow 100%
utilization of net operating loss carryforwards in 2001 and 2002.  As of December 31, 2001, the
Company also has available an estimated $16,016,000 and $3,004,000 in net operating loss
carryforwards in Montana and Colorado, respectively, to reduce future taxable income.

11. CAPITAL STOCK

Preferred  stock  dividends at a rate of 8.5% per annum were paid quarterly from the third quarter of
1992 through the first quarter of 1994. The declaration and payment of preferred stock dividends
was suspended in the second quarter of 1994 in connection with extension  agreements with the
Company's  principal  lenders. Upon the expiration of these extension agreements,  the Company
paid a quarterly dividend  on April 1, 1995 and July 1, 1995.  Pursuant  to the  requirements  of
Delaware law, described below, the preferred stock dividend was suspended in the third quarter of
1995 as a result of  recognition  of losses and the  subsequent shareholders'  deficit. The quarterly
dividends which are accumulated but unpaid through and  including  January 1, 2002 amount to
$12,862,000  in the aggregate ($61.63  per  preferred  share or $15.41 per  depositary  share).
Common  stock dividends  may not be declared  until the  preferred  stock  dividends  that are
accumulated but unpaid are made current.

During 1999, the Company purchased 1,465,165 outstanding depositary shares,  each  representing
one quarter of a share of its Series A Convertible Exchangeable  Preferred Stock ("Series A
Preferred  Stock"), for $27,838,000.  The depositary  shares purchased were converted into shares
of  Series A  Preferred  Stock and retired.  This reduced the number of shares of Series A Preferred
Stock  outstanding  from 575,000 to 208,708,  accumulated but unpaid dividends from  $21,994,000
to  $8,870,000, and the ongoing  quarterly preferred dividend requirement from $1,222,000 to
$444,000.

There are  statutory  restrictions  limiting  the  payment  of  preferred  stock dividends  under
Delaware law, the state in which the Company is  incorporated. Under  Delaware law, the Company is
permitted to pay preferred  stock  dividends only: (1) out of surplus,  surplus being the amount of
shareholders'  equity in excess of the par value of the  Company's  two  classes of stock;  or (2) in
the event  there is no  surplus,  out of net  profits for the fiscal year in which a preferred  stock
dividend  is  declared  (and/or  out of net  profits  from the preceding fiscal year), but only to the
extent that shareholders' equity exceeds the par value of the preferred  stock (which par value was
$208,708 at December 31, 2001).  The Company had shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2001 of
$10,415,000 and the par value of all outstanding shares of preferred stock and shares of common
stock aggregated $18,996,000 at December 31, 2001.

12. INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION AND STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS PLANS

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had options outstanding from three Incentive Stock Option
(“ISOs”) Plans for employees and three Incentive Stock Option Plans for directors.

The 1985 employee Plan provides for the granting of ISOs and stock appreciation rights and the
1995 and 2000 employee Plans provide for the granting of ISOs and restricted stock.  The 1985,
1995 and 2000 Plans also provide for the grant of non-qualified options, if so designated, and
contain the terms specified for non-qualified options.  Restricted stock is an award payable in shares
of common stock subject to forfeiture under certain conditions.  ISOs granted under the 1985, 1995
and 2000 Plans generally vest over two years and expire ten years from the date of grant and may
not have an option price that is less than the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant.  The
maximum number of shares of the Company's common stock that could be issued or granted under
the 1985, 1995 and 2000 Plans is 400,000, 350,000 and 350,000, respectively.
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The 1985 Plan expired on January 7, 1995.  Therefore, no further grants may now be made from this
plan.  As of December 31, 2001, the 1995 and 2000 Plans have 70,000 and 40,700, respectively,
shares available for future issue or grant.

The 1991 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors provides for the granting on
September 1 of each year of options to purchase 1,500 shares of the Company’s common stock.
The maximum number of shares of the Company’s common stock that may be issued pursuant to
options granted under the plan is 200,000 shares (141,500 shares are available for grants as of
December 31, 2001) and the options expire ten years after the date of grant.  Options granted
pursuant to this plan vest after the completion of one year of board service following the date of
grant.  Grants under this plan were suspended in 1996 and resumed upon the Company’s dismissal
from bankruptcy.  

In 1996, the shareholders approved the 1996 Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan.  The plan provides for
the grant of non-qualified stock options to directors on an annual basis beginning on the date of the
1996 Annual Meeting with options for 20,000 shares to be granted to each director on that date or
after a director is first elected or appointed, and options for 10,000 shares to be granted to each
director after each annual meeting thereafter.  The maximum number of shares of the Company’s
common stock that may be issued or granted under the plan is 350,000 (none are available as of
December 31, 2001) and the options expire no later than ten years after the date of grant.  Options
granted pursuant to this plan vest 25% per year over a four-year period. Options granted during a
director’s period of active service continue to vest pursuant to this schedule if a director leaves the
board due to reaching retirement age.  In the event of a change of control of the Company, any
option that was not previously exercisable and vested will become fully exercisable and vested.

In 2000, the Board of Directors adopted the 2000 Nonemployee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan, and
as permitted by applicable American Stock Exchange rules, did not seek shareholder approval of this
plan.  Like the 1996 Directors’ Plan, options for 20,000 shares are granted to each director when first
elected or appointed, and options for 10,000 shares are granted after each annual meeting
thereafter.  The maximum number of shares that may be issued under the plan and the vesting,
expiration and acceleration upon change-of-control provisions are the same as the 1996 Directors’
Plan.  As of December 31, 2001, there are 160,000 shares available under this plan for future issue
or grant.

Information for 2001, 2000 and 1999 with respect to both the employee and director Plans is as
follows:

Issue Price
Range

Stock
Option
Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise
Price

Outstanding at December 31, 1998 $2.63-20.00 349,500 $    6.72
Granted in 1999 3.00-4.00 449,500 3.11
Exercised in 1999 2.63 (25,000) 2.63
Outstanding at December 31, 1999 2.63-20.00 774,000 4.76
Granted in 2000 2.81-7.94 477,800 3.43
Exercised in 2000 2.625 (2,000) 2.625
Expired or forfeited in 2000 14.276 (75,000) 14.276
Outstanding at December 31, 2000 $2.63-20.00 1,174,800         3.64
Granted in 2001 12.04-18.189 135,500 17.58
Exercised in 2001 2.81-8.75 (371,450) 3.99
Expired or forfeited in 2001 2.63-20.00 (56,500) 5.53
Outstanding at December 31, 2001 $2.63-18.189 882,350 $    5.51
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Information about stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2001 is as follows: 
 

 
 
 

Range of 
Exercise Price 

 
 

 
Number 

Outstanding 

Weighted-
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Life 

(Years) 

 
Weighted- 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

 
 
 

Number 
Exercisable 

 
Weighted- 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
    $2.63 –   5.00 684,850 6.1 $ 2.95 405,450 $ 2.94 
      5.01 – 10.00   59,000 6.4    7.13   29,000    6.85 
    10.01 – 15.00   14,000 7.4  12.20     3,000 12.38 
    15.01 – 18.189 124,500 9.4  18.06 - - 
    $2.63 – 18.189 882,350 6.6 $ 5.51 437,450 $ 3.26 

 
The Company applies APB Opinion 25 and related Interpretations in accounting for its plans.  Accordingly, 
no compensation cost has been recognized for its stock option plans. Had compensation cost for the 
Company’s three stock-based  compensation plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant 
dates for awards under those plans consistent with the FASB Statement 123, the Company’s net income 
(loss) and income (loss) per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below: 
 
 

 2001 2000 1999 
   (in thousands, except per share data) 
Net income (loss) applicable to 

common shareholders: 
   

      As reported $     3,451 $     (1,468) $     5,645 
      Pro forma $     1,986 $     (2,140) $     5,227 
    
Income (loss) per share 

applicable to common 
shareholders: 

   

      As reported, basic $         .48 $         (.21) $         .80 
      Pro forma, basic $         .26 $         (.30) $         .74 
      As reported, diluted $         .43 $         (.21) $         .79 
      Pro forma, diluted $         .25 $         (.30) $         .73 

 
 
The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for options granted in 2001, 2000 
and 1999.  The weighted average fair value of options granted in 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $17.58, $3.26 
and $.89, respectively.   
 
 

 
Options Granted 

Dividend 
Yield 

 
Volatility 

Risk-Free 
Rate 

Expected 
Life 

     
2001 None 272%   4.89 – 5.39%       10 years 
2000 None 257 – 304%    5.8  – 6.13%     8-10 years 
1999 None    55 – 61%    4.76 – 6.11%     8-10 years 
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13. BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
The Company’s operations have been classified into three segments: coal, independent power operations 
and terminal operations.  The coal segment includes the production and sale of coal from Eastern 
Montana, North Dakota and Texas.  The independent power operations include the ownership of interests 
in cogeneration and other non-regulated independent power plants.  The terminal operation segment 
consists of the leasing of capacity at Dominion Terminal Associates, a coal storage and vessel loading 
facility.  The “Corporate” classification noted in the tables represents all costs not otherwise classified, 
including corporate office charges, heritage health benefit costs, business development expenses and all 
residual costs of the idled Virginia Division.  Summarized financial information by segment for 2001, 2000 
and 1999 is as follows: 
 
 
Year ended December 31, 2001 
 Coal Independent 

Power 
Terminal 

Operations 
 

Corporate 
 

Total 
 (in thousands) 
Revenues:      
Coal revenue $    231,048 $                  - $              - $                - $    231,048 
Equity in earnings (share of  
  losses) 

 
- 

 
15,871 

 
(1,922) 

 
- 

 
13,949 

 231,048 15,871 (1,922) - 244,997 
      
Costs and expenses:      
Cost of sales – coal 177,304 - - - 177,304 
Depreciation, depletion, and  
  amortization 

 
9,124 

 
11 

 
- 

 
30 

 
9,165 

Selling and administrative  
  expense 

 
13,184 

 
376 

 
58 

 
9,722 

 
23,340 

Heritage health benefit  
  costs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
23,773 

 
23,773 

Pension benefit - - - (211) (211) 
Doubtful account recoveries (428) - - (18) (446) 
Loss on sales of assets - 440 - - 440 
      
Operating income (loss) $      31,864 $        15,044 $    (1,980) $    (33,296) $      11,632 
      
Capital expenditures $        5,388 $                 4 $              - $             41 $        5,433 
      
Property, plant and  
  equipment (net) 

 
$    195,968 

 
$               45 

 
$              - 

 
$        1,258 

 
$    197,271 
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Year ended December 31, 2000
Coal Independen

t Power
Terminal

Operation
s

Corporate Total

(in thousands)
Revenues:
Coal revenue $      35,137 $                 - $             - $               - $      35,137
Equity in earnings (share of
  losses) - 32,260 (1,800) - 30,460

35,137 32,260 (1,800) - 65,597
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales – coal 30,250 - - - 30,250
Depreciation, depletion, and
  amortization 1,847 29 - 96 1,972
Selling and administrative
  expense 900 456 362 6,068 7,786
Heritage health benefit
  costs - - - 21,503 21,503
Pension benefit - - - (585)   (585)
Doubtful account recoveries - - - (400) (400)
Impairment charge - 4,632 - - 4,632
Loss (gains) on sales of
assets

- (2) - 8 6

Operating income (loss) $        2,140 $        27,145 $    (2,162) $    (26,690) $           433

Capital expenditures $           621 $              10 $             - $             16 $           647

Property, plant and
  equipment (net) $      34,587 $              60 $             - $             46 $      34,693

Year ended December 31, 1999
Coal Independent

Power
Terminal

Operations Corporate Total

(in thousands)
Revenues:
Coal revenue $      38,539 $                 - $             - $               - $      38,539
Equity in earnings (share of
  losses) - 34,492 (1,464) - 33,028

38,539 34,492 (1,464) - 71,567
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales – coal 33,637 - - - 33,637
Depreciation, depletion, and
  amortization 1,425 29 - 117 1,571
Selling and administrative
  expense 770 1,020 732 7,138 9,660
Heritage health benefit
  costs - - - 18,737 18,737
Pension expense - - - (149)   (149)
Doubtful account recoveries - - - (174) (174)
Gains on sales of assets (433) - - - (433)

Operating income (loss) $        3,140 $        33,443 $    (2,196) $    (25,669) $        8,718

Capital expenditures $        1,999 $
29

$
-

$             41 $        2,069

Property, plant and
equipment (net) $      36,343 $              81 $             8 $           126 $      36,558
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The Company derives its coal revenues from a few key customers.  The customers from which more
than 10% of total revenue has been derived and the percentage of total revenue is summarized as
follows:

2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)

Customer  A $    92,626 $             - $            -
                 B 46,104 - -
                 C 28,784 23,636 19,392
Percentage of total revenue 68% 36% 27%

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Protection of the Environment

As discussed in Note 2, in connection with the acquisitions completed in the second quarter, WML
assumed future reclamation obligations of approximately $135,152,000 at April 30, 2001, on an
undiscounted basis.  As of December 31, 2001, WML had $47,924,000 of cash reserved and
invested to use for future reclamation activities first at the Rosebud Mine.

As of December 31, 2001 the Company has reclamation bonds in place in Montana, North Dakota,
Texas, and Virginia, to assure that operations comply with all applicable regulations and to assure
the completion of final reclamation activities.  The amount of the bonds exceeds the estimated cost
of final reclamation activities of approximately $235,321,000, of which the Company’s obligation is
estimated at $171,521,000.  As of December 31, 2001, $139,648,000 has been recognized.

At NWR,  WECO and WRI, certain customers and the contract miner are contractually obligated to
either perform or reimburse the Company for certain reclamation activities as they are performed at
certain of the Company’s other operations.  Final reclamation obligations at NWR’s Jewett Mine,
estimated at approximately $50,000,000, are contractually the responsibility of its customer, which
has a reclamation bond for that amount.  A certain customer at WECO is responsible for an
estimated final reclamation cost of $9,900,000.  WRI has an agreement with its mining contractor and
20% owner of WRI, Washington Group International, Inc. (“WGI”), which contractually limits the
Company’s maximum liability for reclamation costs associated with final mine closure of the Absaloka
mine.  It calls for WRI to pay approximately $1,700,000 over a 15-year period, which began in
December 1990.  All remaining liability at WRI is that of WGI.  These reclamation activities are
estimated to cost approximately $13,800,000.

The Company believes its mining operations are in compliance with applicable federal, state and
local environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to surface mining and reclamation,
and it is the policy of the Company to operate in compliance with such standards.  The Company
maintains compliance primarily through the performance of reclamation, maintenance and monitoring
activities.

WGI Bankruptcy

During 2001, WRI’s mining contractor and 20% owner, WGI, filed a petition seeking to reorganize its
debts pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.  WGI filed its petition in the bankruptcy court
in Reno, Nevada.  Prior to the time that the bankruptcy petition was filed, WRI had filed suit against
WGI seeking to recover costs associated with certain repair and replacement of components of WRI’s
dragline.  WGI’s bankruptcy petition stayed that litigation.  On February 15, 2002, the bankruptcy
court lifted the automatic stay and remanded the dragline litigation to the U.S. District Court in
Montana.  WRI has filed other claims against WGI; these claims allege, among other things, that WGI
overcharged for the cost of mining, failed to provide a competitive cost of mining, and failed to
provide adequate assurances that contractually required reclamation will be done.  WRI has also
requested reimbursement of alleged unpaid royalties and objected to assumption of the mining
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contracts between WGI and WRI pursuant to which WGI provides contract mining and reclamation
services to WRI.  No date has been set to resolve WRI’s claims.

The contracts between WRI and WGI are executory and must either be assumed or rejected in the
bankruptcy proceeding.  Each of WRI’s alleged claims reflects a potential breach of those contracts.
If WGI assumes the mining contracts it must either cure the existing breaches of contract or
demonstrate to the Bankruptcy Court’s satisfaction an ability to satisfy any adverse decision arising
from litigation of the alleged breach of contract claims.  It is currently believed that WGI intends to
assume the mining contracts; however, WGI has reserved the right to reject any executory contracts
at any time prior to final resolution of its bankruptcy case.  If WGI rejects the mining contracts, they
will be terminated and WRI will have an unsecured claim for damages.  In that event, WRI will be
prepared to continue coal production at the mine and to comply with regulatory and environmental
requirements.

Contract Contingencies

On September 24, 2001, WRI gave WGI notice of a dispute regarding past and future pricing for
contract mining services.  WRI believes the price per ton should be substantially reduced.  If the
parties are unable to resolve the dispute through negotiation or unless resolved by the Bankruptcy
Court, binding arbitration will follow.  WRI has also begun discussions with its largest customer
regarding extension or replacement of the term of the coal supply agreement which expires
December 31, 2002.  Another customer of WRI has requested consideration of the acceleration of a
contract reopener provision from 2003 into 2002 and requested that WRI provide price and extended
term information for discussion.

NWR, as part of a settlement of pending litigation entered into an Amended Lignite Supply
Agreement (“LSA”) in 1998 with Reliant Energy, Inc. (“Reliant”) for its Limestone Electric Generating
Station (“LEGS”).  The LSA preserved the existing cost-plus contract structure through June 30,
2002, when the price shifts to a market-based price derived by comparison to the value of Powder
River Basin (“PRB”) spot coal delivered to LEGS.  The price must be between a minimum and a
maximum as determined in the LSA.  The contract provides for NWR to make its annual tonnage
commitments one year in advance and six months before the price is determined.  LEGS is obligated
to take NWR’s committed tonnage.  NWR has nominated tonnages it will deliver to LEGS through
December 31, 2003; however, the price for the nominated tonnage will not be set until July 1, 2002.
NWR always has the right to supply nominated volumes as well as any additional fuel required by
LEGS as long as it meets the price equivalent to the value of PRB coal at LEGS.  In the event that
NWR elects not to match the equivalent PRB value on all or any portion of the LEGS fuel
requirement, Reliant may purchase PRB coal.   

NWR has begun discussions with Reliant to resolve pricing for the eighteen month supply  of lignite it
has nominated to supply through December 31, 2003.  It is expected that NWR will make similar
tonnage nominations until the contract expires in 2015.  In addition, NWR and Reliant are discussing
impacts of changes to LEGS and construction of a rail unloader.  To protect its contract rights and, if
necessary, obtain guidance on interpreting the LSA in the changed circumstances, NWR has filed a
declaratory judgment action in Freestone County, Texas.  The litigation has only recently been filed
and it is too early to predict any likelihood of success.  If the cost of delivering PRB coal became
such that NWR determined that produced lignite was uneconomic, Reliant would be obligated to
begin performance of final reclamation activities.  Refer to Item 3 – Legal Proceedings for further
information.

WECO’s Coal Supply Agreement with the Colstrip units 1 and 2 owners contains a provision calling
for a price reopener in July 2001.  The parties have begun discussions to attempt to reach a
consensual agreement about future price; however, in the event the parties are unable to reach an
agreement, the Coal Supply Agreement provides for a binding arbitration to resolve the issue.
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UMWA Master Agreement 
 
The Company is subject to certain financial ratio tests under the terms of an agreement with the UMWA 
(the “Master Agreement”), which facilitated the Company’s discharge from Chapter 11 Bankruptcy in 
1998.  The Company’s obligations under the Master Agreement are secured by a Contingent Promissory 
Note (the “Note”) in an initial principal amount of $12 million; the principal amount of the Note decreases 
to $6 million in 2002.  The Note is payable only in the event the Company does not meet its Coal Act 
obligations, fails to meet certain ongoing financial ratio tests specified in the Note, fails to maintain the 
required balance of $6 million in the escrow account through 2001 or fails to comply with certain 
covenants set forth in a security agreement.  The Note also gives the Company certain rights to cure a 
default that would otherwise ripen into an “Event of Default”:  on no more than two occasions, the 
Company may cure a default that arises from the Company’s failure to satisfy the financial ratios in a 
quarter by complying with the financial ratios in the immediately following quarter.  The Company did not 
satisfy the financial ratio test which measures operating income versus debt service requirements for the 
quarter ended June 30, 2001 because of its acquisitions.  The Company’s financial results for that period 
reflected only two months of operating income from the acquisitions, while the debt service amount 
included the full effect of the acquisition financing.  The Company has cured any default that existed at 
June 30, 2001, by complying with the financial ratios at September 30 and December 31, 2001.  The Note 
terminates on January 1, 2005.  The Company believes it will comply with the financial ratios in the Note 
through its expiration. 

Purchase Price Adjustment 
 
As discussed in Note 2, the final purchase price for the acquisition of Montana Power‘s coal business is 
subject to adjustment.  In the unlikely event additional payments are required to be made, they would 
likely be funded through borrowings under the Facility described in Note 4.  Pursuant to the credit 
agreements, if the purchase price is reduced, amounts received are required to be applied to the 
acquisition debt, as explained in Note 4.  Any change in the purchase price will result in a change to the 
preliminary purchase price allocation disclosed in Note 2 and is not expected to have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s results of operations or liquidity. 

Other Contingencies 
 
The Company is a party to numerous claims and lawsuits with respect to various matters in the normal 
course of business.  The ultimate outcome of these matters is not expected to have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. 
 
Lease Obligations 
 
The Company leases certain of its coal reserves from third parties and pays royalties based on either a 
per ton rate or as a percentage of revenues received.  Royalties charged to expense under all such lease 
agreements amounted to $21,729,000, $2,898,000 and $3,115,000 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. 
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The Company has operating lease commitments expiring at various dates, primarily for real property and 
equipment.  Rental expense under operating leases during 2001, 2000 and 1999 totaled $3,150,000, 
$44,000 and $42,000, respectively.  Minimum future rental obligations existing under these leases at 
December 31, 2001 are as follows (in thousands): 
 

Lease Obligations 

2002 $     3,515 
2003 1,118 
2004 899 
2005 620 
2006 and thereafter - 

 
 
Long-Term Sales Commitments 
 
The following table presents total sales tonnage the Company expects to ship under existing long-term 
contracts from the Company’s mining operations (in thousands): 
 

Projected Sales Tonnage Under  
Existing Long-Term Contracts  
2002 27,120 
2003 22,883 
2004 22,850 
2005 22,850 
2006 21,850 

 
15. RESTRICTED NET ASSETS OF WESTMORELAND MINING LLC 
 
As discussed in Note 2, WML was formed for the purpose of facilitating the financing of the acquisitions 
completed effective April 30, 2001.  The line of credit and term notes entered into by WML for that 
purpose significantly restrict the cash and other assets available for distribution or dividend to the parent 
company or other entities in the consolidated group.  See Note 4 for a more detailed discussion of the 
restrictions and the amount of cash that is available for general use.  Due to the recognition of a 
$55,600,000 deferred tax asset in purchase accounting relating primarily to Westmoreland Coal 
Company’s net operating loss carryforwards, WML’s basis in property, plant and equipment is higher than 
that recognized in Westmoreland’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2001, WML paid $3,750,000 of dividends and $1,500,000 of 
management fees to its parent. 
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The following are the condensed consolidated financial statements of WML and its subsidiaries as of and 
for the year ended December 31, 2001 (in thousands): 
 

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 
31, 2001 

Cash and cash equivalents $        624 
Accounts receivable, net     32,573 
Restricted cash       8,371 
Other current assets     18,466 
Property, plant and equipment, net   216,173 
Deferred tax assets          402 
Reclamation deposits     47,924 
Reclamation receivable     10,360 
Other assets     20,920 
  Total Assets $ 355,813 
  

Current portion of long-term debt $   13,753 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses     29,225 
Payable to parent     10,068 
Other current liabilities       2,818 
Line of credit       8,000 
Long-term debt, less current portion     98,157 
Reclamation obligations   137,748 
Other liabilities        9,409 
Member’s equity     46,635 
  Total Liabilities and Member’s Equity $ 355,813 

 
Condensed Consolidated Statement  of Operations for the 

Eight Months Ended December 31, 2001 
  
Coal revenues $   187,021 
Cost of sales – coal  (139,915) 
Depreciation and amortization expense (9,825) 
Selling and administrative expense (11,559) 
Management fees to parent (1,500) 
  
  Operating income      24,222 
  
Interest expense (7,616) 
Interest and other income         1,999 
  
  Income before income taxes      18,605 
  
Income tax expense (7,269) 
  
  Net income $     11,336 
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Eight 

Months Ended December 31, 2001 
  
Net income  $  11,336 
Depreciation and amortization expense 9,825 
Deferred income tax benefit (402) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 12,540 
  Cash provided by operating activities 33,299 
  
Cash paid for acquisitions (164,980) 
Increase in restricted cash (8,371) 
Fixed asset additions (5,291) 
  Cash used in investing activities (178,642) 
  
Proceeds from borrowings of long-term debt, net 114,719 
Repayment of long-term debt (12,053) 
Contributions from parent 39,051 
Borrowings under line of credit, net 8,000 
Dividends to parent (3,750) 
  Cash provided by financing activities 145,967 
  
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 624 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year - 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $     624 
  

 
 
16. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATED COMPANIES 
 
WRI has a coal mining contract with WGI, its 20% stockholder.  Mining costs incurred under the contract 
were $21,466,000, $17,507,000 and $19,445,000 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. 
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17. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 
 
Summarized quarterly financial data for 2001 and 2000 are as follows: 
 
 Three Months Ended 
 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 
 (in thousands except per share data) 
2001     
Revenues $        16,342 $       53,339 $      89,887 $      85,429 
Costs and expenses 18,578 53,480 78,735 82,572 
Operating income (loss) (2,236) (141) 11,152 2,857 
Income (loss) from continuing  
   operations before income taxes  

 
(2,118) 

 
(1,428) 

 
8,870 

 
339 

Income tax (expense) benefit (89) 500 (2,661) 1,814 
Net income (loss) (2,207) (928) 6,209 2,153 
Less preferred stock dividend 
   Requirements 

 
(444) 

 
(444) 

 
(444) 

 
(444) 

Income (loss) applicable to common 
   Shareholders 

 
$        (2,651) 

 
$      (1,372) 

 
$       5,765 

 
$       1,709 

Income (loss) per share applicable to   
common shareholders: 

    

Basic $            (.37) $          (.19) $           .79 $          .23 
Diluted $            (.37) $          (.19) $           .73 $          .21 

Weighted average number of common 
and common equivalent shares 
outstanding: 

 
 

   

    Basic 7,075 7,144 7,264 7,471 
    Diluted 7,075 7,144 7,859 8,069 

 
 Three Months Ended 
 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 
 (in thousands except per share data) 
2000     
Revenues $        12,665 $       14,495 $       14,128 $    24,309 
Costs and expenses (14,538) (16,312) (14,972) (19,342) 
Operating income (loss)         (1,873)         (1,817)         (844)          4,967 
Income from continuing operations 
   before income taxes  

 
(2,491) 

 
(2,079) 

 
(1,035) 

 
5,476 

Income tax benefit - - - 437 
Net income (loss) (2,491) (2,079) (1,035) 5,913 
Less preferred stock dividend 
   Requirements 

 
(444) 

 
(444) 

 
(444) 

 
(444) 

Income (loss) applicable to common    
   shareholders 

 
$        (2,935) 

 
$       (2,523) 

 
$       (1,479) 

 
$      5,469 

Income (loss) per share applicable to 
   common shareholders 

 
$            (.42) 

 
$           (.35) 

 
$           (.21) 

 
$          .77 

Weighted average number of common 
and common equivalent shares 
outstanding    

 
 

7,068 

 
 

7,070 

 
 

7,070 

 
 

7,070 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Westmoreland Coal Company: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Westmoreland Coal Company and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year 
period ended December 31, 2001.  These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Westmoreland Coal Company and subsidiaries at December 31, 2001 
and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year 
period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
 
 
 
 
 
          KPMG LLP 
 
Denver, Colorado 
March 8, 2002 
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ITEM 9 - CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING  AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

 
This item is not applicable. 
 
 

PART III 
 
 
ITEM 10 - DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 
 
ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
ITEM 12 - SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
 
ITEM 13 - CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 
 
For Items 10-13, inclusive, except for information concerning executive officers of Westmoreland included 
as an unnumbered item in Part I above, reference is hereby made to Westmoreland’s definitive proxy 
statement to be filed in accordance with Regulation 14A pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, which is incorporated herein by reference thereto. 
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PART IV 

 
 
ITEM 14 - EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
a) 1.   The financial statements filed herewith are the Consolidated Balance Sheets of the Company and 

subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, and the related Consolidated 
Statements of Operations, Shareholders’ Equity and Cash Flows for each of the years in the 
three-year period ended December 31, 2001 together with the Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies and Notes, which are contained on pages 58 through 95 inclusive. 

 
2.   The following financial statement schedule is filed herewith:   
      Schedule II - Valuation Accounts 
 
3.  The following exhibits are filed herewith as required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K: 

 
 (2)  Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, liquidation or succession 

(a) Westmoreland’s Plan of Reorganization was confirmed by an order of the United States 
Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware on December 16, 1994, and upon 
complying with the conditions of the order, Westmoreland emerged from bankruptcy on 
December 22, 1994.  A copy of the confirmed Plan of Reorganization was filed as an 
Exhibit to Westmoreland’s Report on Form 8-K filed December 30, 1994, which is 
incorporated herein by reference thereto. 

 
(3)  (a) Articles of Incorporation:  Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed with the Office of the 

Secretary of State of Delaware on February 21, 1995 and filed as Exhibit 3(a) to 
Westmoreland’s 10-K for 1994 which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference. 

 
(b) Bylaws, as amended on June 18, 1999, and filed as Exhibit (3)(b) to Westmoreland’s 

Report on Form 8-K filed June 21, 1999, which exhibit is incorporated herein by 
reference. 

 
 (4)  Instruments defining the rights of security holders 
 

(a) Certificate of Designation of Series A Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock of the 
Company defining the rights of holders of such stock, filed July 8, 1992 as an amendment 
to the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, and filed as Exhibit 3(a) to Westmoreland's 
Form 10-K for 1992, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference. 

 
(b) Form of Indenture between Westmoreland and Fidelity Bank, National Association, as 

Trustee relating to the Exchange Debentures.  Reference is hereby made to Exhibit 4.1 to 
Form S-2 Registration No. 33-47872 filed May 13, 1992, and Amendments 1 through 4 
thereto, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference. 

 
(c) Form of Exchange Debenture.  Reference is hereby made to Exhibit 4.2 to Form S-2 

Registration No. 33-47872 filed May 13, 1992, and Amendments 1 through 4 thereto, 
which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference. 
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(d) Form of Deposit Agreement among Westmoreland, First Chicago Trust Company of New 
York, as Depository and the holders from time to time of the Depository Receipts.  
Reference is hereby made to Exhibit 4.3 to Form S-2 Registration No. 33-47872 filed May 
13, 1992, and Amendments 1 through 4 thereto, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by 
reference. 

 
(e) Form of Certificate of Designation for the Series A Convertible Exchangeable Preferred 

Stock.  Reference is hereby made to Exhibit 4.4 to Form S-2 Registration No. 33-47872 
filed May 13, 1992, and Amendments 1 through 4 thereto, which Exhibit is incorporated 
herein by reference. 

(f)   Specimen certificate representing the common stock of Westmoreland, filed as Exhibit 
4(c) to Westmoreland’s Registration Statement on Form S-2, Registration No. 33-1950, 
filed December 4, 1985, is hereby incorporated by reference. 

 
(g) Specimen certificate representing the Preferred Stock.  Reference is hereby made to 

Exhibit 4.6 to Form S-2 Registration No. 33-47872 filed May 13, 1992, and Amendments 
1 through 4 thereto, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference. 

 
(h) Form of Depository Receipt.  Reference is hereby made to Exhibit 4.7 to Form S-2 

Registration No. 33-47872 filed May 13, 1992, and Amendments 1 through 4 thereto, 
which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference. 

 
(i) Rights Agreement, dated as of January 28, 1993, between Westmoreland Coal Company 

and the First Chicago Trust Company of New York.  Reference is hereby made to Exhibit 
4 to Westmoreland’s Form 8-K filed February 1, 1993, which Exhibit is incorporated 
herein by reference. 

 
(j) In accordance with paragraph (b)(4)(iii) of Item 601 of Regulation S-K, Westmoreland 

hereby agrees to furnish to the Commission, upon request, copies of all other long-term 
debt instruments. 

 
(10) Material Contracts 

 
(a) Westmoreland Coal Company 1985 Incentive Stock Option and Stock Appreciation 

Rights Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to Westmoreland's 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for 1984 (SEC File #0-752). 

 
(b) In 1990, the Board of Directors established an Executive Severance Policy for certain 

executive officers, which provides a severance award in the event of termination of 
employment.  The description of the Executive Severance Policy is incorporated herein by 
reference to Westmoreland’s Definitive Schedule 14A filed April 20, 2000 (SEC File #001-
11155). 

 
(c)   Westmoreland Coal Company 1991 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee 

Directors is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(i) to Westmoreland's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for 1990 (SEC File #0-752). 

 
(d) Effective January 1, 1992, the Board of Directors established a Supplemental Executive 

Retirement Plan ("SERP") for certain executive officers and other key individuals, to 
supplement Westmoreland's Retirement Plan by not being limited to certain Internal 
Revenue Code limitations is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to 
Westmoreland’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2000 (SEC File #001-11155).  
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(e)   Amended Coal Lease Agreement between Westmoreland Resources, Inc. and Crow 

Tribe of Indians, dated November 26, 1974, as further amended in 1982, is incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit (10)(a) to Westmoreland’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for the quarter ended March 31, 1992 (SEC File #0-752). 

 
(f) Westmoreland Coal Company 1995 Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan is incorporated 

herein by reference to Appendix 3 to Westmoreland’s Definitive Schedule 14A filed April 
28, 1995 (SEC File #0-752). 

 
(g) Master Agreement, dated as of January 4, 1999 between Westmoreland Coal Company, 

Westmoreland Resources, Inc., Westmoreland Energy, Inc., Westmoreland Terminal 
Company, and Westmoreland Coal Sales Company, the UMWA 1992 Benefit Plan and 
its Trustees, the UMWA Combined Benefit Fund and its Trustees, the UMWA 1974 
Pension Trust and its Trustees, the United Mine Workers of America, and the Official 
Committee of Equity Security Holders in the chapter 11 case of Westmoreland Coal and 
its official members is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit No. 99.2 to 
Westmoreland’s Form 8-K filed on February 5, 1999 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(h) Contingent Promissory Note between Westmoreland Coal Company, Westmoreland 

Resources, Inc., Westmoreland Energy, Inc., Westmoreland Coal Sales Company, and 
Westmoreland Terminal Company and the UMWA Combined Benefit Fund and the 
UMWA 1992 Benefit Plan is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit No. 99.3 to 
Westmoreland’s Form 8-K filed on February 5, 1999 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(i) Westmoreland Coal Company 1996 Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan is incorporated herein 

by reference to Exhibit 10(i) to Westmoreland’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year 
ended December 31, 2000 (SEC File #001-11155).  
  

(j) Westmoreland Coal Company 2000 Nonemployee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan is 
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(j) to Westmoreland’s Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for year ended December 31, 2000 (SEC File #001-11155).  
 

(k) Westmoreland Coal Company 2000 Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan is incorporated 
herein by reference to Annex A to Westmoreland’s Definitive Schedule 14A filed April 20, 
2000 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(l) Westmoreland Coal Company 2001 Directors Compensation Plan is incorporated herein 

by reference to  Westmoreland’s Form S-8 filed March 12, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 
 

(m) Amended and Restated Coal Supply Agreement dated August 24, 1998, by and among 
The Montana Power Company, Puget Sound Energy, Inc., The Washington Water Power 
Company, Portland General Electric Company, PacifiCorp and Western Energy Company 
is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Westmoreland’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(n) Coal Transportation Agreement dated July 10, 1981, by and among the Montana Power 

Company, Puget Sound Power & Light Company, Puget Colstrip Construction Company, 
The Washington Water Power Company, Portland General Electric Company, Pacific 
Power & Light Company, Basin Electric Power Cooperative, and Western Energy 
Company is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Westmoreland’s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 
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(o) Amendment No. 1 to the Coal Transportation Agreement dated September 14, 1987, by 

and among The Montana Power Company, Puget Sound Power & Light Company, Puget 
Colstrip Construction Company, The Washington Water Power Company, Portland 
General Electric Company, Pacific Power & Light Company and Western Energy 
Company is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Westmoreland’s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(p) Amendment No. 2 to the Coal Transportation Agreement dated August 24, 1998, by and 

among The Montana Power Company, Puget Sound Power & Light Company, Puget 
Colstrip Construction Company, The Washington Water Power Company, Portland 
General Electric Company, Pacific Power & Light Company, Basin Electric Power 
Cooperative, and Western Energy Company is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
10.4 to Westmoreland’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 
2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(q) Lignite Supply Agreement dated August 29, 1979, between Northwestern Resources Co. 

and Utility Fuels Inc. is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to 
Westmoreland’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2001 
(SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(r) Settlement Agreement and Amendment of Existing Contracts dated August 2, 1999, 

between Northwestern Resources Co. and Reliant Energy, Incorporated is incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Westmoreland’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the Quarter ended June 30, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(s) Term Loan Agreement dated as of April 27, 2001 by and among Westmoreland Mining 

LLC, WCCO-KRC Acquisition Corp., Dakota Westmoreland Corporation, Western Energy 
Company, Northwestern Resources Co., the other entities from time to time party thereto 
as guarantors, and the purchasers named in Schedule A thereto is incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 15, 
2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(t) Credit Agreement dated as of April 27, 2001 by and among Westmoreland Mining LLC, 

WCCO-KRC Acquisition Corp., Dakota Westmoreland Corporation, Western Energy 
Company, Northwestern Resources Co., the other entities from time to time party thereto 
as guarantors, the banks party thereto, and PNC Bank, National Association, in its 
capacity as agent for the banks is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the 
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 15, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(u) First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of August 15, 2001 among 

Westmoreland Mining LLC, the Loan Parties under the Credit Agreement, the Banks 
under the Credit Agreement, and PNC Bank, National Association, as Agent is 
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Westmoreland’s Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended June 30, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(v) First Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement dated as of August 15, 2001 among 

Westmoreland Mining LLC, the other Obligors under the Agreement, the Purchasers 
under the Agreement, and PNC Capital Markets, Inc., as lead arranger is incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Westmoreland’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the Quarter ended June 30, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 
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(w) Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement dated February 27, 2002 among Westmoreland 

Mining LLC, the loan Parties under Credit Agreement, the Banks under the Credit 
Agreement, and PNC Bank, National Association, as Agent, and filed herewith as Exhibit 
10(w). 

 
(x) Second Amendment to Term Loan Agreement dated February 27, 2002 among 

Westmoreland Mining LLC, the other Obligors under the Agreement, the Purchasers 
under the Agreement, and PNC Capital Markets, Inc. as lead arranger, and filed herewith 
as Exhibit 10(x). 

 
(y) Loan Agreement dated as of December 14, 2001 between Westmoreland Coal Company, 

a Delaware corporation, and First Interstate Bank, a Montana corporation, is incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 2001 (SEC File 
#001-11155). 

 
(z) Pledge Agreement is dated as of April 27, 2001 by and among Westmoreland Coal 

Company, Westmoreland Mining LLC, the other entities from time to time party thereto as 
pledgors, and Firstar Bank, N.A., as collateral agent for the purchasers in connection with 
the Term Loan Agreement, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to the 
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 15, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(aa) Pledge Agreement dated as of April 27, 2001, by and among Westmoreland Coal 

Company, Westmoreland Mining LLC, the other entities from time to time party thereto as 
pledgors, and Firstar Bank, N.A., as collateral agent for the banks in connection with the 
Revolving Credit Agreement is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.5 to the 
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 15, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(bb) Continuing Agreement of Guaranty and Suretyship dated as of April 27, 2001 by and 

among WCCO-KRC Acquisition Corp., Dakota Westmoreland Corporation, Western 
Energy Company, Northwestern Resources Co., and each of the other persons which 
becomes a guarantor thereunder, in favor of the purchasers under the Term Loan 
Agreement is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.6 to the Registrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K dated May 15, 2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(cc) Continuing Agreement of Guaranty and Suretyship dated as of April 27, 2001 by and 

among WCCO-KRC Acquisition Corp., Dakota Westmoreland Corporation, Western 
Energy Company, Northwestern Resources Co., and each of the other persons which 
becomes a guarantor thereunder, in favor of PNC Bank, National Association, as agent 
for the banks in connection with that Credit Agreement is incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 99.7 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 15, 
2001 (SEC File #001-11155). 

 
(dd) Security Agreement dated as of April 27, 2001 by and among Westmoreland Mining LLC, 

WCCO-KRC Acquisition Corp., Dakota Westmoreland Corporation, Western Energy 
Company, Northwestern Resources Co., and each of the other persons which becomes a 
guarantor under the Term Loan Agreement and Firstar Bank, N.A., as collateral agent for 
the purchasers under the Term Loan Agreement is incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 99.8 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-k dated May 15, 2001 (SEC 
File #001-11155). 
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(ee) Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of September 15, 2000 by and between 

Westmoreland Coal Company and Entech, Inc. is incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 5, 2001 (SEC 
File #001-11155) 

 
(ff) Westmoreland Coal Company 2000 Performance Unit Plan is filed herewith as Exhibit 

10(ff).   
 

(21)  Subsidiaries of the Registrant 
   
(23)  Consent of Independent Certified Public Accountants 
 

b)  Reports on Form 8-K. 
 

(1) On October 24, 2001, the Company filed a report on Form 8-K regarding its shareholders’ 
letter for the quarter ended June 30, 2001 and its expected range of earnings per share 
for the quarter ended September 30, 2001. 

 
(2) On December 19, 2001, the Company filed a report on Form 8-K regarding the execution 

on December 14, 2001 of a Loan Agreement with First Interstate Bank, a Montana 
corporation, for a two-year $7 million Revolving Line of Credit. 

 
(3) On January 3, 2002, the Company filed a report on Form 8-K announcing that it had 

recently adopted a policy that provides for the use of pre-arranged trading plans by 
persons subject to the Company’s insider trading policy as provided for under the 
Securities and Exchange Commission’s new Rule 10b5-1. 
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SIGNATURES 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the 
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized. 
 WESTMORELAND COAL COMPANY 

 
Date: March 27, 2002     By:  /s/ Ronald H. Beck              

Ronald H. Beck 
             Vice President of 
             Finance and Treasurer 
             (A Duly Authorized Officer)  

   
Date: March 27, 2002    By:  /s/ Thomas S. Barta 
        Thomas S. Barta

                                                                              Controller 
                                                                             (Principal Accounting Officer)  
 

Signature  Title  Date 
     
Principal Executive Officer:     
 
 
/s/ Christopher K. Seglem 

 Chairman of the Board, President, 
and Chief Executive Officer 

  
 

March 27, 2002 
Christopher K. Seglem     
     
Directors:     

     
/s/ Michael Armstrong  Director  March 27, 2002 
Michael Armstrong     
     
/s/ Thomas J. Coffey  Director  March 27, 2002 
Thomas J. Coffey     
     
/s/ Pemberton Hutchinson  Director  March 27, 2002 
Pemberton Hutchinson     
     
/s/ Robert E. Killen  Director  March 27, 2002 
Robert E. Killen     
     
/s/ William R. Klaus  Director  March 27, 2002 
William R. Klaus     
     
/s/ Thomas W. Ostrander  Director  March 27, 2002 
Thomas W. Ostrander     
     
/s/ James W. Sight  Director  March 27, 2002 
James W. Sight     
     
/s/ William M. Stern  Director  March 27, 2002 
William M. Stern     
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Westmoreland Coal Company: 
 
 
 
Under date of March 8, 2002, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Westmoreland Coal 
Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related statements of operations, 
shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period 
ended December 31, 2001, which report appears in the December 31, 2001, Annual Report on Form 10-K of 
Westmoreland Coal Company.  In connection with our audits of the aforementioned consolidated financial 
statements, we also audited the related financial statement schedule II. This financial statement schedule is 
the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial 
statement schedule based on our audits. 
 
In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated 
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
          KPMG LLP 
 
 
 
 
 
Denver, Colorado 
March 8, 2002 
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 Schedule II 
 
 
 
 

WESTMORELAND COAL COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES  
 

Valuation Accounts 
Years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 

(in thousands) 
 

  
 

Balance at 
beginning 

of year 

 
 

Deductions 
credited to 

earnings 

 
 
 

Other  
Additions  

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Balance at 
end of year 

 

Year ended December 31, 2001:       
       
  Allowance for doubtful accounts $     3,301 (446) 102  $    2,957 (A) 

       
Year ended December 31, 2000:       
       
  Allowance for doubtful accounts $     3,602 (400) 99  $    3,301 (A) 

       
Year ended December 31, 1999:       
       
  Allowance for doubtful accounts $     3,776 (174) -  $    3,602 (A) 

 
Amounts above include current and non-current valuation accounts. 
 
(A) Includes reserves related to the uncollectibility of notes receivable reported as a reduction of other 

assets in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.   
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 EXHIBIT 21 
Subsidiaries of the Registrant for the year ended December 31, 2001: 
 
 

Subsidiary Name State of Incorporation 
Kentucky Criterion Coal Company Delaware 
Pine Branch Mining Inc.                Delaware 
WEI - Fort Lupton, Inc.               Delaware 
WEI - Rensselaer, Inc.                Delaware 
WEI - Roanoke Valley, Inc.            Delaware 
Westmoreland Coal Sales Inc.       Delaware 
Westmoreland Energy, Inc.             Delaware 
Westmoreland Resources, Inc.          Delaware 
Westmoreland Terminal Company         Delaware 
Westmoreland - Altavista, Inc.        Delaware 
Westmoreland - Fort Drum, Inc.        Delaware 
Westmoreland - Franklin, Inc.         Delaware 
Westmoreland - Hopewell, Inc.         Delaware 
Westmoreland Technical Services, Inc. Delaware 
Cleancoal Terminal Co. Delaware 
Criterion Coal Co. Delaware 
Deane Processing Co. Delaware 
Eastern Coal and Coke Co. Pennsylvania 
WCCO-KRC Acquisition Corp. Delaware 
Westmoreland Mining LLC Delaware 
Dakota Westmoreland Corporation Delaware 
Western Energy Company Montana 
Northwestern Resources Co. Montana 
Basin Resources, Inc. Colorado 
North Central Resources, Inc. Colorado 
Horizon Coal Services, Inc. Montana 
Westmoreland Power, Inc. Delaware 
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EXHIBIT 23 
 
 
Consent of Independent Certified Public Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors 
Westmoreland Coal Company: 
 
  
 
We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 2-90847, No.  33-33620, No. 
333-56904 and No. 333-66698) on Form S-8 of Westmoreland Coal Company of our reports dated March 8, 
2002, relating to the consolidated balance sheets of Westmoreland Coal Company and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity 
and comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 
2001, and the related schedule, which reports appear in the December 31, 2001, Annual Report on Form 10-K 
of Westmoreland Coal Company. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
          KPMG LLP 
 
 
 
 
 
Denver, Colorado 
March 22, 2002 
 
 
 



Forward-Looking Statement

Certain statements in this report which are not historical facts or
information are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including, but not limited to,
the information set forth in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. Any
statements contained herein that are not statements of historical
fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. For example,
words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,”
“potential,” “continue,” “strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,”
“expects,” “intends,” and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors,
which may cause the actual results, levels of activity, performance
or achievements of the Company, or industry results, to be materially
different from any future results, levels of activity, performance
or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements. Such factors include, among others, the following:
general economic and business conditions; healthcare cost trends;
the cost and capacity of the surety bond market; the Company’s
ability to manage growth and significantly expanded operations;
the ability of the Company to implement its business strategy;
the Company’s ability to retain key senior management; the
Company’s access to financing; the Company’s ability to maintain
compliance with debt covenant requirements; the Company’s ability
to successfully identify new business opportunities; the Company’s
ability to achieve anticipated cost savings and profitability targets;
the Company’s ability to negotiate profitable coal contracts,
reopeners and extensions; the Company’s ability to maintain satis-
factory labor relations; changes in the industry; competition; the
Company’s ability to utilize its tax net operating losses; the ability
to reinvest excess cash at an acceptable rate of return; weather
conditions; the availability of transportation; price of alternative
fuels; costs of coal produced by other countries; demand for elec-
tricity; the effect of regulatory and legal proceedings; the
announced liquidity issues of Washington Group International,
Inc. and other factors discussed in Items 1, 3 and 7 of the
Company’s Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2001.
As a result of the foregoing and other factors, no assurance can be
given as to the future results and achievement of the Company’s
goals. The Company disclaims any duty to update these state-
ments, even if subsequent events cause its views to change.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.
P.O. Box 2500
Jersey City, NJ 07303
Phone: 201-324-0313

Westmoreland Coal Company
Corporate Office
Colorado Springs, CO

Retiree Health Benefits Center
Appalachia, VA

Coal Mining Operations
Westmoreland Mining LLC (100%-owned)

Business Office
Billings, MT

LV-21 Project (proposed mine)
Gascoyne, ND

Dakota Westmoreland Corporation (100%-owned)
Beulah Mine
Beulah, ND

Northwestern Resources Company (100%-owned)
Jewett Mine
Jewett, TX

WCCO-KRC Acquisition Corp. (100%-owned)
Savage Mine
Sidney, MT

Western Energy Company (100%-owned)
Rosebud Mine
Colstrip, MT

Westmoreland Resources, Inc. (80%-owned)
Absaloka Mine
Sarpy Creek, MT

Independent Power Operations
Westmoreland Energy, Inc. (100%-owned)

Business Office
Charlottesville, VA

Roanoke Valley I Project—180 MW (50%-interest)
Weldon, NC

Roanoke Valley II Project—50 MW (50%-interest)
Weldon, NC

Ft. Lupton Project—290 MW (4.49%-interest)
Ft. Lupton, CO

Westmoreland Power, Inc. (100%-owned)
LV-21 Project (proposed 500 MW project)
Gascoyne, ND

Westmoreland Technical Services, Inc. (100%-owned)
Weldon, NC

Coal Terminal and Storage
Westmoreland Terminal Company (100%-owned)

Dominion Terminal Associates (20%-interest)
Newport News, VA

Coal Sales
Westmoreland Coal Sales Company (100%-owned)

Regional Office
St. Paul, MN



Board of Directors
Christopher K. Seglem (55)
Chairman, President and CEO of 
Westmoreland Coal Company
Director Since 1992

William R. Klaus (76)
Chairman Emeritus, Pepper Hamilton LLP
Director Since 1973

Pemberton Hutchinson (71)
Retired Chairman, President and 
CEO of Westmoreland Coal Company
Director Since 1977

Thomas W. Ostrander (51)
Managing Director of Salomon Smith Barney Inc.
Director Since 1995

James W. Sight (46)
Director of Paradise Programmers, Inc.;
Private Investor
Director Since 1995

Robert E. Killen (61)
Chairman, CEO and Former President of The Killen Group, Inc.;
Chairman of the Board of Berwyn Financial Services
Director Since 1996

Thomas J. Coffey (49)
Vice President-Finance, Global Network Services,
a division of Unisys Corporation 
Director Since 2000

* Michael Armstrong (51)
Retired Stockbroker;
Private Investor
Director Since 2000

* William M. Stern (56)
Senior Vice President, Stern Brothers & Company
Director Since 2000

* Preferred shareholder director

Front Cover Photos:
Top: Westmoreland’s two-unit Roanoke Valley Power Project,
located in Weldon, North Carolina, supplies electricity under a
long-term performance based contract to Dominion Virginia Power.

Bottom: The Beulah Mine, located northwest of Bismarck,
North Dakota, produces approximately three million tons of 
lignite per year for delivery to the adjacent Coyote Power 
Station and to the nearby Heskett Generating Station.

Corporate Management
Christopher K. Seglem (55)
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Robert J. Jaeger (53)
Senior Vice President, Finance and Development

W. Michael Lepchitz (48)
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Ronald H. Beck (57)
Vice President, Finance and Treasurer

Thomas G. Durham (53)
Vice President, Coal Operations

Gregory S. Woods (48)
Vice President, Eastern Operations

Todd A. Myers (38)
Vice President, Sales and Marketing

Diane S. Jones (43)
Vice President, Corporate Relations

Paul W. Durham (47)
Vice President, Human Resources

Thomas S. Barta (30)
Controller

Subsidiary Management
Thomas G. Durham (53)
President, Westmoreland Mining LLC
President, WCCO-KRC Acquisition Corp.

David W. Simpson (55)
Vice President, Environmental Affairs and Secretary,
Westmoreland Mining LLC

John V. O’Laughlin (51)
President, Dakota Westmoreland Corporation 
President, Western Energy Company

Carroll G. Embry (59)
President, Northwestern Resources Company

Garry D. Miller (57)
Vice President, Savage Mine

Thomas L. Rossetto (56)
President, Westmoreland Resources, Inc.

W. Michael Lepchitz (48)
President, Westmoreland Energy, Inc.

Robert J. Jaeger (53)
President, Westmoreland Power, Inc.

Todd A. Myers (38)
President, Westmoreland Coal Sales Company

Edward J. Demeter (61)
President, Westmoreland Terminal Company
Vice President, Westmoreland Coal Sales Company

Gregory S. Woods (48)
President, Westmoreland Technical Services, Inc.
Executive Vice President, Westmoreland Energy, Inc.

Gary W. Dean (51)
Vice President, Westmoreland Technical Services, Inc.
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Westmoreland Coal Company

2 North Cascade Avenue

14th Floor

Colorado Springs, CO

80903

719-442-2600


